

Interest Group in Coaching Psychology



The British Psychological Society

Special Group in Coaching Psychology

International Coaching Psychology Review

Volume 7 No. 2 September 2012



International Coaching Psychology Review

Editorial Board

Co-ordinating Editors

United Kingdom: Stephen Palmer, PhD, Coaching Psychology Unit, Department of Psychology, City University, London, UK. Australia: Michael Cavanagh, PhD, Coaching Psychology Unit, School of Psychology, Sydney University, Australia.

Co-Editors

Sandy Gordon, PhD, University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia. Anthony M. Grant, PhD, Coaching Psychology Unit, School of Psychology, Sydney University, Australia. Travis Kemp, PhD, International Graduate School of Business, University of South Australia, Australia. David Lane, PhD, Middlesex University, London, UK. Alex Linley, PhD, School of Psychology, University of Leicester, UK. Alison Whybrow, PhD, Coaching Psychology Unit, City University London, UK.

International Editorial Board

Hilary Armstrong, PhD, Institute of Executive Coaching, Sydney, Australia. Paul Atkins, PhD, Australian National University, Canberra, Australia. Tatiana Bachkirova, PhD, Oxford Brookes University, UK. Michael Carroll, PhD, University of Bristol, UK. Ian Cockerill, PhD, University of Birmingham, UK. Cary Cooper, PhD, Lancaster University, UK. Sarah Corrie, PhD, CNWL Foundation Trust, Royal Holloway University of London, UK. Paula Cruise, PhD, University of Cambridge, UK. Susan David, PhD, Melbourne University, Australia. Stephen Joseph, PhD, University of Warwick, UK. Carol Kauffman, PhD, Harvard Medical School, USA. Roy Moodley, PhD, University of Toronto, Canada. Richard Nelson-Jones, PhD, Cognitive Humanistic Institute, Thailand. Lindsay Oades, PhD, University of Wollongong, Australia. Jonathan Passmore, PhD, Evora University, Portugal. James Pawelski, PhD, Positive Psychology Center, University of Pennsylvania, USA. Ernesto Spinelli, PhD, Regent's College, UK. Catherine Steele PhD, University of Worcester, UK. Reinhard Stelter, PhD, Coaching Psychology Unit, University of Copenhagen, Denmark. Lewis R. Stern, PhD, Harvard University Medical School, USA. Dianne Stober, PhD, Fielding University, USA. Mary Watts, PhD, City University, London, UK.

Subscriptions

International Coaching Psychology Review (ICPR) is published in March and September. It is distributed free of charge to members of the British Psychological Society Special Group in Coaching Psychology and the Australian Psychological Society Interest Group in Coaching Psychology members. It is available to non-members (Individuals £50 per volume; Institutions £60 per volume; single copies £25) from: The British Psychological Society, SGCP, St. Andrews House, 48 Princess Road East, Leicester LE1 7DR. UK.

Abstracting and indexing: The *ICPR* is abstracted in psycINFO, Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts and Google Scholar. The *ICPR* is included Cabell's *Directory of Publishing Opportunities in Educational Psychology and Administration* and Cabell's *Directory of Publishing Opportunities in Educational Curriculum and Methods.*

Notes for Contributors

The *ICPR* is an international publication with a focus on the theory, practice and research in the field of coaching psychology. Submission of academic articles, systematic reviews and other research reports which support evidence-based practice are welcomed. The *ICPR* may also publish conference reports and papers given at the British Psychological Society Special Group in Coaching Psychology (BPS SGCP) and Australian Psychological Society Interest Group in Coaching Psychology (APS IGCP) conferences, notices and items of news relevant to the International Coaching Psychology Community.

Case studies and book reviews will be considered. The ICPR is published by the BPS SGCP in association with the APS IGCP.

1. Circulation

The circulation of the *ICPR* is worldwide. It is available in hardcopy and PDF format. Papers are invited and encouraged from authors throughout the world. It is available free in paper and PDF format to members of the BPS SGCP, and free in PDF format to APS IGCP members as a part of their annual membership.

2. Length

Papers should normally be no more than 6000 words, although the Co-Editors retain discretion to publish papers beyond this length in cases where the clear and concise expression of the scientific content requires greater length.

3. Reviewing

The publication operates a policy of anonymous peer review. Papers will normally be scrutinised and commented on by at least two independent expert referees (in addition to the relevant Co-Editor) although the Co-Editor may process a paper at his or her discretion. The referees will not be aware of the identity of the author. All information about authorship including personal acknowledgements and institutional affiliations should be confined to the title page (and the text should be free of such clues as identifiable self-citations, e.g. 'In our earlier work...').

The British Psychological Society Special Group in Coaching Psychology

*

The Australian Psychological Society Ltd Interest Group in Coaching Psychology

*

International Coaching Psychology Review

*

Volume 7 No. 2 September 2012

*

SGCP Annual Conference 2012

6-7 December 2012, Lakeside Centre, Aston University, Birmingham

Putting coaching psychology into practice: An evidence based approach

SGCP is delighted to invite you to its annual conference. This event is perfectly suited to Coaching psychologists, psychologists who coach, and coaches who apply psychology eager to hear the latest evidence coming from the field of coaching psychology. The conference workshops and presentations will be covering four themes: Academic research, practitioner experience, self knowledge and reflection, and the coaching context and environment.

Stay relevant! Attend the Coaching Psychology Conference!

Confirmed Speakers so far:

Professor Jack Whitehead, Professor Stephen Palmer, Dr Tatiana Bachkirova, Dr Vicki Vandaveer, Jennifer Liston-Smith & Dr Catherine Steele

Poster submission deadline 15th October. Visit the website for submission information.

Each attendee will receive an attendance certificate for their CPD Logbooks.

Registration now open!

www.bps.org.uk/sgcp2012



The British Psychological Society

Special Group in Coaching Psychology

Contents

144 Editorial: The development of coaching psychology internationally goes from strength to strength

Stephen Palmer & Michael Cavanagh

Papers

- 146 An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: An evidence-based framework for teaching and practice Anthony M. Grant
- 166 Coaching as a learning methodology a mixed methods study in driver development using a randomised controlled trial and thematic analysis Jonathan Passmore & Hannah Rehman
- 185 What is personality change coaching and why is it important? Lesley S. Martin, Lindsay G. Oades & Peter Caputi
- 194 Back to Basics II: How the research on attachment and reflective-self function is relevant for coaches and consultants today Erik de Haan

Keynotes

- 210 Strengths-based approaches to developing mental toughness: Team and individual Sandy Gordon
- 223 Looking back to see the future: The influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching psychology today Patrick Williams
- Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology
- 237 Editorial Michael Cavanagh & Stephen Palmer
- **239** Restoring meaning and wholeness the role for coaching after a trauma Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osbourne & David Lane
- 247 The ABCDE of Writing: Coaching high-quality high-quantity writing Maria Gardiner & Hugh Kearns

Book Review

260 *Creating a Coaching Culture* (by Peter Hawkins) Reviewed by David Lane

Reports

- 262 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology Australia David Heap
- 266 Special Group in Coaching Psychology News Mary Watts
- 268 Interest Group in Coaching Psychology News David Heap
- 270 International Coaching Psychology Review Volume index 2012

Editorial: The development of coaching psychology internationally goes from strength to strength

Stephen Palmer & Michael Cavanagh

HIGHLIGHT of the coaching psychology calendar so far this year has been the 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology held in Manly Beach, Sydney Australia. It was an exciting event, with well-known speakers and 100s of delegates from all over the world. We were promised by David Heap, the APS IGCP Convenor that the international congress team would choose a good location. In fact, Manly was a great location with record breaking good weather for the time of the year too. Our congratulations go to the team for organising a professional event. The 3rd International Congress of Coaching Psychology will be held in Israel on 6 September 2012. Both the APS Interest Group in Coaching Psychology and BPS Special Group in Coaching Psychology work collaboratively, with the other professional psychology bodies, to hold and to promote these congress events (see website for further details).

This is our second bumper issue of the International Coaching Psychology Review for 2012 with six papers and keynotes on a range of topics plus a new section, 'Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology', which includes two articles. Our first paper is 'An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: An evidence-based framework for teaching and practice' by Anthony M. Grant. In this paper Grant discusses a range of approaches to understanding the goal construct, presents a definition of goals relevant to coaching, and details a new and comprehensive model of goal-focused coaching that can be helpful both in teaching and in applied coaching practice. He also gives permission for a diagram of the model to be used in these contexts which will

no doubt trigger much discussion with students.

In our second paper, Jonathan Passmore and Hannah Rehman describe a mixed methods study in driver development using a randomised controlled trial and thematic analysis. The study sought to explore the impact of coaching as a learning methodology and to compare this with the traditional instruction-based approach. The quantitative study revealed that coaching was a more effective and efficient method for learning in this context. The coaching group also had fewer attempts to pass the assessment than the instruction group. For those of us interested in the coaching relationship, the qualitative study from this group indicated that both learners and 'instructors' observed positive aspects to the coaching style of learning. This was strongest for instructors who suggested coaching facilitated an improved relationship and helped the learner to learn more quickly.

In the following paper Lesley Martin, Lindsay Oades and Peter Caputi ask 'What is personality change coaching and why is it important?' The aim was to evaluate the feasibility and desirability of personality change, clarify how this fits with coaching, identify a suitable personality model and measure, and propose directions for future research. With reference to the literature they asked the following questions: Is personality change possible and desirable? Is coaching a suitable medium to achieve this? How does this fit with and expand upon the current coaching literature? What personality model and inventory would suit this process? What coaching resources and future research are needed? They concluded that personality change coaching appears both desirable and possible in a coaching setting although further research is required in a number of related areas.

In our fourth paper, Erik de Haan examines the phenomenon of reflective-self function in terms of its historical understanding. He asserts that reflective-self function is not only demonstrably linked to secure attachment, it is increasingly held to be at the core of the process and outcome of helping conversations. He suggests that mentalising can be used to co-create meaning, insight and understanding with clients.

The first keynote in this issue is by Sandy Gordon. It is entitled 'Strengths-based approaches to developing mental toughness: Team and individual'. It was based on an Invited Keynote Presentation at the British Psychological Society's Division of Sport and Exercise Psychology Annual Conference which was part of the British Psychological Society's Annual Conference, 17-21 April 2012, in London. Gordon provides a brief summary of mental toughness research and a short history of strengths approaches to the development of human potential. He finishes his keynote paper by describing how he has used strengths-based approaches in professional sport, both with teams and individuals.

Patrick Williams looks back to the future in his keynote paper and highlights the influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching psychology today. The paper is based on his Keynote Presentation at the 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology, 10-12 May 2012, in Sydney, Australia. It was an enjoyable and stimulating paper to listen to at the Congress in which Williams highlighted the sometimes zigzag journey coaching and coaching psychology has taken to get where they are today. His conclusion is worth noting: Coaching Psychology plays an increasing important role in developing the profession of personal and business coaching. Coaching will survive because it is effective, it will thrive because it can be socially transformational, for us humans and the planet we inhabit.

The next two articles in the publication are in the new section, 'Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology'. There is an editorial which introduces the new section and the papers by Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osborne and David Lane, and Maria Gardiner and Hugh Kearns. Our thanks go to David Lane for putting forward the idea of a new section.

The publication concludes with a book review, congress and news updates from the BPS Special Group in Coaching Psychology and APS Interest Group in Coaching Psychology.

The richness and range of the papers in this issue, and the diversity of authors involved, are testament to the ongoing development of the field. It is great to see the growing sophistication and expanding dialogue in coaching psychology these papers represent. We thank our contributors to this issue of the publication and look forward to receiving papers on any aspect of coaching psychology for the March 2013 issue.

Correspondence Stephen Palmer

Coaching Psychology Unit, Department of Psychology,

City University, Northampton Square, London, UK. Email: S.Palmer-1@city.ac.uk

Michael Cavanagh

Coaching Psychology Unit, Department of Psychology, Sydney University, Sydney, Australia. Email: Michaelc@psych.usyd.edu.au

International Congress of Coaching Psychology website http://www.coachingpsychologycongress.org

International Coaching Psychology Review

Vol. 7 No. 2 September 2012

Paper

An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: An evidence-based framework for teaching and practice

Anthony M. Grant

There is a considerable body of literature on goals and goal setting in the psychological literature, but little of this has found its way into the scholarly coaching literature. This article draws on the goal-setting literature from the behavioural sciences. It discusses a range of approaches to understanding the goal construct, presents a definition of goals relevant to coaching, and details a new and comprehensive model of goal-focused coaching that can be helpful both in teaching and in applied coaching practice. It also outlines new empirical research that highlights the vital role that coaches' goal-focused coaching skills play in determining successful coaching outcomes. This preliminary research suggests that the use of a goalfocused coaching style is more effective than a 'common factors' or person-centred coaching style in facilitating goal attainment in coaching. It is argued that, by understanding the different types of goals and their relationship to the process of change, professional coaches can work more efficiently with their clients, helping them to achieve insight and behavioural change that enhances their workplace performance, their professional working lives and, most importantly, their personal well-being and sense of self. **Keywords:** Goals; goal theory; evidence-based coaching; executive coaching.

LTHOUGH COACHING is typically thought of as being a goal-focused activity, the use of goals in coaching is somewhat controversial. Common arguments against the use of goal setting in coaching include the propositions that goal setting is an overly-linear process that constricts the coaching conversation and acts as a barrier to working with emergent issues within the complex dynamic system that is the coaching conversation; or that goal setting is associated with coaches cajoling coachees in the blind pursuit of a previously-set but inappropriate goal, leading to 'lazy' join-the-dots mechanistic coaching; or even that goals typically focus on issues that may be easy to measure but are of little real importance (see Clutterbuck, 2008, 2010).

Some coaches say that they never use goals in coaching, rather they assert that as coaches their role is to help clients explore their values, clarify their intentions, and then to help them achieve their personal aspirations. Yet others seem to steadfastly avoid using the word 'goal', but talk about helping clients chart a course, navigate the waters of life, foster transformational change, or re-author personal narratives. Goal setting has even gained a bad reputation in some sections of the academic psychology press, with some authors asking if goal setting has gone wild, and decrying the supposed over-prescription of goal setting (Ordóñez et al., 2009).

Whilst, some of these points have merit, goal theory *per se* has much to offer coaching research and practice. There is a considerable body of literature on goals and goal setting (Locke & Latham, 2002). A search of the database PsycINFO in May 2012 accessing the broader psychological literature base and using the keyword 'goals' found over 59,530 citations. Yet the academic literature on the use of goals within the area of executive coaching is far smaller, with the keywords 'goals' and 'executive coaching' producing only 30 citations. Most of these report on the various uses of goal setting in executive coaching practice (e.g. Bono et al., 2009; Lewis-Duarte, 2010; McKenna & Davis, 2009b; Stern, 2009; Sue-Chan, Wood & Latham, 2012), with a few empirical studies examining how executive coaching facilitates goal attainment (e.g. Benavides, 2009; Burke & Linley, 2007; Freedman & Perry, 2010; Grant, Curtayne & Burton, 2009; Milare & Yoshida, 2009; Schnell, 2005; Smither et al., 2003; Turner, 2004).

To date there have been surprisingly few articles detailing theoretical frameworks that explicitly link goal theory to executive or organisational coaching. Three key examples are Sue-Chan, Wood and Latham's (2012) work which explored the differneces between promotion and prevention goals as a foci for coaching, and the role of implicit fixed beliefs about ability and implicit incremental beliefs on coaching outcomes; Gregory, Beck and Car's (2011) work which argues that control theory (in which goals and feedback are two crucial elements) can provide an important framework for coaching; and Grant's (2006) initial work on developing an integrative goal-focused approach to executive coaching.

This paper draws on and extends previous work (e.g. Grant, 2002, 2006, 2012; Gregory et al., 2011; Locke & Latham, 2002) and utilising the goal-setting literature from the behavioural sciences, discusses the concept of goal, presents a definition of goals that can be helpful in coaching practice and describes a new model of goalfocused coaching and new preliminary research that highlights the vital role that coaches' goal-focused skills play in determining successful coaching outcomes.

SMART goals can dumb-down coaching

Goals and goal constructs have been extensively researched within academic psychology (Moskowitz & Grant, 2009), and sophisticated understandings of goals are evident within the broader psychological literature. This is not the case within the coaching-related literature. From an overview of the coaching literature it is appears that many coaches' understanding of goals is limited to acronyms such as SMART (originally delineated by Raia, 1965) and that typically goals are equated with being specific, measureable, attainable, relevant and timeframed action plans (note: the exact delineation of the SMART acronym varies between commentators).

Whilst the ideas represented by the acronym SMART are indeed broadly supported by goal theory (e.g. Locke, 1996), and the acronym SMART may well be useful in some instances in coaching practice, I think that the widespread belief that goals are synonymous with SMART action plans has done much to stifle the development of a more sophisticated understanding and use of goal theory within in the coaching community, and this point has important implications for coaching research, teaching and practice.

It is worth reflecting that acronyms such as SMART may provide useful mnemonics mnemonics being memorable surface markers of deeper knowledge structures. However, the use of such mnemonics without a clear understanding of the deeper underpinning knowledge may well result in ill-informed decision making, and the cultivation of inaccurate practice doctrines and mythologies about goals and goal theory. Unfortunately, such misconceptions may make it even more difficult for practitioners to engage with the broader knowledge-base. Clearly, there is a case here for coach educators and trainers to draw more extensively on the broader goal theory literature. My hope is that this paper will make a contribution in encouraging this course of action.

What are goals?

If this article is to make a meaningful contribution in terms of the more sophisticated use of goals and goal theory in coaching, it is important to develop a clear understanding of the goal construct. The term 'goal' is generally understood as being 'the purpose toward which an endeavour is directed; an objective or outcome' (see, for example, www.thefreedictionary.com). Although such understandings are adequate for everyday use, a far more nuanced understanding of the goal construct is needed in coaching.

In attempting to develop more sophisticated understandings of the goal construct, a wide range of other terms have been used over the years including the terms 'reference values' (Carver & Scheier, 1998), 'selfguides' (Higgins, 1987), 'personal strivings' (Emmons, 1992), or 'personal projects' (Little, 1993). However, although such broad linguistic repertoires can be useful, the lack of precision in such definitions make it hard to distinguish between various aspects of the goal construct such as 'aims', 'objectives', 'desires' or 'outcomes', and they also fail to capture the true essence of the goal construct.

Goals are defined as playing a key role in transitions from an existing state to a desired state or outcome (e.g. Klinger, 1975; Spence, 2007). As such the goal construct has been variously defined in terms of cognitions (Locke, 2000), behaviour (Bargh et al., 2001; Warshaw & Davis, 1985) and affect (Pervin, 1982) (for further discussion on these points see Street, 2002). These three domains are of great relevance for coaching, and an understanding of goals for use in coaching should encompass all three domains.

Cochran and Tesser (1996) present a comprehensive description of a goal as 'a cognitive image of an ideal stored in memory for comparison to an actual state; a representation of the future that influences the present; a desire (pleasure and satisfaction are expected from goal success); a source of motivation, an incentive to action' (as cited in Street, 2002, p.100). This understanding of goals is particularly useful for coaching because, as Street (2002) points out, it emphasises the role of cognition (in terms of cognitive imagery), as well as affect and behaviour, in addition to the notion that the purpose of a goal as 'a source of motivation and an incentive'. However, whilst this definition is more sophisticated than notions that situate goals as being synonymous with SMART action plans, it is still somewhat unwieldy as a working definition.

One definition that is succinct, captures the essence of the above issues and is clearly applicable to coaching is Austin and Vancouver's (1996) notion of goals as being 'internal representations of desired states or outcomes' (p.388).

Goals as 'internal representations of desired states or outcomes' are central to coaching

Although there are many definitions of coaching, all capture common themes. The Association for Coaching defines coaching as 'A collaborative solution-focused, resultsorientated and systematic process in which the coach facilitates the enhancement of work performance, life experience, selfdirected learning and personal growth of the coachee' (AC, 2012). The International Coach Federation defines coaching as 'partnering with clients in a thought-provoking and creative process that inspires them to maximise their personal and professional potential' (ICF, 2012). The World Association of Business Coaches defines business coaching as a structured conversation designed to 'enhance the client's awareness and behaviour so as to achieve business objectives for both the client and their organisation' (WABC, 2012). The European Mentoring and Coaching Council defines coaching (and mentoring) as 'activities within the area of professional and personal development...to help clients...see and test alternative ways for improvement of competence, decision making and enhancement of quality of life...with the purpose of serving the clients to improve their performance or enhance their personal development or both...' (EMCC, 2011).

It is clear that there is considerable agreement within professional coaching bodies about the nature of coaching. All of these definitions indicate that the process of coaching is essentially about helping individuals regulate and direct their interpersonal and intrapersonal resources in order to create purposeful and positive change in their personal or business lives. In short then, all coaching conversations are either explicitly or implicitly goal-focused, and are about helping clients enhance their selfregulationary skills so as to better create purposeful positive change.

Goal-focused self-regulation sits at the core of the coaching process

The core constructs of self-regulation are a series of processes in which the individual sets a goal, develops a plan of action, begins action, monitors their performance, evaluates their performance by comparison to a standard, and based on this evaluation change their actions to further enhance their performance and better reach their goals (Carver & Scheier, 1998).The coach's role is to facilitate the coachee's movement through the self-regulatory cycle, and onwards towards goal attainment. Figure 1 depicts a generic model of self-regulation (Grant, 2003).

In practice the steps in the self-regulatory cycle are not clearly separate stages. In practice, each stage overlaps with the next, and the coaching in each stage should aim to facilitate the process of the next. For example, goal setting should be done in such a way as to facilitate the development and implementation of an action plan. The action plan should be designed to motivate the individual into action, and should also incorporate means of monitoring and evaluating performance thus providing information on which to base follow-up coaching sessions (Grant, 2006). This self-regulatory cycle sits at the core of the coaching process.

Figure 1: Generic model of goal-directed self-regulation.



Knowing how and when to set goals in coaching, knowing how to gauge the client's readiness to engage in a robust and explicitly goal-focused conversation or when to work with more vaguely defined or more abstract goals, are skill sets that distinguishes the novice or beginner coach from more advanced or expert practitioners (Grant, 2011; Peterson, 2011). Having a solid understanding of the multi-faceted nature of goals is thus important in making the noviceexpert shift, and are thus of relevance for both the teaching and practice of coaching. It is to this issue that we now turn.

Goals are not monolithic entities

If we are to understand coaching through the lens of goal theory, it is important to distinguish between different types of goals. Goals are not monolithic. Indeed, there are over twenty types of goals that can be used in coaching. These include outcome goals, distal and proximal goals, approach and avoidance goals, performance and learning goals, and higher and lower order goals, as well as the actual results which the coachee aims to achieve. These distinctions are important because different types of goals impact differently on coachees' performance and their experience of the goal striving process.

Time framing: Distal and proximal goals

The time framing of goals is an important part of the goal setting process, and time frames can influence the coachee's perception of the attainability of the goal (Karniol & Ross, 1996). Distal goals are longer term goals, and are similar to the vision statements often referred to in business or management literature or the 'broad fuzzy vision' referred to in the life-coaching literature (Grant & Green, 2004). Proximal goals are shorter term, and tend to stimulate more detailed planning than distal goals (Manderlink & Harackiewicz, 1984), and hence are important goals when used in action planning. In essence, the action steps typically derived in coaching sessions are a series of short-term proximal goals. Combining both distal with proximal goals in the coaching and action planning process can lead to enhanced strategy development and better long-term performance (Weldon & Yun, 2000).

Outcome goals

Many coaching programmes focus entirely on setting outcome goals. Such goals tend to be a straightforward statement of some desired outcome (Hudson, 1999); for example, 'to increase sales of widgets by 15 per cent in the next three months'. This is a useful approach to goal setting, because for individuals who are committed and have the necessary ability and knowledge, outcome goals that are difficult and are specifically and explicitly defined, allow performance to be precisely regulated, and thus often lead to high performance (Locke, 1996). Indeed, many coaching programmes focus purely on the setting of specific 'SMART' goals and this approach is indeed supported by some of the goal-setting literature (Locke & Latham, 2002).

However, there are times when overlyspecific outcome goals will alienate the coachee, and may actually result in a decline in performance (Winters & Latham, 1996). For individuals who are in a highly deliberative mindset, it may be more useful to purposefully set more *abstract* or quite vague goals and focus on developing a broad 'fuzzy vision' (Grant & Greene, 2004), rather than drilling down into specific details and setting more *concrete* goals. For individuals at this point in the change process, vague or abstract goals are often perceived as being less threatening and less demanding (Dewck, 1986).

Avoidance and approach goals

Avoidance goals are expressed as a movement away from an undesirable state, for example, 'to be less stressed about work'. Although this presents a desired outcome, as an avoidance goal it does not provide a specific outcome target or provide enough details from which to define those behaviours which might be most useful during the goal striving process; there are almost an infinite number of ways one could become 'less stressed'. In contrast an *approach* goal is expressed as a movement towards a specific state or outcome, for example, 'to enjoy a fulfilling balance between work demands and personal relaxation', and these can indeed help define appropriate goal-striving behaviours.

Not surprisingly, there are differential effects associated with avoidance or approach goals. Coats, Janoff-Bulman, and Alpert (1996) found that people who tended to set avoidance goals had higher levels of depression and lower levels of well-being. Other studies have found that the long-term pursuit of avoidance goals is associated with decreases in well-being (Elliot, Sheldon & Church, 1997), and that approach goals are associated with both higher levels of academic performance and increased wellbeing (Elliot & McGregor, 2001).

Performance and learning goals

Performance goals focus on task execution and are typically expressed as being competitive in terms of performing very well on a specific task, receiving positive evaluations from others about one's performance, or outperforming others. Performance goals tend to focus the coachee's attention on issues of personal ability and competence (Gresham, Evans & Elliott, 1988). An example of a performance goal in executive or workplace coaching might be 'to be the very best lawyer in my area of practice'. Performance goals can be very powerful motivators, especially where the individual experiences success early in the goal-attainment process.

However, it is not so well known that performance goals can in fact impede performance. This particularly the case when the task is highly complex or the goal is perceived as very challenging, and where the individual is not skilled or is low in selfefficacy, or where resources are scarce. Furthermore, in highly competitive situations or when there are very high stakes, performance goals can foster cheating and a reluctance to co-operate with peers, and the corporate and business world is replete with such examples (Midgley, Kaplan,& Middleton, 2001).

In many cases *learning* goals may better facilitate task performance (Seijts & Latham, 2001). Learning goals (sometimes referred to as mastery goals) focus the coachee's attention on the learning associated with task mastery, rather than on the performance of the task itself. An example of a learning goal in executive or workplace coaching might be 'learn how to be the best lawyer in my area of practice'. Learning goals tend to be associated with a range of positive cognitive and emotional processes including perception of a complex task as a positive challenge rather than a threat, greater absorption in the actual task performance (Deci & Ryan, 2002), and enhanced memory and well-being (Linnenbrink, Ryan & Pintrich, 1999). Furthermore, individual performance can be enhanced in highly complex or challenging situations when team goals are primarily framed as being learning goals, and the use of teamlevel learning goals can foster enhanced co-operation between team members (Kristof-Brown & Stevens, 2001). One benefit of setting learning goals is that they tend to be associated with higher levels of intrinsic motivation which in turn is associated with performance (Sarrazin et al., 2002).

The differences in the articulation of these different types of goals is more than a matter of mere semantics, because the way a goal is expressed has important implications for coachee engagement (Rawsthorne & Elliott, 1999), and coaches need to be attuned to such nuances if they are to work effectively within a goal-focused coaching paradigm.

Complementary and competing goals

Coaches also need to be attuned to the existence of *competing or conflicting* goals. These occur when the pursuit of one goal interferes with the pursuit of another goal. Some goal conflict is easy to identify, for example in the case of the two goals 'to spend more time with my family' and 'to put more time into work in order to get a promotion'. However, goal conflict may not always be immediately evident. For example, the goal 'to get my sales force to sell more products' may be in perceived conflict with the goal 'to have a more hands-off leadership style' if the coachee (a sale manager) finds delegation difficult and is used to a more controlling management style in dealing with his/her sale force (Grant, 2006).

The skill of the coach here is to help the coachee find ways to align seemingly conflicting goals and develop *complementary* goals, and Sheldon and Kasser (1995) have argued that such congruence is important in facilitating goal attainment and well-being.

Unconscious goals?

Human beings are goal-orientated organisms. Without goals we could not exist as conscious sentient beings. Indeed, Carver and Scheier (1998) argue that all human behaviour is a continual process of moving towards or away from mental goal representations. This is not to say that all goals are consciously held. Under many conditions, we enact complex outcome-directed behaviours even though we may not have consciously set specific goals.

For example, I might be sitting at home writing an article on coaching, and decide to walk to the corner store to buy some biscuits so I can enjoy afternoon tea and biscuits at home. I am aware that I have been sitting at the desk writing for some hours, and that taking a walk will help maintain flexibility in my back, and I am keen to try to prevent the development of back problems as I get older. However, my overarching and consciously set goals are to get biscuits and then make and enjoy some afternoon tea. With this goal in mind, I put on my shoes, take my keys from the shelf, check my wallet, open the door, close and lock the door (to maintain home security and avoid lose of personal property). I then walk to the store, taking care to look both ways as I cross the road (so as to avoid being knocked over by a car or other vehicles), find my way to the biscuit shelf, select my biscuits from a wide range of different biscuit products (some of which I don't like), chat with the store keeper about Saturday's football match, purchase my biscuits, return home safely (opening and then closing the front door behind me) and put the kettle on.

All of these individual actions themselves involve a goal of some kind and all influenced my behaviour at any point in time, yet hardly any of these goals were consciously set.

Because goal-states influence our behaviour even though we may not have consciously set specific goals, goal theory is particularly helpful in coaching contexts and as a means of understanding human behaviour. Goal theory can provide a framework from which to help clients explore, identify and then change unhelpful implicit goals in order to better facilitate purposeful positive change (for an informed discussion on how actions are initiated even though we are unconscious of the goals to be attained or their motivating effect on our behaviour see Custers & Aarts, 2010).

Self-concordant goals

Self-concordance is important in goal setting because goals that are self-concordant and in alignment with the coachee's core personal values or developing interests are more likely to be engaging and elicit greater effort. Selfconcordance theory (Sheldon & Elliot, 1998) is a useful framework from which to understand and work with the reasons and motivations associated with goal selection and goal strivings.

Self-concordance refers to the degree to which a goal is aligned with an individual's intrinsic interests, motivations and values. Derived from self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1980) this can be a simple and powerful framework for understanding the link between values and goals. The selfconcordance model emphasises the extent to which individual perceives their goals as being determined by their authentic self, rather than compelled by external forces.

The self-concordance approach delineates the perceived locus of causality as varying on a continuum from controlled (external) factors to internal (autonomous) facets. A key point here is that it is the individual's perception of the locus of causality that is the key in determining the extent to which the goals are deemed to be self-integrated and where they sit on the externalinternal continuum. To maximise the probability of genuinely engaged and motivated action, and to increase the chances of goal satisfaction upon goal attainment, it is important that coachee's goals are as selfcongruent as possible, and coaches may need to play quite an active role in helping their coaches align goals in order to make them personal and congruent. There are at least four factors from this perspective which may influence successful goal alignment (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999).

First, the coachee needs to be able to identify the enduring and authentic from transitory or superficial whims or desires. Secondly, the coachee needs the personal insight and self-awareness to be able to distinguish between goals that represent their own interests and goals that represent the interests of others (Sheldon, 2002). Given that there are significant individual variations in levels of self-awareness (Church, 1997), some coachees may find this quite challenging. Thirdly, the goal content needs be expressed in a way that aligns the goals with the coachee's internal needs and values. Fourthly, the coach needs to have the ability to recognise when a goal is not self-concordant, and then be able to relanguage and reframe the goal so that it does align with the coachee's needs and values.

Goal hierarchies: Linking values, goals and actions steps

The relationships between values, goals and action steps are generally not well under-

stood in coaching, yet these are central to coaching practice. Goal hierarchy frameworks are one way of making explicit the links between values, goals and specific action steps, and are also a useful way of operationalising the notion of goal selfconcordance (see Figure 2).

Goals can be considered as being ordered hierarchically with concrete specific goals being subsumed under *higher order* and broader, more abstract goals (Chulef, Read & Walsh, 2001) in a fashion similar to the 'Big Five' personality traits (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Hence, higher order abstract goals such as 'to be a great business leader' can be understood as being situated vertically higher than the *lower order* and more specific goal 'to increase business profits by 25 per cent in the next quarter' and there is some empirical support for this notion (Chulef et al., 2001; Oishi et al., 1998).

Higher order goals from this perspective equate to values. A valuable model for using goal theory in coaching involves thinking of values as *higher order abstract* goals that are superordinate to lower order, more specific goals, which in turn are superordinate to specific action steps. Indeed, visualising values, goals and actions as being part of a hierarchy in this way provides coaches with an extremely useful case conceptualisation framework for coaching practice, teaching and supervision, and also makes the notion of values more tangible to many coaching clients.

In using this model in coaching practice, it is important to try to ensure both vertical and horizontal congruency. That is, to ensure that goals are aligned with the client's higher order values, and that any actions designed to operationalise the goals are themselves similarly aligned (vertical alignment). It is also important that to try to ensure horizontal alignment so that goals compliment, support and energise each other rather than being, as previously mentioned, being *competing or conflicting* goals resulting in the pursuit of one goal interfering with the pursuit of another.



Figure 2: The Goal hierarchy framework.

Of course, such alignment may not always be possible. Nevertheless, simply drawing the coachee's attention to the existence of any competing or conflicting goals, and highlighting any disconnect between goals and values can provide the coachee with important insights and alterative perspectives which may in turn facilitate more useful ways of facilitating change.

In addition, in terms of teaching coaching and coaching psychology, this model can be used as a practical template to help student coaches develop more sophisticated understandings of the goal alignment process.

Goal neglect

The hierarchical model is also very useful to coaches as it can be used to illustrate the effect of goal neglect. The notion of goal neglect is not well-known in the coaching literature, but has very useful implications for coaching practice. The term *goal neglect* refers to the disregard of a goal or a task requirement despite the fact that it has been understood or is recognised as being important (Duncan et al., 1996). In essence goal neglect occurs when we fail to pay attention to a specific goal of importance, but instead focus our attention on some other goal or task, resulting in a mismatch between the actions required to attain the original goal, and the actions that are actually performed.

Human beings are essentially goaldirected organisms. All our behaviour (behaviour here is broadly defined to include thoughts, feelings and physical actions) is shaped and given direction, purpose and meaning by the goals that we hold, and of course much of our behaviour is shaped and directed by goals and values which are outside of our immediate conscious awareness. In relation to the goal hierarchy model, it is the higher order (or superordinate) values that give direction,



Figure 3: The Goal hierarchy framework illustrating the outcomes of goal neglect.

meaning and purpose to the lower order goals and actions.

When self-regulation at upper levels of a goal hierarchy has been suspended (for example, by not enough attention being paid to those values), the goals at a lower level become functionally superordinate in guiding overt behaviour and actions (Carver & Scheier, 1998). That is to say that the guidance of the human system defaults (regresses) to lower levels (see Figure 3).

This seemingly technical psychological point has important implications for coaching practice. This is because, typically, lower order goals in the hierarchy are not in themselves relatively meaningful in comparison to the higher order values. In fact in many cases the lower order goals and actions may not be pleasant activities at all. They are often on made palatable by the notion that reaching those lower order goals activates the higher order value.

When we fail to consistently pay attention to the higher order values in the goal hierarchy system, and overly focus on attaining lower order goals, the lower order goals become the superordinate or dominant values in the cognitive system, and these lower order goals are often inherently dissatisfying in themselves.

In the example above, the higher order value is 'to be an outstanding lawyer', and many individuals may enter the law profession with the intention of becoming an outstanding lawyer and ensuring that their clients receive justice. In order to become an outstanding lawyer they would need to work hard, make explicit contributions to their firm or practice and build a revenue stream. The attainment of these mid-level goals are in turn made possible by the enactment of lower order goals and actions such as dealing with administration, documenting billing hours and the like. However, frequently individuals place their attention on the lower order goals (e.g. revenue building or documenting billing hours) over time neglecting their higher order values, and this can easily result in goal dissatisfaction and disengagement.

The hierarchical framework can give coaches and their coachees very useful insights into to the psychological mechanics underlying goal dissatisfaction, and can be used to develop practical tools and techniques to help clients in the coaching processes. For example, by helping clients purposefully re-focus their attention on their higher order values we help them reconnect with the meaning inherent in their higher order values, redefining their goals if needed, with the result that they may well feel revitalised and re-engaged in the enactment of purposeful positive change.

Putting all this together: An integrated model for teaching and coaching practice

As can be seen from this brief overview goal theory has much to offer coaching practice. The question is, how can we organise this information in a way that makes this useful in coaching practice? It may be that goal theory has not been widely taught in coaching programmes because there is a vast amount of material on goal and the goal attainment process, and making explicit links between these bodies of knowledge and then relating this material to coaching practice is not easy.

One way of integrating this diverse body of knowledge is to develop a visual representation or model of the various factors related to goal-focused coaching, and such a model is presented in Figure 4. This model may be useful for teaching coaching and the psychology of coaching because it attempts to capture the key aspects involved in the goal-focused approach to coaching and highlights some of the factors that a coach may consider during the coaching engagement.

A word of caution: as with all models this is only a broad representation of some of the possible ways that these factors relate in the coaching process. This model represents my own personal experience and understanding, and I would encourage readers to explore the limitations of this model by reference to their own understanding and coaching experience, and then adapt and extend this model in order to create their own frameworks. Indeed the development of such personalised models can be useful teaching aids.

Examining this model, it can be seen that the coaching process is driven by needs (represented on the left hand side of the model). Both individual and contextual/ organisational factors play important roles in determining the perceive need for coaching, which gives rise to the individual's intentions to participate in the goal selection process. Individual factors at play here include perceived deficits and opportunities, psychological needs, personality characteristics and available resources (or lack thereof). Contextual or organisational factors include system complexity, the social and psychological contracts, rewards and punishments and available resources (or lack thereof).

The goal selection process is often not straightforward. Even where coaching has been mandated by an organisation with specific outcomes in mind, the goal setting process can be convoluted and complex. The rush to seize and set a specific goal too early in the coaching process is a key derailer - a common trap for the novice. Certainly key issues and broad initial goals should be discussed quite early in the coaching process in order to give the conversation direction and purpose, but the coach should also be paying attention to a number of factors during the goal selection process. These include the coachee's understanding of, and engagement with, the coaching process.

Some coachees arrive for their first coaching session with little idea of the nature of coaching. The suitability and clarity of the coaching agreement (be that formal or informal) will pay an important role in engaging the coachee in the goal selection process, as will the degree of autonomy the coachee has in goal selection.

Goal selection moderators: The coachee's characteristics

There are a number of moderator variables that influence the strength of a relationship between coaching goals and the eventual outcomes of coaching. These include the



Figure 4: Integrative model of coach-facilitated goal attainment.

coachee's ability to focus on the tasks at hand, their ability to adapt in the fact of adversity, and the perceived purpose of the goal and the extent to which they feel that they have agency and autonomy in the goal selection process.

Readiness to change

The coachee's readiness to change is another factor that will impact on the goal selection process. Coaches need to consider if the coachee is in the pre-contemplation, preparation or action stage of change (for a useful reference on applying the Transtheoretical Model of Change to a wide range of goals, see Prochaska, Norcross & DiClemente, 1994). The Transtheoretical Model of Change posits that change involves transition through a series of identifiable, although somewhat overlapping stages. Five of these stages have direct relevance for goal setting in coaching. These stages are:

- 1. *Pre-contemplation:* No intention to change in the foreseeable future.
- 2. *Contemplation:* Considering making stages, but have not yet made any changes.
- 3. *Preparation:* Increased commitment to change, intend to make changes in the near future and often have started to make small changes.
- 4. *Action:* Engaging in the new behaviours, but have made such changes for only a short period of time (usually less than six months).
- 5. *Maintenance:* Consistently engaging in the new behaviour over a period of time (usually six months).

Stage-specific coaching strategies

For individuals in the *Pre-contemplation* stage the general principle is to raise awareness, increasing the amount of information available to the coachee so that they can move forward into action. There are many ways of raising awareness including multi-rater feedback sales, qualitative feedback, sales or performance data, or other relevant information. The key characteristic of the *Contemplation* stage is ambivalence; the conjoint holding of two or more conflicting desires, emotions, beliefs or opinions. The general principle for individuals in the *Contemplation* stage is to help the coachee explore their ambivalence, rather than pushing them into setting a specific goal before they are ready. Setting specific or stretching goals too soon in this stage often results in the coachee disengaging from the goal selection process.

In the *Preparation* stage the coachee is getting ready to make change. Here the aim is to build commitment to change. In terms of goals, the coach should be helping the coachee focus on developing a clear vision of the future (abstract goals) and using goals that involve small, easily attainable but consistent action steps. Progress throughout this stage should be monitored closely and new desired behaviours positively reinforced by acknowledging and celebrating the attainment of small sub-goals. Clearly, there is a considerable art to the effective use of goals in coaching.

In the *Action* and *Maintenance* stages the key is to build on past successes and maximise self-directed change, working on using more stretching goals and developing strategies to sustain the change overtime.

Coaching session moderators: The coach's skill set

There are a number of other factors related to the coaching session itself that impact on the goal selection process and act as moderator variables. This include the coach's ability to set effective goals and facilitate action planning, and the coach's ability to maximise goal congruency and goal alignment whilst also facilitating the coachee's goal-focused self-regulation.

The success of the above is also dependant on the coach's ability to bring perceived value to the coaching session and develop a strong working alliance with the coachee (Gray, 2007). All the theoretical knowledge in the world about goal theory is of no importance, unless the coach can put this theory into practice, managing the goal striving process, whilst holding the coachee accountable and being solution focused and outcome focused.

Goal choice and action planning

Goal choice and action planning are outcomes of the goal selection process. It is important to note that although the model represents these as linear processes, in reality these are iterative, with an amount of back and forth movement between stages. The goal choice and action planning parameters include goal difficulty and goal specificity, whether the goals are approach or avoidance goals, time framing (distal or proximal) or a performance or learning orientation.

Goal choice is a necessary, but not sufficient part of the coaching process - action plans must be developed and enacted. Action planning is the process of developing a systemic means of attaining goals and is particularly important for individuals who have low self-regulatory skills (Kirschenbaum, Humphrey & Malett, 1981). The coach's role here is to develop the coachee's ability to create a realistic and workable plan of action and to help them define task strategies that will facilitate the goal striving process, whilst promoting persistence in the face of adversity - in this way clients can enhance their self-regulation abilities and build resilience (Grant et al., 2009)

One key outcome of successful action planning is the coachee's transition from a deliberative mindset to an implementational mindset (Gollwitzer, 1996; Heckhausen & Gollwitzer, 1987). The deliberative mindset is characterised by a weighing of the pros and cons of action and examination of competing goals or courses of action (Carver & Scheier, 1998). The implementational mindset is engaged once the decision to act has been made. This mindset has a determined, focused quality, and is biased in favour of thinking about success rather than failure - factors that are typically associated with higher levels of self-efficacy, self-regulation and goal attainment (Bandura, 1982).

The self-regulation cycle, feedback and goal satisfaction

The monitoring and evaluation of actions and the generation of feedback as the coachee moves through the self-regulation cycle is a vital part of the coaching process. However, self-reflection does not come naturally to many people (Jordan & Troth, 2002), and so the coach may need to find ways to develop action plans that focus on observable, easily monitored behaviours.

What is monitored will, of course, vary according to the coachee's goals and context. Some behaviours will be easier to monitor than others. Exercise or physical activity-based actions can be relatively straightforward to monitor. Intrapersonal issues, interpersonal skills or communication patterns in the workplace may be more difficult to monitor, and the coach and coachee may have to be quite creative in devising means of monitoring and evaluating these.

Care should be taken to set the kinds of goals that will generate useful feedback, because the right feedback is vital in providing information about how (or if) subsequent goals and associated actions should be modified, and this process, if done well, will eventuate in successful goal attainment (Locke & Latham, 2002). Goals that have been aligned with the coachee's intrinsic interests or personal values are more likely to be personally satisfying when achieved, and the positive emotions associated with such goal satisfaction may well play an important past in priming the coachee for engagement in future challenges (Sheldon, 2002).

So what? Does goal theory matter in practice?

Although it is clear from the above discussion that goal theory can inform what happens within coaching sessions and also has great relevance for the broader coaching process, the question arises: does goal theory really matter in actual practice? Is the coach's ability to be goal-focused related to coaching outcomes? This is a key question for the further development of evidencebased coaching practice.

A significant body of research within the psychotherapeutic literature holds that the most important factors in determining therapeutic outcomes are the so-called 'common factors' – the ability of the therapist to develop a working alliance with the client that embodies trust, warmth and respect for the client's autonomy (Lampropoulos, 2000). Not surprisingly it is often assumed in the coaching literature that this is also the case for coaching (McKenna & Davis, 2009a). However, coaching is not therapy. The aims and process of coaching and therapy are different.

To date there have been few studies that have sought to explore the importance of goals in the coaching relationship, so I was interested to see which aspect of the coaching relationship was more positively related to coaching outcomes - a goalfocused approach to coaching, or the socalled 'common-factors' associated with the person-centred approach (Grant, 2012). To explore this issue I designed a within-subjects (pre-post) coaching study, in which 49 mature age coachees (males=12; females=37; mean age 37.5 years) set personal goals and completed a 10- to 12-week, five-session, solution-focused cognitive-behavioural personal coaching programme using the GROW model* (Whitmore, 1992).

Participants were asked to identify their desired outcome for the coaching relationship (i.e. their goal) and then rated the extent to which they had achieved this outcome on a scale from 0 per cent (no attainment) to 100 per cent (complete attainment). Psychological health was also assessed using the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21: Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995) and an 18-item version of Ryff's Psychological Well-being Scales (Ryff & Keyes, 1995). In addition, self-insight was assessed using the Insight subscale of the Self-reflection and Insight Scale (SRIS; Grant, Franklin & Langford, 2002).

In order to see which aspect of the coaching relationship was the better predictor of coaching success, two key measures of the coaching relationship were used. The goal-focused aspect of the coaching relationship was measured using an adaptation of the Goal-focused Coaching Skills Questionnaire (GCSQ; Grant & Cavanagh, 2007). Items on this scale include: 'The coach was very good at helping me develop clear, simple and achievable action plans'; 'We discussed any failures on my part to complete agreed actions steps'; 'The goals we set during coaching were very important to me'; 'My coach asked me about progress towards my goals'; 'The goals we set were stretching but attainable'.

The 'common factors' aspect was assessed using an adaption of Deci and Ryan's (2005) Perceived Autonomy Support Scale (PASS). Items on this scale included: 'My coach listened to how I would like to do things'; 'I feel that my coach cares about me as a person'; 'My coach encouraged me to ask questions'; 'I feel that my coach accepts me'; 'I felt understood by my coach'; 'I feel a lot of trust in my coach'.

The coaching programme appeared to be effective and successful in helping the clients reach their desired outcomes for the coaching relationship: there was a significant increase in goal attainment following the coaching programme ($t_{1,48}$ (11.43); p<.001), as well as insight ($t_{1,48}$ (2.61); p<.05), and significant decreases in anxiety ($t_{1,48}$ (2.89); p<.01) and stress ($t_{1,48}$ (2.13); p<.05). No changes in levels of depression or psychological well-being were observed.

^{*} The GROW model is a commonly-used way of structuring the coaching conversation by setting a goal for the coaching session, then discussing the reality of the situation, exploring options and finally wrapping up the session by delineating some action steps. Although this may appear to be a simplistic linear process, in fact the GROW model can be used in a sophisticated and iterative fashion, with the conversation cycling back and forth between steps. For an extended discussion on the use of the GROW model see Grant (2011).

The main area of interest was the relationship between coaching success and the various aspects of the coaching styles used by the coaches. There was a significant correlation between coaching success as defined by the extent to which the client had achieved their desired outcome (i.e. goal attainment) and the GCSQ (r=.43; p<.01), and there was also a significant correlation between coaching success (as defined by the extent to which the client had achieved their desired outcome) and the PASS (r=.29; p<.05). Not surprisingly there was also a significant correlation between the GCSQ and the PASS (r=.61; p<.001). This suggests that both a goal-focused coaching style and a 'common person-centred coaching style factors' contribute to coaching success.

However, and this is a key point, the correlation between coaching success (goal attainment) and the goal-focused coaching style measured by the GCSQ remained significant even when statistically controlling for a 'common factors' person-centred coaching style as measured by the PASS (r=.31; p<.05). It should also be noted that, when controlling for the goal-focused coaching style as measured by the GCSQ, the relationship between the PASS and coaching success (goal attainment) was not significant (r=.03; p=.81).

These findings strongly suggest that the use of goals in coaching is indeed of practical importance in that the use of a goalfocused coaching style is more effective than a 'common factors' person-centred coaching style in the coaching context. This is not to say that a person-centred relationship is not important. Rather, this reminds us that the coaching relationship differs from the counselling or therapeutic relationship, and that coaches need to be mindful of the fact that they are employed by their clients to help make purposeful and positive change in their personal and professional lives.

Conclusion

Coaches may use metaphors such as helping clients chart a course, navigate the waters of life or re-author their lived narratives, and such metaphors may well be powerful vehicles for facilitating change. Some coaches may prefer to talk about their role in terms of helping clients explore their values, clarify their intentions, or working to help them to achieve their personal aspirations, rather than using the perceived jargon of goal theory. Clearly coaches should feel entirely free to express themselves and describe their work as they choose. However, at its core coaching is necessarily a goal-directed activity, regardless of linguistic gymnastics or variations in meaning-making perspectives, and goal theory can indeed provide a useful lens through which to understand coaching.

The integrative goal-focused model presented here is a multifaceted evidencebased methodology for helping individuals and organisations create and sustain purposeful positive change. Because the coaching conversation is inherently iterative, and frequently unpredictable and nonlinear, the key issue for coaches is one of informed flexibility in using goal theory: Goal use in coaching is far more than the simplistic SMART acronym implies.

By understanding the different types of goals and their relationship to the process of change, and through facilitating the goal alignment and goal-pursuit processes, skilful professional coaches can work more efficiently with their clients, helping them to achieve insight and behavioural change that enhances their workplace performance, their professional working lives and, most importantly, their personal well-being and sense of self. After all, that is surely the overarching goal of the coaching enterprise itself.

Acknowledgements

This article draws on and extends presentations given by the author at the 2012 International Congress of Coaching Psychology held at Sydney, Australia in May 2012, and a chapter by the author in Clutterbuck, D., Megginson, D. & David, S. (Eds.) (2012), *Beyond Goals: Effective Strategies for Coaching and Mentoring.* Gower Publishing, London

References

Association for Coaching (AC) (2012). Association of Coaching definition of coaching. Retrieved 19 April 2012, from:

www.associationforcoaching.com/about/ about03.htm

- Austin, J.T. & Vancouver, J.B. (1996). Goal constructs in psychology: Structure, process, and content. *Psychological Bulletin*, 120(3), 338–375.
- Bargh, J.A., Gollwitzer, P.M., Lee-Chai, A., Barndollar, K. & Trötschel, R. (2001). The automated will: Non-conscious activation and pursuit of behavioural goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(6), 1014.
- Benavides, L. (2009). The relationship between executive coaching and organisational performance of female executives as a predictor for organisational success. San Francisco: University of San Francisco.
- Bono, J.E., Purvanova, R.K., Towler, A.J. & Peterson, D.B. (2009). A survey of executive coaching practices. *Personnel Psychology*, 62(2), 361–404.
- Burke, D. & Linley, P. (2007). Enhancing goal selfconcordance through coaching. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(1), 62–69.
- Carver, C.S. & Scheier, M.F. (1998). On the selfregulation of behaviour. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Chulef, A.S., Read, S.J. & Walsh, D.A. (2001). A hierarchical taxonomy of human goals. *Motivation & Emotion*, 25(3), 191–232.
- Church, A.H. (1997). Managerial self-awareness in high-performing individuals in organisations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(2), 281–292.
- Clutterbuck, D. (2008). What's happening in coaching and mentoring? And what is the difference between them? *Development and Learning in Organisations*, 22(4), 8–10.
- Clutterbuck, D. (2010). Coaching reflection: The liberated coach. Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice, 3(1), 73–81.

The Author Anthony M. Grant

Coaching Psychology Unit, School of Psychology, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW 2006, Australia.

Correspondence

Email: anthony.grant@sydney.edu.au

- Coats, E.J., Janoff-Bulman, R. & Alpert, N. (1996). Approach versus avoidance goals: Differences in self-evaluation and well-being. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22(10), 1057–1067.
- Cochran, W. & Tesser, A. (1996). The 'What the hell' effect: Some effects of goal proximity and goal framing on performance. In L. Martin & A. Tesser (Eds.), *Striving and feeling* (pp.99–123). New Jersey: LEA.
- Costa, P.T. & McCrae, R.R. (1992). Revised neo personality inventory and neo five-factor inventory: Professional manual. Florida: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Custers, R. & Aarts, H. (2010). The unconscious will: How the pursuit of goals operates outside of conscious awareness. *Science*, *329*(5987), 47.
- Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. (1980). Self-determination theory: When mind mediates behaviour. *Journal* of Mind & Behaviour, 1(1), 33-43.
- Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. (2005). Perceived Autonomy Support Scale. Retrieved 5 August 2006, from: www.psych.rochester.edu/SDT/measures/ needs_scl.html
- Deci, E.L. & Ryan, R.M. (Eds.) (2002). Handbook of self-determination research. Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- Dewck, C.S. (1986). Motivational processes affecting learning. American Psychologist, 41(10), 1040–1048.
- Duncan, J., Emslie, H., Williams, P., Johnson, R. & Freer, C. (1996). Intelligence and the frontal lobe: The organisation of goal-directed behaviour. *Cognitive Psychology*, 30(3), 257–303.
- Elliot, A.J. & McGregor, H.A. (2001). A 2 x 2 achievement goal framework. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(3), 501–519.
- Elliot, A.J., Sheldon, K.M. & Church, M.A. (1997). Avoidance personal goals and subjective wellbeing. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23(9), 915–927.

- European Mentoring and Coaching Council (EMCC) (2011). European Mentoring and Coaching Council code of conduct for coaching and mentoring. Retrieved 19 April 2012, from: www.emccouncil.org/src/ultimo/models/ Download/4.pdf
- Emmons, R.A. (1992). Abstract versus concrete goals: Personal striving level, physical illness and psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62, 292–300.
- Freedman, A.M. & Perry, J.A. (2010). Executive consulting under pressure: A case study. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 62(3), 189–202.
- Grant, A.M. (2002). Towards a psychology of coaching: The impact of coaching on metacognition, mental health and goal attainment. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 63/12, p.6094 (June).
- Grant, A.M. (2003). The impact of life coaching on goal attainment, metacognition and mental health. Social Behaviour and Personality: An International Journal, 31(3), 253–264.
- Grant, A.M. (2006). An integrative goal-focused approach to executive coaching. In D. Stober & A.M. Grant (Eds.), *Evidence based coaching handbook* (pp.153–192). New York: Wiley.
- Grant, A.M. (2011). Is it time to regrow the GROW model? Issues related to teaching coaching session structures. *The Coaching Psychologist*, 7(2), 118–126.
- Grant, A.M. (2012). Making a real difference: Insights and applications from evidence-based coaching research in the lab, workplace and reality TV. Paper presented at the 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology, Sydney, Australia.
- Grant, A.M. & Cavanagh, M. (2007). The goalfocused coaching skill questionnaire: Preliminarily findings. Social Behaviour and Personality: An International Journal, 35(6), 751–760.
- Grant, A.M., Curtayne, L. & Burton, G. (2009). Executive coaching enhances goal attainment, resilience and workplace well-being: A randomised controlled study. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4(5), 396–407.
- Grant, A.M., Franklin, J. & Langford, P. (2002). The self-reflection and insight scale: A new measure of private self-consciousness. *Social Behaviour and Personality*, *30*(8), 821–836.
- Grant, A.M. & Greene, J. (2004). Coach yourself: Make real changes in your life (2nd ed.). Harlow, UK: Pearson Education.
- Gray, D.E. (2007). Towards a systemic model of coaching supervision: Some lessons from psychotherapeutic and counselling models. *Australian Psychologist*, 42(4), 300–309.

- Gregory, J.B., Beck, J.W. & Carr, A.E. (2011). Goals, feedback, and self-regulation: Control theory as a natural framework for executive coaching. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 63(1), 26.
- Gresham, F.M., Evans, S. & Elliott, S.N. (1988). Academic and Social Self-efficacy Scale: Development and initial validation. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 6(2), 125–138.
- Higgins, E.T. (1987). Self-discrepancy: A theory relating self and affect. *Psychological Review*, 94, 319–340.
- Hudson, F.M. (1999). *The handbook of coaching*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- International Coach Federation (ICF) (2012). International Coach Federation code of ethics. Retrieved 19 April 2012, from: www.coachfederation.org/ethics/
- Jordan, P.J. & Troth, A.C. (2002). Emotional intelligence and conflict resolution: Implications for human resource development. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 4(1), 62–79.
- Karniol, R. & Ross, M. (1996). The motivational impact of temporal focus: Thinking about the future and the past. Annual Review of Psychology, 47, 593–620.
- Klinger, E. (1975). Consequences of commitment to and disengagement from incentives. *Psychological Review*, 82, 1–25.
- Kristof-Brown, A.L. & Stevens, C.K. (2001). Goal congruence in project teams: Does the fit between members' personal mastery and performance goals matter? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1083–1095.
- Lampropoulos, G.K. (2000). Definitional and research issues in the common factors approach to psychotherapy integration: Misconceptions, clarifications, and proposals. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 10(4), 415–438.
- Lewis-Duarte, M. (2010). Executive coaching: A study of coaches' use of influence tactics. Claremont, CA: Claremont Graduate University.
- Linnenbrink, E.A., Ryan, A.M. & Pintrich, P.R. (1999). The role of goals and affect in working memory functioning. *Learning & Individual Differences*, 11(2), 213–230.
- Little, B.R. (1993). Personal projects: A rationale and method for investigation. *Environment and Behaviour*, 15, 273–309.
- Locke, E. (2000). Motivation, cognition, and action: An analysis of studies of task goals and knowledge. *Applied Psychology*, 49(3), 408–429.
- Locke, E.A. (1996). Motivation through conscious goal setting. Applied & Preventive Psychology, 5(2), 117–124.
- Locke, E.A. & Latham, G.P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation. *American Psychologist*, 57(9), 705–717.

- Manderlink, G. & Harackiewicz, J.M. (1984). Proximal versus distal goal setting and intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 47(4), 918–928.
- McKenna, D. & Davis, S.L. (2009a). Hidden in plain sight: The active ingredients of executive coaching. *Industrial and Organisational Psychology: Perspectives on Science and Practice*, 2(3), 244–260.
- McKenna, D. & Davis, S.L. (2009b). What is the active ingredients equation for success in executive coaching? *Industrial and Organisational Psychology: Perspectives on Science and Practice*, 2(3), 297–304.
- Midgley, C., Kaplan, A. & Middleton, M. (2001). Performance-approach goals: Good for what, for whom, under what circumstances, and at what cost? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(1), 77–86.
- Milare, S.A. & Yoshida, E.M.P. (2009). Brief intervention in organisations: Change in executive coaching. *Psicologia em Estudo*, 14(4), 717–727.
- Moskowitz, G.B. & Grant, H. (Eds.) (2009). *The psychology of goals.* New York: The Guilford Press.
- Oishi, S., Schimmack, U., Diener, E. & Suh, E.M. (1998). The measurement of values and individualism-collectivism. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24(11), 1177–1189.
- Ordóñez, L.D., Schweitzer, M.E., Galinsky, A.D. & Bazerman, M.H. (2009). Goals gone wild: The systematic side effects of over-prescribing goal setting. Academy of Management Perspectives, February, 6–16.
- Pervin, L.A. (1983). The stasis and flow of behaviour: Toward a theory of goals. In M.M. Page (Ed.), *Nebraska symposium on motivation* (pp.1–53). Lincoln, Nebraska.
- Peterson, D.B. (2011). Good to great coaching. In G. Hernez-Broome & L.A. Boyce (Eds.), Advancing executive coaching: Setting the course of successful leadership coaching (pp.83–102). San Francisco: Jossey–Bass.
- Prochaska, J.O., Norcross, J.C. & DiClemente, C.C. (1994). Changing for good. New York: Avon Books.
- Raia, A.P. (1965). Goal setting and self-control: An empirical study. *Journal of Management Studies*, 2(1), 34–53.
- Rawsthorne, L.J. & Elliott, A.J. (1999). Achievement goals and intrinsic motivation: A meta-analytic review. *Personality & Social Psychology Review*, 3(4), 326–344.
- Ryff, C.D. & Keyes, C.L.M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisited. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(4), 719–727.
- Sarrazin, P., Vallerand, R., Guillet, E., Pelletier, L. & Cury, F. (2002). Motivation and dropout in female handballers: A 21-month prospective study. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 32(3), 395–418.

- Schnell, E.R. (2005). A case study of executive coaching as a support mechanism during organisational growth and evolution. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 57(1), 41–56.
- Seijts, G.H. & Latham, G.P. (2001). The effect of distal learning, outcome, and proximal goals on a moderately complex task. *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 22(3), 291–307.
- Sheldon, K.M. (2002). The self-concordance model of healthy goal striving: When personal goals correctly represent the person. In E.L. Deci & R.M. Ryan (Eds.), *Handbook of self-determination research* (pp.65–86). Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- Sheldon, K.M. & Elliot, A.J. (1998). Not all personal goals are personal: Comparing autonomous and controlled reasons for goals as predictors of effort and attainment. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 24*(5), 546–557.
- Sheldon, K.M. & Elliot, A.J. (1999). Goal striving, need satisfaction and longitudinal well-being: The self-concordance model. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 76(3), 482–497.
- Sheldon, K.M. & Kasser, T. (1995). Coherence and congruence: Two aspects of personality integration. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 68(3), 531–543.
- Smither, J.W., London, M., Flautt, R., Vargas, Y. & Kucine, I. (2003). Can working with an executive coach improve multisource feedback ratings over time? A quasi-experimental field study. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(1), 23–44.
- Spence, G.B. (2007). Gas-powered coaching: Goal attainment scaling and its use in coaching research and practice. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(2), 155–167.
- Stern, L.R. (2009). Challenging some basic assumptions about psychology and executive coaching: Who knows best, who is the client, and what are the goals of executive coaching? *Industrial and Organisational Psychology: Perspectives* on Science and Practice, 2(3), 268–271.
- Street, H. (2002). Exploring relationships between goal setting, goal pursuit and depression: A review. Australian Psychologist 37(2), 95–103.
- Sue-Chan, C., Wood, R.E. & Latham, G.P. (2012). Effect of a coach's regulatory focus and an individual's implicit person theory on individual performance. *Journal of Management*, 38(3), 809–835.
- Turner, C.A. (2004). Executive coaching: The perception of executive coaching from the executive's perspective. Malibu, CA: Pepperdine University.

An integrated model of goal-focused coaching

- Worldwide Association of Business Coaches (WABC) (2012). Worldwide Association of Business Coaches definition of business coaching. Retrieved 19 April 2012, from: www.wabccoaches.com/includes/popups/
 - definition.html
- Warshaw, P.R. & Davis, F.D. (1985). The accuracy of behavioural intention versus behavioural expectation for predicting behavioural goals. *The Journal of Psychology*, 119(6), 599–602.
- Weldon, E. & Yun, S. (2000). The effects of proximal and distal goals on goal level, strategy development, and group performance. *Journal of Applied Behavioural Science*, 36(3), 336–344.
- Whitmore, J. (1992). *Coaching for performance*. London: Nicholas Brealey.
- Winters, D. & Latham, G.P. (1996). The effect of learning versus outcome goals on a simple versus a complex task. Group & Organisation Management, 21(2), 236–250.

Paper

Coaching as a learning methodology – a mixed methods study in driver development using a randomised controlled trial and thematic analysis Jonathan Passmore & Hannah Rehman

Objectives: This mixed methods study reviewed the role of coaching in the driver development environment. The study sought to explore the impact of coaching as a learning methodology and to compare this with an instruction-based approach.

Design: The study involved a mixed methods sequential design. The first part of the study was a randomised controlled trial (RCT) and the second part of the study used semi-structured interviews and thematic analysis. **Methods:** The RCT element of the study involved participants being randomly allocated to one of two learning groups. In the first group participants were trained by driving instructors trained in coaching and instruction. In the second group participants were trained by driving instructors using solely an instruction approach. In total 208 participants took part with 24 driving instructors delivering the coaching or instruction across the two groups. In the qualitative part of the research, four driving instructors and seven learners were interviewed using semi-structured interviews and the data analysed using thematic analysis.

Results: The quantitative study revealed that coaching was a more effective and efficient method for learning in this context. The independent samples t-tests indicated significant differences with learners in the coaching group spending less time in training (p<0.01) and being more likely to pass their test on the first attempt (p<0.01). The coaching group also had fewer attempts to pass the assessment (p<0.01) than the instruction group. The qualitative study suggested that from this group that both learners and 'instructors' observed positive aspects to the coaching style of learning. This was strongest for instructors who suggested coaching facilitated an improved relationship and helped the learner to learn more quickly. **Keywords:** Coaching psychology; RCT; Mixed methods; coaching and learning; coaching impact; pedagogy; adult learning; coaching and driver development.

THE UK GOVERNMENT and other governments in the developed world are faced with a challenge of how to improve road safety. Despite persistent attempts at reducing accidents through campaigns, road design and changes to car design, road traffic accidents remain one of the largest causes of death in the developed world. In 2008, it was reported that around seven fatal incidents occur per day in the UK. Death through a driving-related incident is the single largest cause of death for young people between 17 to 25. Further, around 20 per cent of new drivers are involved in an incident within the first six months of acquiring their licence (DSA, *Learning to Drive* consultation paper, 2008).

While drivers are often blamed individually for incidents, behind this are issues of national culture, personal attitude and driver learning. Leading coaching practitioners such as Whitmore (2010) have questioned the current methods for learning to drive and have suggested that coaching may be a more effective method for driver learning, compared with the current instructor-led approach.

The Driving Standards Agency (DSA) in a consultation paper Learning to Drive discussed ways of revising the current approach by changing the system's focus on merely teaching the skills required to pass the test, with a view towards developing greater use of higher order skills. As part of this process the DSA is engaged in a five-year project to assess which methods are more effective in enhancing road safety. Serious questions have, however, been raised about the methodology of the study even before initial results have been published (Passmore, 2010a; University of East London, 2011). These include questions about cross-contamination between the coaching and control group, where it is reported that members of the control group have previously received training in coaching skills.

In the UK, the key requirements for acquiring an LGV (large goods vehicle) licence is that the individual must have a full category B licence (car), meet the eyesight criteria and be a minimum of 21 years of age. An LGV licence is required for all vehicles that weigh over 3.5 tonnes. Similar to driving a car, the LGV learner must complete a theory, hazard perception and practical test.

The British Army have a large need for LGV drivers which is supplied by the Defence Driving School of Transport (DST) who train British Army learners for cars (category B), lorries (Large Goods Vehicle (LGV) (category C and C+E) and Passenger Carrying Vehicles (category D and D+E), in addition to special vehicle such as tanks and specialist off-road vehicles.

The methods for teaching a learner how to drive a lorry and car in the British Army are the same as a commercial driving school with instructors using instruction-led techniques (*Defence Instructional Techniques Manual*, 2009). This typically involves the instructor in providing explicit instruction on the mechanics and operation of the vehicle, instruction on risks, as well as commands during the drive on what to do (i.e. 'use your mirror before you signal') and where to go (i.e. 'turn right at the next junction'). Training standards are considered high, the DST 'Road Traffic Accident Statistics' in 2008 reveal there was a decrease of 11 per cent of road accidents. However, the total number of 'vehicle driver' deaths increased compared to 2007. While instruction has produced positive outcomes, a pressure for change was internal financial challenges and the increasing demand for trained drivers, a direct result of operations in Iraq and Afghanistan.

Coaching was identified as a possible solution to improve driver outcomes and DST was interested in exploring these ideas. In parallel other work was underway in other areas of driver training which has provided evidence of coaching's potential contribution to driver development (Passmore & Mortimer, 2010; Passmore & Townsend, in press). These previous studies in the learner driver and police advanced driver environments have revealed the perceived value by driving instructors of coaching in supporting driving pupil's learning, improving the learning relationship between 'instructor' and learner and the perception that learning was more effective when the instructor used coaching in comparison to instruction. However, not all studies have seen positive results (Passmore & Velez, 2012).

At this stage the contribution of coaching to adult learning remains theoretical. There are many theories that attempt to explain how adults learn. The most widely used theory is Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory (ELT). Kolb defines learning as 'the process whereby knowledge is created through the transformation of experience. Knowledge results from the combination of grasping and transforming experience...' (Kolb, 1984, p.41). Kolb emphasises experience as an important aspect of how adults learn (Kolb & Kolb, 2005), within a four-stage cycle of learning (Figure 1). Whilst Kolb notes that learning can occur at any point of the cycle, it generally begins with the process of 'concrete experience' (Rakoczy & Money, 1995).

According to the ELT, learning involves developing a theory, forming hypotheses



Figure 1: Kolb's (1984) Stages of Learning Cycle.

and then testing those hypotheses. On the whole, the four stages of the cycle involve the learner in self-reflect, observation and testing (Rakoczy & Money, 1995). Kolb highlights that for learning to be a success, the learner needs to actively complete all four stages of the cycle. Argyris (1991) has further developed learning theory through his 'double-loop' analogy. Argyris argues that 'double-loop learning' consists of asking yourself questions and then testing them. 'Double-loop learning' occurs at the third stage of Kolb's cycle, whereby adults learn to apply their hypotheses and theories to new conditions.

It can be hypothesised that coaching further aids the learning process described by Kolb (1984), as coaching creates a sense of personal responsibility of the learning and stimulates the double loop learning described by Argyris, as the coachee is encouraged to reflect on their situation and its implications through questions from the coach. These models of learning suggest that an individualised coaching approach might help enhance the efficacy of LGV driver training beyond the traditional directive, instructor lead approach.

A number of previous studies of coaching have indicated the effectiveness of using coaching and training simultaneously to help the learner personalise learning and thus enhance application to workplace activities (e.g. Olivero et al., 1997). However, to date no direct comparisons have been made comparing instructional and coaching approaches as learning methodologies. Further, the randomised trials which have been undertake have tended to focus on the development of psychological characteristics, for example, resilience or behavioural skills (see Grant et al., 2010, for a fuller discussion) rather than a comparison of coaching with other developmental interventions.

Research, however, is still limited even in the area of the development of behavioural skills and even rarer in using coaching with people who may have poor literacy skills. Allison and Ayllon (1980) used a behavioural coaching strategy with 23 participants to aid the learning of specific skills in sports. They



Figure 2: A model comparing the outcomes of the coaching and instructional approaches.

Adapted from Kolb's (1984) Stages of Learning Cycle.

found that the behavioural coaching approach enhanced performance and appropriate use of the skills by an average of 50 per cent. The findings of this study suggest that a behavioural coaching approach might be successful in driver training with a diverse population, as driving involves learning a motor skill, which needs to be executed correctly to ensure driver safety beyond the training. However, in addition it involves higher order cognitive skills, such as decision making, which themselves are affected by emotional state, personality and attitudes. As a results a cognitive behavioural approach, combining both basic behavioural coaching with an exploration of cognition may enhance driver development outcomes.

A review of the driver development literature reveals there are currently no empirical research looking at the effects of coaching on driver training, with the exception of the papers noted above conducted as part of this wider review of coaching and driving (Passmore & Mortimer, 2011; Passmore & Velez, 2012; Passmore & Townsend, in press)

In terms of the wider driver training arena, some work has been conducted. Work by Senserrick and Haworth, (2005) has noted the central role of attitudes. Stanton et al. (2007) have suggested hazard perception programmes to help improve the effects of training. Senserrick and Swinburne (2001) noted the value of advanced 'insight' training courses which made drivers more aware of the risks involved in driving. Hutton et al. (2002) have highlighted the role of feedback on driver safety behaviours and have found a positive effect of using feedback to change negative behaviours. Boorman (1999) found that an advanced driver training programme conducted with the Post Office lorry drivers significantly improved fleet performance and also resulted in a reduction in accidents after the programme. These studies lend preliminary support to the notion that driver training can be enhanced with the addition of supplementary approaches.

Given this context, leading driving researchers (Dorn, 2005) have suggested that coaching may be an appropriate methodology for driver training. Rismark and Solvberg (2007) proposed a dialogue similar to feedback and coaching to improve the effects of driver training in Norway. The study looked at how to improve driver training in terms of its content through enhancing the communication between the instructor and learner. This approach helped enhance self-awareness and reflection in the driver, which led to better driving beyond training. behaviour Similarly, Stanton et al. (2007, p.1213) evaluated the effectiveness of an advanced coaching driving intervention, training drivers' in the 'Information', 'Position', 'Speed', 'Gear' and 'Accelerate' system (IPSGA). They conducted the study with 75 participants, who were either put in the coaching group, an observation group with no coaching or a control group with no observation or coaching being given. The participants were adults between the ages of 23 to 65 with several years of driving experience. The researchers found that the experimental coaching group significantly improved their attitudes, situational awareness and skills related to driving. They proposed that their findings suggested that a formal one-to-one coaching course will help produce safer drivers, emphasising that the content and methods of an advanced training programme is the key to its success. These findings indicate that coaching will be useful for improving driver development for all vehicles and in particular for lorry driver training to help facilitate the acquisition of the specific skills and to enhance road safety beyond the test. Nevertheless, a major weakness identified with their study was the nature of participation in the study. Their sample for the coaching group was selfselected and this group were 'motivated to improve their driving' (Stanton et al., 2007, p.1231). Stanton et al. (2007) and Rismark and Solvberg's study (2007) provide evidence and support for the use of coaching as an independent and formal programme.

These studies were identified by the EU HERMES Project (2007), which has explored the role of coaching as a learning approach for novice drivers. Its report (2010) has suggested ways that driving instructors can incorporate coaching into driver training (see, for example, HERMES, 2011). HERMES also highlighted 'Goals for Driver Education' (Table 1). The matrix defines the goals and competencies required for teaching individuals how to drive, using a 'hierarchical approach'. Level 1 'vehicle control' is gaining skills in the basic manual handling of the vehicle, such as manoeuvring and general car maintenance. Level 2 'driving in traffic' consists of gaining control in traffic situations and different road and weather conditions, it is the mastery of driving in varied conditions. Level 3 'goals and context of driving' and Level 4 'goals for life and skills for living' are the higher-order skills required for driving, such as understanding driver motives and intentions for driving, factors related to driver personality and values, 'self-awareness', 'emotions' and being able to understand driver personal strengths and weaknesses. They can be seen as the 'what, where, when and how' of a journey and understanding the rationale for making decisions. The matrix can be used to understand what the current traditional approaches to driver training need to revise and reconsider. While the instructor-led approach

While the instructor-led approach focuses on Levels 1 and 2 of the matrix, which are formally assessed on the driving test, it is suggested that the coaching approach helps develop Levels 3 and 4 of the matrix, as coaching helps challenge one's beliefs (HERMES, 2010). The evidence suggests that these factors are important and have a large impact on driving behaviour, (Dorn & Brown, 2003; Dorn, 2005). The HERMES Report argues that for driver training to be successful it needs to incorporate all levels on the matrix.

It can be questioned whether a more enhanced coaching approach to driver training will enhance its effectiveness.

Hierarchical levels of driver behaviour	Competency 1: Knowledge and skill	Competency 2: Risk increasing aspects	Competency 3: Self-assessment	
Level 4: Goals for life and skills	 Lifestyle, age, group, culture, social position, etc. vs. driving behaviour 	 Sensation seeking Risk acceptance Group norms Peer pressure 	 Introspective competence Own preconditions Impulse control 	
Level 3: Goals and context of driving	 Modal choice Choice of time Role of motives Route planning 	 Alcohol, fatigue Low friction Rush hours Young passengers 	 Own motives influencing choices Self-critical thinking 	
Level 2: Driving in traffic	 Traffic rules Co-operation Hazard perception Automisation 	 Disobeying rules Close-following Low friction Vulnerability 	 Calibration of driving skills Own driving style 	
Level 1: Vehicle control	 Car functioning Protection systems Vehicle control Physical laws 	 No seatbelts Breakdown of vehicle systems Worn-out tyres 	 Calibration of car control skills 	

Table 1: Goals for Driver Education (GDE) Matrix.

Adapted from Hatakka, Keskinen, Glad, Gregerson & Hernetkoski, 2002, pp.209–210) and Gregerson (2005, p.9).

Driving involves both cognitive skills, such as calculating other road user speed, intended direction and associated risks of manoeuvres and behavioural skills, such as vehicle control. For coaching to be successful in driver training, it needs to adopt approaches which enable these aspects of skills development to be addressed. Grant (2001) found that a combined approach of cognitive and behavioural methods was more effective in enhancing learning for adult learners, finding that it led to 'deeper' understanding, as well as reducing anxiety and these effects were also maintained at follow-up.

The current study aimed to explore whether coaching could improve the efficiency and effectiveness of driver training. Unlike the small number of driving studies that focus on young novice drivers, the current study focuses on adult learners who already know how to drive and has passed their test for category B (motor car).

Method

This study investigated the impact of coaching on Large Goods Vehicle (LGV) driver training with the Defence School of Transport (DST) in the UK. The first part of the study used a randomised controlled trial methodology (RCT), where participants were randomly allocated to the coaching experimental group or the instruction control group. In this study, the independent variable identified was the coaching style of teaching learners how to drive a LGV. The dependent variables were the total number of hours spent in training; the total number of kilometres (kms) spent driving in training prior to passing the test, the number of tests taken to pass the driving test and passing the driving test on the first attempt. The design of the study was a between subjects design, as there were different participants in each group. The experimental group ('Group 1') received the coaching style of teaching and 'Group 2'

was the control who received the standard instruction style of teaching. Participants in each group were matched according to their LGV driving test category; whether they were training to acquire their category C licence, which is for 'vehicles over 3500 kg, with a trailer up to 750 kg'; or training for their C+E licence, which is the same as category C with the exception of a trailer weighing 'over 750 kg' (Direct Gov, 2010). The data was collected by members of the DST and subjected to analysis by the researchers. The second part of the study involved a series of short semi-structured interviews, transcription and thematic analysis to identify common themes.

Participants

The RCT part of the study involved 208 participants, with 104 participants in each group. Participants were serving members of the British Armed forces who were learning to drive a lorry with the DST. The sample included both English as a second language, (mainly from Nepal and Kenya), and native English speakers. Participation in the study was voluntary. Participation of learners in each group was randomly assigned, through an ABAB process, following posting to DSA. The driving instructors were all members of unit D, one of seven units involved in driver training. The selection of this group was random. The driving instructors attended five days of coach training. The training covered basic skills in coaching and included a basic coverage of behavioural and cognitive behavioural coaching models. Participants also completed coaching practice during which they were observed and received feedback, along with a subsequent assessment

The qualitative study involved 11 participants, four instructors and seven learners, who were interviewed by independent researchers. These were selected at random from each of the groups. Participation was again voluntary.

Materials

1. *Participants:* For each participant (learner driver) a record of the hours spent in training, kilometres driven, number of tests taken and the date and time of all lessons and tests were recorded using individual learner record sheets. The summary data for each individual was transferred to an Excel spreadsheet for analysis.

Each participant (learner driver) was given a work book, work sheets and an instructor resource to refer to post training (PLD, 2008a, 2008b).

- 2. *Trainers:* Twelve DST staff were trained in the coaching approach. The training was designed to develop the driving instructors' knowledge, skills and attitude to learners and to be able to undertake coaching with confidence and competence. The aim of the training programme was to ensure that the trainers (driving instructors) were skilled in the approach so that they could then train other instructors within their organisation. The training contents is summarised in Table 2.
- 3. *Data collection:* Trainers (driving instructors) were asked to monitor the hours spent in training, kilometres driven and test details on a record sheet for each student at the end of each session. The collection of such information was part of the instructors' normal role. Data was collected during January to July 2009. During this period, each instructor trained approximately 10 students.

Trainers (driving instructors) trained participants (learner drivers) in the experimental group how to drive a lorry, using techniques from both coaching and instruction. Instructors who had not received the additional coaching training taught participants (learner drivers) in the control using the DST's instructional style.

Participants (learner drivers) were randomly allocated to a trainer (driving instructor). Each participant was

Day	Objectives
1	 Introduce the coaching process – define coaching and how it compares with other forms of learning Core coaching skills – listening, questioning, summary and reflection
2	 Core coaching models, for example, the GROW model, goal setting (SMART goals). Coaching practice
3	 Models of adult learning – Learning cycle, social learning and double loop learning Learning styles Supplementary models – Cognitive behavioural approach and techniques Coaching practice
4	 Building learning relationships with learners Driving lesson planning – combining instruction and coaching Coaching Practice
5	 Integrating the skills Coaching practice Personal review and action planning

Table 2: Training objectives.

informed that their details would be monitored during their lessons. In addition each received an explanation that the Army was reviewing its driver learning methods; although precise details were not disclosed as to the types of training methodology or whether the participant was in the experimental or control group.

Eleven semi-structured interviews were also conducted with both trainers and learners to gain further insight into their experiences of the coaching approach. Each interview lasted between 10 and 20 minutes. Interviews were conducted with four instructors who had been trained to use coaching to teach learners how to drive. The interviews explored the effects of the coaching course on their role as an instructor, in particular, looking at ways in which it might have changed the way they teach and the effects that this teaching style had on their learners.

Seven learners were interviewed. All the learners interviewed were either doing their C or their C+E LGV category licence training with the British Army through the Defence School of Transport. All learners had already acquired their category B (car driving) licence. The learners were asked if they had noticed any differences in the way they had been taught between their previous instructor and the new coaching instructor and about the learning experience.

Results

Quantitative data

In this section the findings from the statistical analysis are reviewed for each of the four hypotheses. The level of statistical significance adopted for this study was p < 0.01. An initial review of the data using a One-Sample Kolmogorov test revealed that the data was more or less normally distributed, therefore the Independent Samples *t*-test was a robust enough test for the data obtained. The *t*-test also copes better with outliers and is the test of significance for comparing the difference between two groups.

The comparisons made between the experimental group (coaching) and control group (instruction) included:

- The total number of hours in training to pass the test.
- The total number of kilometres driven in training to pass the test.
- Average number of tests taken to pass the driving test.
- Whether the learners passed their test on the first attempt.

Hypothesis 1: Learners in the coaching group will spend fewer hours in training compared to the instruction control group.

Table 3 shows the average number of hours spent driving in training in order to pass the test for the coaching and instruction groups. It can be seen that there is a difference in the number of hours driving between the two groups (control M=30.12, coaching M=21.43).

The coaching group spend fewer hours in training in order to pass their test, indicating a mean difference in hours spent in training of 8.69 (hours). An Independent Samples *t*-test was conducted to determine whether this difference in total hours spent driving was significant. Levene's test for equality of variances was p < 0.05 (p=0.026). The analysis revealed that the difference between these two groups was significant (t=4.014, p < 0.01, p=0.0005, one-tailed), indicating that the coaching group on average take less time in training to pass their test. The null hypothesis can therefore be rejected.

Hypothesis 2: Learners in the coaching group will drive fewer kilometres to pass the test compared to the instruction control group.

Table 4 demonstrates the mean for the total number of kilometres driven in training to pass the driving test for both groups. There appears to be a difference between the mean for the instruction control group (M=449.99) and the coaching group (M=394.44).

The mean difference between the two groups was 55.55 kilometres. The Levene's test for equality of variances was p>0.05(p=0.621), using the top row of values for t, the equal variances assumed row. However,

Type of training	No. of learners (N)	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD
Instruction Group (Control)	104	10.15	106.75	30.12	17.78
Coaching Group	104	7.00	81.00	21.43	13.06

 Table 3: Descriptive statistics – total number of hours driving to pass the test for the coaching and instruction control group.

 Table 4: Descriptive statistics – total number of kilometres driven in training to pass the test for the coaching and instruction control group.

Type of training	No. of learners (N)	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD
Instruction Group (Control)	104	90	1934	449.99	310.76
Coaching Group	93	100	2350	394.44	327.44
an Independent Samples *t*-test revealed that this difference in kilometres spent driving in training was not significant (*t*=1.221, p>0.01, p=0.112, one-tailed), thus the null hypothesis failed to be rejected, as coaching showed no improvement in the kilometres driven in training to pass the test.

Hypothesis 3: There will be a decrease in the number of tests taken to pass the test for learners in the coaching group.

Table 5 shows the average number of tests taken for the learners to pass their test in both groups. It can be seen that on average the coaching group take less driving tests to pass (*M*=1.38).

The difference between the two groups in the number of tests taken to pass their driving test was small (0.33). An Independent Samples *t*-test analysis revealed that the difference between the number of tests taken for both groups was significant (*t*=2.659, *p*<0.01, *p*=0.005 one-tailed). Levene's test for equality of variances was p<0.05 (*p*=0.004) and so the bottom row of values for *t* were used. As predicted, there was a decrease in the number of tests taken to pass the test for the coaching group and the null hypothesis can therefore be rejected.

Hypothesis 4: Learners in the coaching group are more likely to pass their test on the first attempt.

The data for hypothesis 4 was categorical and thus the Chi-Square non-parametric test was used for analysis. Table 6 shows the average number for whether the learners passed their test on their first attempt for the coaching and control group. It can be seen that there is a difference between the coaching group (M=1.00) and instruction control group (M=1.45) for whether they pass their test first time.

Table 7 indicates that all learners in the coaching group (N=77) passed their test on the first attempt, indicating that on average a coaching style of teaching will help learners pass their test first time. A Chi-Square analysis revealed that there is a significant association between the two groups ($\chi^2=45.294$, df=1, p<0.01, p=0.0005, one-

Type of training	No. of learners (N)	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD
Instruction Group (Control)	104	1	6	1.71	1.01
Coaching Group	104	1	4	1.38	0.74

Table 5: Descriptive statistics – total number of tests taken to
pass the driving test.

Table 6: Descriptive statistics for p	bassing the driving test		
on first attempt.			

Type of training	No. of learners (N)	Mean	SD
Instruction Group (Control)	77	1.45	0.501
Coaching Group	77	1.00	0.000

			Coaching or Control Group		
			Coaching	Control	Total
Whether they passed	Yes	Count	77	42	119
their test first time		Expected Count	59.5	59.5	119.0
	No	Count	0	35	35
		Expected Count	17.5	17.5	35.0
Total		Count	77	77	154
		Expected Count	77.0	77.0	154.0

Table 7: A table to show the cross-tabulation for whether both groups passthe driving test on the first attempt.

tailed). The analysis supports the hypothesis that learners who receive a coaching style of teaching are more likely to pass their test on the first attempt and the null hypothesis can, therefore, be rejected.

Qualitative data

Data from the semi-structured interviews was transcribed and analysed using a thematic analysis approach. This approach can help understand emerging ideas from ones research (Aronson, 1994). 'Thematic analysis is a method for identifying, analysing, and reporting patterns (themes) within data' (Braun et al., 2006, p.6). An advantage of using this approach is that it allows for flexibility (Braun et al., 2006).

The process of analysing the data firstly entailed becoming familiar with the interview data. The second stage involved identifying the themes and patterns from all the interviews by moving back and forth between the interview data. During this stage, all patterns and trends found in the data were coded. The third stage involved a review of the patterns and trends to form and define the specific themes. The fourth stage combined the common or similar themes together in order to create sub-themes. The final stage of analysis was to identify the data that was related to these themes (see Braun et al., 2006).

Trainers

Table 8 summarises the key themes that arose from the interviews with the trainers. The trainers felt that their teaching style had improved from using the new coaching method and could see marked improvements in their learners who had received this style of teaching. Trainers felt that they 'reflected back' more when using the coaching style, they gave more feedback, worked in a more collaborative style with their student, set clear goals, helped their students to actively learn through practice rather than instructing and that they asked their students more questions in order to explore whether their student understood the task. The trainers also mentioned that coaching was a useful tool for teaching their learners, commenting that this technique definitely worked with their students and would recommend the wider use of the technique in other areas of training. Comments from trainers included:

I think it's certainly made me a little bit more enthusiastic in getting out there and doing it. No doubt...well, job satisfaction'. (T5-278-282) T've got that little bit that's really helping me and I can see the big difference in my students.' (T3-140-142)

You're getting the answer out of them rather than you telling them you're asking the questions they're giving you the answer then you're waiting for the response of that student.' (T3-26-29)

Themes	Trainers' thoughts/comments
Driving instructor-learner relationship	Trainers felt that coaching helped to build good relationships with their students, creating a good atmosphere to teach in.
Coaching as a complementary methodology	Coaching helped to enhance the skills they were already using.
Enhanced opportunity for learner self-reflection	The approach encouraged more self-reflection and helped learners to become more tolerant of situations that they are faced with. Using reflection also helped to find out if the learner understood the issue and provided the opportunity to then cover again material if the concept was not fully understood.
Flexibility with using the coaching style to teach	Trainers felt that they were able to use a variety of methods to teach, which is tailored to the each individual learner's needs.
Feedback and preparation	These were regarded as an important process in their teaching methods.
Involvement	Coaching has made them more aware of ensuring that both learners' needs are met and that they keep them interested through more involvement, for example, by having more conversations with them.
Exploring through questions for deeper understanding	Trainers felt that they now explain more to their learner's through asking more questions. They explained that it helps the learner understand and also give an insight into how much help the learner needed.
Working collaboratively with the learner	They work in partnership with the learners and that working together towards the same goal helped make the experience more enjoyable for everyone.
Setting goals and objectives	They now set more clear goals with their learners, and reassure them that they can do it through using positive reinforcement.
Responsibility of the learner	Trainers now let their learners take control of their learning, so that they're not constantly telling them what to do. They found that by giving the learner responsibility of their learning helped them to focus and learn.
Active learning	Actively learning through practice helps the learner to hold onto those skills, making them more able to use those skills outside of training.

Table 8: Key themes from the interviews with the Trainers.

It's totally different now because now all I'mdoing is I'm bringing the best out of the students I'm praising them, everything they do...the Q & A technique, it's worked so well for me because, now it's making my job easier they're now thinking for themselves a lot earlier.' (T3-128-136)

'It's definitely got a place in driver training.' (T2-227)

Learners

From interviews with the learners, four of the seven learners interviewed noted no difference in the teaching of the coaching style and felt that their experience was similar to other instructors. Two out of the seven learners interviewed noticed that there was a difference in the teaching style compared to when they did their category B (car driving) course. They commented that the instructors were more careful with them as individuals.

These two learners also noticed the difference in the teaching style compared to their previous instructors and commented that the coaching style of teaching helped them to retain the skills learnt after the course and that this would help them when they are out in the field. Learners felt that their new instructors were very good, gave them more one-to-one attention, helped them to increase their confidence in driving, had more conversations with them and explained what to do more. They commented that they had learnt the importance of safety and checking whilst on the roads. Overall, the learners expressed satisfaction with the course and their trainers and had no negative comments. On average, all the learners interviewed were ready for their test within five to eight days of training from a coached instructor. Comments from learners included:

'It's more one-to-one as opposed to in a classroom with 20 other students – I think it's a lot better.' (L4-42-43) 'Tve got the confidence now...so it's good.'

(L5-50-51)

'It's helped me to observe more.' (L5-85) 'He kinda knows where he needs to explain things to you and he...overemphasises on a lot things so he'll help you understand things a lot more.' (L4-68-71)

Discussion

The study investigated whether a coaching style of teaching learners to drive a heavy goods lorry would improve driver training outcomes. In particular, the study aimed to directly compare the differences between a coaching style of learning with the traditional instructional approach used to teach learner drivers.

British Army driver training was selected as there are clearly defined measures of success; namely a driving test undertaken by an independent examiner. Further, rather than compare coaching with a control group on a waiting list or a group which receives no intervention, driver training offers a commonly used method of learning (Instruction), which coaching could be directly compared with. A third benefit was that both instruction and coaching took place one-to-two, so there was a direct comparison of the learning time. Finally, by using a sample drawn from an organisation, such as the British Army, meant that a relatively large sample could be collected, ensuring a reliable and that record keeping was highly accurate and was completed in full by all trainers.

The results indicated that there was a significant difference between the coaching and instruction (control) group in the number of hours they spent in training to pass their test (p < 0.01). As such, it was found that the coaching group spent fewer hours in training. This finding suggests that the coaching approach of teaching helps learners to grasp the techniques required for lorry driving quicker than the instructional method. A possible explanation for this finding could be that the use of Socratic questions and the self-reflection methods used in coaching aid the learner to make more meaningful links between their

Themes	Learners' thoughts/comments
Course quality and Instructor competence	Learners felt that their instructors and the course were very good and that they helped them to be ready for their test early.
One-to-one learning	Some felt that their instructors had more one-to-one time for them, making their experience more personal.
Flexible learning	Flexible learning Some felt that there was more flexibility in the coaching approach to teaching and were given a choice of techniques.
Increased confidence	All learners commented that their instructors helped them to increase their confidence in their ability to use the skills learnt. Their increased confidence helped to deal with difficult situations.
Conversational	Some learners felt that their instructors were very approachable, friendly, informal and easy to talk to. They talked to them more, explained things and asked more questions to help enhance their understanding.
Deeper understanding	All the learners highlighted that their instructors helped them to understand why they were undertaking activities.
New skills	Some felt they learnt many skills through the style of teaching, specifically to think about safety on the road and interaction with other road users.

Table 9: Key themes from the interviews with the Learners.

existing knowledge and new knowledge, and personalise the learning so the focus of learning is on the learners' needs, rather than a fixed course time and content.

The expectation that learners in the coaching group would drive less kilometres to pass the test compared to the instruction control group, failed to reach significance (p>0.01). It was assumed that coaches would spend more time at the side of the road discussing the drive, while instruction would take place during driving. This hypothesis reflected earlier research with learner drivers which suggested that it may be difficult on occasions to use coaching while the learner was driving, due to the cognitive demands which both learning to drive and reflective questions place on the drivers mental workload (Passmore & Mortimer, 2011). Whilst the coaching group were found to drive less kilometres in training in order to pass their driving test, the analysis revealed that the difference between the two

groups was in fact small (55.55 kms). One of the reasons for such a finding could be that the coaches were in practice coaching while their learner was driving. This view is consistent with the Experiential Learning Theory (ELT), which highlights that in order for adults to learn effectively, they need to engage in the four stages of learning involving observation, reflection and testing (Kolb, 1984). However, the finding that the learners in the coaching group spent fewer hours in training supports the fact that coaching was in fact a more time efficient method, as these learners significantly spent less time to procure the necessary skills for lorry driving.

It was hypothesised that the learners in the coaching group would take fewer tests in order to pass their driving test compared to the instruction control group. A significant difference was found between the two groups in the number of tests taken to pass their test (p<0.01). On average, the coaching group were found to take less driving tests to pass compared to the instruction control group. The analysis also revealed that the prediction that those in the coaching group were more likely to pass their test on the first attempt was significant (p<0.01). As highlighted in the Goals for Driver Education Matrix (GDE), safe driving behaviour involves not only the manual control of the vehicle, but also requires interpersonal and situational awareness for making safe decisions (Hatakka et al., 2002). This study suggests that a coaching style of teaching can be used to optimise driver training outcomes by addressing the higher level goals for driving as outlined in the GDE.

Although coaching improved the process of the training and was found to be a more time efficient method as opposed to the approach; the instruction difference between both groups was actually small (0.33), thus these significant findings could have been due to a type 1 error, whereby other confounding variables influenced the results. One of the variables identified is that individual characteristics, such as attributions about the driving lessons and cultural experiences of the learner could have influenced the way that they responded to the coaching and thus the findings of this study. Other possible explanations were individual differences. Gregory et al. (2008) discuss the influence of individual differences, such as gender and age, on the coach's questioning skills. In a future study it might be beneficial to match the coach and coachee to try and control for this variable. Weather conditions have also been reported as another confounding variable that can impact on driver performance (Gregerson, 1996; 2005). However, it could be argued that these confounding variables were inevitable and difficult to control in this study. Overall, in light of these difficulties, coaching was consistently found to help learners pass their driving test with fewer attempts.

As noted above there is limited research that evaluates the efficacy of a coaching intervention in learning and specifically within driver development. Nevertheless, the results of the study are consistent with the view that coaching can help to enhance the effectiveness of current driver training approaches by teaching learners the higherorder skills associated with driving (Hermes Project, 2007; Senserrick & Haworth, 2005; Dorn, 2005). The wealth of research on coaching suggests that it helps with knowledge and skill acquisition and enhances performance of individuals in organisational settings (e.g. Olivero et al., 1997; Feggetter, 2007; Tee et al., 2009), suggesting that coaching is a highly effective methodology for adult learning. The results of this study further support the fact that coaching can be used successfully to improve outcomes in driver training with a diverse population.

Clark et al. (2005) and the National Road Safety Statistics (2008) reveal that lorry drivers are more likely to display unsafe driving behaviour. Although driver safety was not directly measured in this study, nor was data collected on subsequent accident rates from both groups (the subject of current research), it can be hypothesised that the results of the current study suggest that a coaching methodology may help learners to become more aware of the risks associated with unsafe behaviours. Parallels can be drawn between the results from this study and similar findings of research which has evaluated the impact of advanced driver training programmes and shown that these additional courses help increase self-awareness, thereby leading to a reduction in accidents (e.g. Lund & Williams, 1985; Gregerson, 1996; Gregerson & Bjurulf, 1996; Senserrick & Haworth, 2005; Rosenbloom et al., 2009). For instance, Molina et al. (2007) found that a one-day advanced course helped promote a 'safer driving style' up to nine-months post-training. However, in contrast to other driving studies, this study we believe is the first to look at the impact of a formal coaching programme directly on drivers, whereas the majority of the driver training literature assesses the impact of a short advanced course, such as 'insight training' or 'hazard awareness' training. Evidence for such advanced courses is also mixed, as some studies have revealed that whilst they are helpful in targeting unsafe behaviour, their overall effect is 'weak' (Ker et al., 2005; Lonero, 2008). Thus, whether coaching does indeed help learners become safer drivers requires further investigation.

The weaknesses with the traditional instructional approaches of teaching learners to drive have been well documented (e.g. HERMES Project, 2007). As such, the literature documents that the current approach to driver training does not equip learners with the skills required to be safer drivers. This study challenges the current driver training teaching methods by providing an alternative approach that can help overcome the issue of safety and retention of skills beyond the test. It has been highlighted that coaching can help address the higher- cognitive skills required for driving safely (HERMES Project, 2007). Similarly, Stanton et al. (2007) has suggested that an advanced coaching programme can help improve driver knowledge, skills and attitudes.

Grant et al. (2010) have highlighted that many coaching studies lack the use of a control group, making it difficult to firmly assert that the changes produced were due to the coaching itself or some other variable. It is reported that out of the 16 betweensubjects studies, there have only been 11 RCT coaching studies to date (e.g. Green et al., 2007; Spence & Grant, 2007). However, a number of these have been with relatively small sample sizes. This study was thus untypical in using an RCT method with an equal and comparable control, which allows the placebo effect to be removed, and with a relatively large sample.

There has been growing UK and EU government interest in the use of coaching in driver training as highlighted in the HERMES Project (2007) and the DSA consultation paper (2008). This research contributes to this wider agenda and begins to provide support for coaching as a useful learning methodology.

As recommended by Dorn (2005) and Rismark and Solvberg (2007), the current study has attempted to answer the questions raised about the effectiveness of driver training. The results in this study demonstrate that coaching improved learning outcomes, and in this context was more efficient and effective than instructional learning. The results suggest that the coaching approach of teaching learners to drive has the potential to offer significant benefits in the driver training domain.

More generally the findings from the study provide useful evidence about the value of coaching as a learning methodology, when compared to traditional instruction. The paper extends the work of Olivero et al. (1996) through its use of a larger and consistent sample and through using comparable interventions producing statistically significant results on both learning outcomes (percentage of those reaching the required standard/passing the test) and in the time taken to reach the standard (learning hours).

Limitations of the study

Despite these strengths, a number of limitations are acknowledged with the design of the current study. No demographic information about the participants was collected and therefore the sample could not be matched according to their background. This was due to constraints placed on the study by the British Army regarding publishing data on forces personnel. This barrier leads to a question over whether it is reasonable to generalise the results of this study to other groups and to learning environments. Questions could also be raised whether these findings apply to other drivers, for example non-forces personnel, and driving test categories, such as motor cars. A further limitation of the study was that learner attitudes, driving behaviour and safety outcomes were not assessed. The driving literature indicates that one of the problems with the current approaches to driver training is that they do not produce safer drivers, as accident rates

are still on the rise (National Road Safety Statistics, 2008; Clark et al., 2005; Senserrick & Haworth, 2005). In order to assess whether coaching helped produce safer drivers it was, therefore, important to have a measure of safety. For example, Boorman (1999) found that an advanced training programme improved fleet performance and led to a reduction in accident rates posttraining. Similarly, Stanton et al. (2007) measured driving attitudes in the coaching and non-coached group using the 'Montag Driving Internality Externality (MDIE) LOC Questionnaire' developed by Montag and Comrey (1987, cited in Stanton et al., 2007, p.1214). Future coaching and driving studies should, therefore, assess knowledge, skills, attitudes and behaviour administering a similar questionnaire pre- and post-training or through assessing driver behaviour or instructor, as well as assessing accident rates as a measure of safety. Further research is underway on driver accident rates and also of instructor behaviour following coaching training using the GDE matrix within a police driving context, and data is currently being analysed on a fourth study involving 'professional drivers' and accident rates (initiated by the same research team).

References

Allison, M.G. & Ayllon, T. (1980). Behavioural coaching in the development of skills in football, gymnastics and tennis. *Journal of Applied Behaviour Analysis*, 13(2), 297–314.

Argyris, C. (1991). Teaching smart people how to learn. *Reflections*, 4(2), 4–15.
Retrieved 18 March 2010, from: www.velinleadership.com/downloads/ chris_argyris_learning.pdf

- Aronson, J. (1994). A pragmatic view of thematic analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 2(1). Retrieved 3 March 2010, from: www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/BackIssues/QR2–1/ aronson.html
- Boorman, S. (1999). Reviewing car fleet performance after advanced driver training. *Occupational Medicine*, 49(8), 559–561.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

Conclusion

This study aimed to explore the effectiveness and efficiency of coaching as an adult method of learning with a driver learning context. The study provides evidence that coaching is a more effective learning methodology than instruction for driver training. Further research is needed to explore whether coaching may be a more effective methodology than instruction for other aspects of learning, such as leadership development or presentation skills. We believe this study provides is a useful contribution to the debate on both driver development and the wider use of coaching in adult learning.

Correspondence

Professor Jonathan Passmore

Evora University,

Portugal.

E-mail: Jonathancpassmore@yahoo.co.uk

- Brown, I.D. (1982). Exposure and experience are a confounded nuisance in research on driver behaviour. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 14(5), 345–352.
- Clark, D.D., Ward, P., Bartle, C. & Truman, W. (2005). An in-depth study of work-related road traffic accidents. Department for Transport. *Road Safety Research Report No.* 58. Retrieved 18 March 2010, from:

www.orsa.org.uk/guidance/pdfs/indepth_study _work_related_road_accidents.pdf

Defence Driving Examiner Regulations (2009). Ministry of Defence. No. JSP449.

Defence Instructional Techniques Manual (2009). Retrieved 3 March 2010, from: http://cabmonsta.tripod.com/sitebuilder

content/sitebuilderfiles/ditprecisbooklet.doc Defence Annual Road Safety Report (2008). Ministry of Defence. No. JSP485.

- Dorn, L. & Barker, D. (2005). The effects of driver training on simulated driving performance. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 37, 63–69.
- Dorn, L. & Brown, B. (2003). Making sense of invulnerability at work: A qualitative study of police drivers. Safety Science, 41(10), 837–859.
- Dorn, L. (2005). Driver coaching: Driving standards higher. In L. Dorn (Ed.), *Driver behaviour and training Vol. 2*. Surrey, UK: Ashgate Publishing.
- Driving Standards Agency (DSA) (2007). The Official DSA Guide to Driving Goods Vehicles. Scotland: Crown Copyright.
- Driving Standards Agency (DSA) (2008). Learning to Drive: A consultation paper. Department for Transport. Retrieved 29 November 2009, from: http://dsa.gov.uk/Documents/Consultation/ ltd/FINAL%2020080508.pdf
- EU HERMES Project (2007). State of the art report on Coaching and optimal communication skills for driving instructors. Retrieved 3 March 2010, from: www.alles-fuehrerschein.at/HERMES/ index.php?page=documentation
- EU MERIT Project (2005). Minimum standards for driving instructors. Retrieved 16 February 2010, from: www.efa-eu.com/Files/99/08_Minimum_ requirements_for_driving_instructors_June_

FINAL_en.pdf

- Feggetter, A.J.W. (2007). A preliminary evaluation of executive coaching: Does executive coaching work for candidates on a high potential development scheme? *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(2), 129–136.
- Grant, A.M. (2001). Coaching for enhanced performance: Comparing cognitive and behavioural approaches to coaching. Paper presented to Spearman Seminar: Extending Intelligence: Enhancement and New Constructs, Sydney. Retrieved 18 January 2010, from: www.psych.usyd.edu.au/psychcoach/ CBT_BT_CT_Spearman_Conf_Paper.pdf.
- Grant, A.M., Passmore, J., Cavanagh, M. & Parker, H. (2010). The state of play in coaching today: A comprehensive review of the field. *International Review of Industrial and Organisational Psychology*, 25, 125–168.
- Gregerson, N.P. (1996). Young drivers' overestimation of their own skill – an experiment on the relation between training strategy and skill. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 28(2), 243–250.
- Gregerson, N.P. & Bjurulf, P. (1996). Young novice drivers: Towards a model of their accident involvement. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 28(2), 229–241.

- Gregerson, N.P. (2005). EU MERIT Project: Driving instructors' education in Europe: A long-term vision. Working paper for workshop 1: The content of driving instructor training with regard to driving behaviour and safety, based on the GDE matrix. Brussels: EU.
- Gregory, J.B., Levy, P.E. & Jeffers, M. (2008). Development of a model of the feedback process within executive coaching. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 60(1), 42–56.
- Green, S., Grant, A.M. & Rynsaardt, J. (2007). Evidence-based life coaching for senior high school students: Building hardiness and hope. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(1), 24–32.
- Hattaka, M., Keskinen, E., Gregerson, N.P., Glad, A. & Hernetkoski, K. (2002). From control of the vehicle to personal self-control: Broadening the perspectives to driver education. *Transportation Research Part F, 5*, 201–215.
- Hutton, K.A., Sibley, C.G., Harper, D.N. & Hunt, M. (2002). Modifying driver behaviour with passenger feedback. *Transportation Research Part F*, 4, 257–269.
- Ker, K., Roberts, I., Collier, T., Beyer, F., Bunn, F. & Frost, C. (2005). Post-licence driver education for the prevention of road traffic crashes: A systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 3(2), 305–313.
- Kolb, D.A. (1984). Experiential Learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Kolb, A.Y. & Kolb, D.A. (2005). Learning styles and learning spaces: Enhancing experiential learning in higher education. Academy of Management Learning and Education, 4(2), 193–212.
- Lonero, L.P. (2008). Trends in driver education and training. American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 35(3), 316–323.
- Lund, A.K. & Williams, A.F. (1985). A review of the literature evaluating the defensive driving course. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 17(6), 449–460.
- Molina, J.G., Sanmartin, J., Keskinen, E. & Sanders, N. (2007). Post-licence education for novice drivers: Evaluation of a training programme implemented in Spain. *Journal of Safety Research*, 38, 357–366.
- National Statistics (2008). Great Britain: Annual Report. Department for Transport – Reported Road Casualties. Retrieved 10 January 2010, from: www.dft.gov.uk/adobepdf/162469/221412/ 221549/227755/rrcgb2008.pdf
- Olivero, G., Bane, K.D. & Kopelman, R.E. (1997). Executive coaching as a transfer of training tool: Effects on productivity in a public agency. *Public Personnel Management*, 26(4) 461–469.

- Parker, D. & Stradling, S. (2001). Influencing driver attitudes and behaviour (No. 17). Available at: www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/roadsafety/research/rsrr/ theme2/influencingdriverattitudesan4749
- Passmore, J. (2010a). Coaching in driver development. Paper presented to Coaching and Driving Conference, University of East London, UK.
- Passmore, J. (2010b). A grounded theory study of the coachee experience: The implications for training and practice in coaching psychology. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 5(1), 48–62.
- Passmore, J. & Mortimer, L. (2011). The experience of using coaching as a learning technique in learner driver development: An IPA study of adult learning. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 6(1), 33–45.
- Passmore, J. & Velez, M. (2012). Coaching fleet drivers: A randomised controlled trial (RCT) of short coaching interventions to improve driver safety in fleet drivers. *The Coaching Psychologist.* 8(1), 20–26.
- Passmore, J. & Townsend, C. (In Press). The role of coaching in police driver training – an IPA study of coaching in a blue light environment. *An International Journal of Police Strategies.*
- Performance Learning & Development (PLD) (2008a). Coaching for performance: Coaching programme. Wiltshire, UK: PLD.
- Performance Learning & Development (PLD) (2008b). Peak performance and coaching: A training development resource for peak performers, performance coaches and attitude change technology practitioners. Wiltshire, UK: PLD.
- Rakoczy, M. & Money, S. (1995). Learning styles of nursing students: A three-year cohort longitudinal study. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 11(3), 170–174.
- Rismark, M. & Solvberg, A.M. (2007). Effective dialogues in driver education. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39, 600–605.
- Rosenbloom, T., Shahar, A., Elharar, A. & Danino, O. (2008). Risk perception of driving as a function of advanced training aimed at recognising and handling risks in demanding driving situations. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 40, 697–703.

- Senserrick, T.M. & Swinburne, G.C. (2001). Evaluation of an insight driver-training programme for young drivers. Monash University Accident Research Centre. Report No. 186. Retrieved 29 November 2009, from: www.monash.edu.au/muarc/reports/ muarc186.pdf.
- Senserrick, T. & Haworth, N. (2005). Review of literature regarding national and international young driver training, licensing and regulatory systems. Monash University Accident Research Centre. Report No. 239. Retrieved 29 November 2009, from: www.monash.edu.au/muarc/reports/ muarc239.pdf.
- Spence, G.B. & Grant, A.M. (2007). Professional and peer life coaching and the enhancement of goal striving and well-being: An exploratory study. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2(3), 185–194.
- Stanton, N.A., Walker, G.H., Young, M.S., Kazi, T. & Salmon, P.M. (2007). Changing drivers' minds: The evaluation of an advanced driver coaching system. *Ergonomics*, 50(8), 1209–1234.
- Tee, S.T., Jowett, R.M. & Bechelet-Carter, C. (2009). Evaluation study to ascertain the impact of the clinical academic coaching role for enhancing student learning experience within a clinical masters education programme. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 9, 377–382.
- Walklin, L. (2000). Instructional techniques and practice for driving instructors. United Kingdom: Nelson Thornes.
- Wedge, T. (2004). EU MERIT Project Case Studies: Driving instructor access criteria, training and testing in Finland, Germany, Great Britain, Latvia, Netherlands and Norway. Bedfordshire, UK: DSA.
- Whitmore, J. (2010). *Coaching and driving*. Paper presented to Coaching and Driving Conference. University of East London, UK.

Paper

What is personality change coaching and why is it important?

Lesley S. Martin, Lindsay G. Oades & Peter Caputi

Purpose: This article explores the concept of coaching for personality change. The aim is to evaluate the feasibility and desirability of personality change, clarify how this fits with coaching, identify a suitable personality model and measure, and propose directions for future research.

Method: The above aim is achieved through reference to the literature around the following questions: Is personality change possible and desirable? Is coaching a suitable medium to achieve this? How does this fit with and expand upon the current coaching literature? What personality model and inventory would suit this process? What coaching resources and future research are needed?

Results: A growing body of research suggests that personality can change in the short-term in response to life events, in different social environments and via medical, therapeutic and coaching interventions. Although intentional and targeted personality change research is limited, these findings suggest it is indeed possible. As even small positive changes in personality have been associated with widespread benefits, personality change coaching appears worthwhile. One-to-one coaching provides an environment conducive to exploring this, in populations without major psychopathology.

Conclusions: Personality change coaching appears both desirable and possible in a one-to-one coaching setting. However, further research is needed to develop practitioner resources, test the hypothesis that coaching can achieve such change, understand and manage factors that influence change, and explore the experience from a client and coach perspective.

Keywords: Personality; change; coaching; trait; well-being; Five-Factor model; Big-Five.

DOMINANT PARADIGM within psychology is that personality traits are resistant to change, without longterm intensive interventions (McCrae & Costa, 2003). This article challenges this assumption, and suggests that individual personality change appears both possible and desirable within a one-to-one coaching context, where client motivation exists. This argument is developed through discussing the following questions: (a) Is personality amenable to change via shorter-term interventions? (b) If change appears possible, is it desirable? (c) If it appears both possible and desirable, how does this fit with coaching? (d) What personality model and inventory would suit this process? and (e) What future research is needed to develop this concept?

1.1 Is personality change possible?

As intentional and targeted personality change through coaching (i.e. where the client selects and endeavours to change specific traits or facets) has not been systematically studied, some indication of its likely success can be ascertained by reviewing the literature around personality change versus stability: (a) in response to life events; (b) in different social contexts; and (c) in response to medical, therapy and coaching interventions. The hotly debated question of whether personality changes significantly over the life span is not discussed, as this article is evaluating change over a shorter time frame. It is also beyond the scope of this article to explore causal factors of personality. However, Funder (2007) provides a review of this personality literature and proposes that biology, behaviour and social environments

all interact, and that in order to understand one we need to explore each. The following discussion focuses on the question of whether personality can change.

A recent study by Robinson (2009) found that personality changes occurred on each of the five Big-Five traits as people moved between different social contexts (e.g. parents, friends and work colleagues). Roberts and Mroczek (2008) found individual differences in patterns of trait change in response to a range of life experiences (e.g. significant career and relationship events). These findings led the authors to conclude, 'that personality is not set like plaster at any point in the life course' (p.33). Further support for the plasticity of personality is provided by the growing evidence that biological factors influence personality, and that neurochemical and neurobiologial changes achieved through (e.g. psychiatric interventions) are associated with changes in personality (Bloch & Singh, 2007; Funder, 2007). The limited literature on targeted trait change to date has focused on the impact of psychological interventions on problematic traits in individuals with personality disorders. Although this is a different population to coaching, focusing on limited types of traits, it nevertheless provides evidence in support of the plasticity of personality.

A review of the literature on stability versus change in personality disorders (Clark, 2009) concluded that maladaptive personality traits are more flexible and amenable to change than is suggested by the 'standard view' (p.27) (i.e. that maladaptive personality traits are relatively stable and unchanging). A 12-week study of 681 depressed individuals found that therapy for depression benefitted individuals with three separate diagnosed personality disorders as much as it benefited those without these dispositions (contrary to the study's hypothesis) and that it ameliorated the dysfunctional personality traits in the process (Maddux et al., 2009). These findings suggest that even more extreme dysfunctional personality traits respond to psychological interventions, and that meaningful changes in problematic traits (e.g. depression) can be achieved in as little of 12 weeks.

A number of studies suggest that shorterterm psychological and drug interventions result in personality change, even when personality change is not the focus of the interventions. For example, trait changes were evident during a six-week outpatient drug rehabilitation programme study (Piedmont & Ciarrocchi, 1999), and in both an eight-week cognitive therapy group and an eight-week anti-depressant treatment group for depression (Tang et al., 2009). A coaching study (Spence & Grant, 2005) found that the openness-to-experience trait increased during 10 weekly coaching sessions (for both peer and professional coaching group participants), while it reduced for control group participants.

Finally, a longitudinal study of 8625 Australians using data collected in 2005 and 2009 explored whether individuals' personalities changed significantly during this period, and whether such change was meaningful, in terms of life satisfaction (Boyce, Wood & Powdthavee, in press). The authors concluded that although personality was traditionally considered as stable and nonchanging, it did in fact change over time, and that such change was at least as great as changes in external influences on life satisfaction (e.g. getting married, being employed, and earning more money).

In combination these studies provide support for the concept that personality can change in response to a range of variables, over relatively short periods of time. Although only one study of personality change in a coaching context was identified (Spence & Grant, 2005), the evidence points to intentional targeted change via coaching being achievable. As these findings suggest that personality is likely to be amenable to targeted change, it is useful to consider whether such change is important enough to warrant research exploration. In other words, is changing personality likely to lead to significant benefits?

1.2 Is personality change desirable?

A meta-analysis conducted by Ozer and Benet-Martinez (2006) suggested the answer to this question is likely to be affirmative. The authors found that even small changes on any of the Big-Five personality traits were associated with widespread impacts across life domains. For example, higher levels of the trait extraversion were associated with positive changes in subjective well-being, existential well-being, gratitude, inspiration, longevity, coping, resilience, depression (-), personality disorder (-), and majority cultural identity at an individual level; peer acceptance and friendship, dating variety, attractiveness, and satisfaction with romantic relationships at an interpersonal level; social and enterprising interests, satisfaction, commitment and involvement at an occupational/performance level; and volunteerism and leadership at a community level. This suggests that if coaching interventions could increase this trait in motivated to change individuals with low scores on extraversion. then benefits are likely to accrue across a range of life domains.

Possibly the trait with the largest potential impact, not only for individuals, but for wider society, is emotionality (neuroticism). An analysis of the economic costs of high emotionality was published in the Archives of General Psychiatry (Cuijpers et al., 2010), based on data from over 7000 participants in a Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study. The study found that those individuals with high scores on emotionality were more vulnerable to a host of mental disorders (e.g. depression, anxiety disorders, schizophrenia, eating disorders and personality disorders) and physical disorders (e.g. medically unfounded physical complaints, cardiovascular disease, asthma, and irritable bowel syndrome) resulting in an enormous impact on (and economic costs to) the health system. Their analysis found that the incremental costs (per one million people) of the highest 25 per cent of scorers on emotionality resulted in US\$1.393 billion in health care costs. This was two-and-a-halftimes the incremental cost of diagnosed mental health disorders (US\$585 million). The study concluded:

'The economic costs of neuroticism are enormous and exceed those of common mental disorders. We should start thinking about interventions that focus not on each of the specific negative outcomes of neuroticism, but rather on the starting point itself.' (p.1086)

Research findings on each of the other broad traits, especially conscientiousness, similarly suggest that huge benefits would accrue from identifying processes and interventions that can positively change certain personality traits (Ozer & Benet-Martinez, 2006).

A number of studies have explored personality in terms of life-satisfaction, a topic of interest to many coaches. Diener and Lucas (1999) found that personality had a major influence on subjective well-being. Consistent with this theme, Wood, Joseph and Maltby (2008) found that changes in personality accounts for 35 per cent of between-person variance in life satisfaction. More recently, a longitudinal study by Boyce et al. (in press) found that 'personality can change and that such change is important and meaningful', and that 'personality is the strongest and most consistent predictor of high subjective well-being' (p.2). Boyce further proposes that identifying ways of changing personality traits is likely to be more productive in terms of improving life satisfaction and well-being than endeavouring to change individuals demographic characteristics (e.g. earning more money, getting a job or getting married).

In combination these studies provide strong support for the benefits of exploring personality change interventions. They suggest that if problematic traits (as perceived by the client) can be identified and changed, then widespread benefits can be achieved. More specifically, individuals are likely to be more satisfied with life, have better relationships, contribute more to their community more, have better employment outcomes, and have better mental and physical health (Boyce, et al., in press; Diener & Lucas, 1999; Ozer & Benet-Martinez, 2006; Wood, et al., 2008). The proposition that personality change is both possible and desirable raises the question of how this fits with coaching.

1.3 How does personality change 'fit' with coaching?

This section explores, firstly, what personality change coaching involves, and how this extends the current personality coaching literature and practice. Secondly, it explores the relative fit of coaching versus counselling/therapy for personality change interventions, and the merits of one-to-one versus group processes?

1.3.1 What is personality change coaching?

The concept of personality change coaching would logically involve taking a measure of the client's personality traits and discussing the profile with the client, with a view to identifying problematic facets/traits that the client wishes to change. For example, a client may wish to reduce facet Anger or increase facet Assertiveness, in order to improve relationships and work prospects.

The literature suggests that consideration of personality in coaching to date has focused primarily around understanding and ameliorating problematic behaviours, rather than changing facets/traits themselves. For example, McCormick and Burch (2008) proposed that personality is a predictor of behaviour, and that profiling of personality provides, 'a useful framework for behavioural change in executive coaching' (p.267). However, he suggested the aim is not to change personality. Hicks and McCracken (2009) similarly discuss problematic behaviours that can flow from dysfunctional personality traits, and suggested a range of strategies to coach the 'abrasive personality'.

Sperry (1997) explored the relationship between temperament, character and personality in a leadership context, and the practical application of such measures to assist executive coaching of individuals with difficult temperaments (based on a psychobiological model of temperament and character developed by Cloninger, Svrakic and Pryzbeck, (1993)). Judge, Piccolo and Kosalka (2009) reviewed the literature on personality traits and leadership, and proposed extending the consideration of personality to include the positive and negative aspects of both 'bright side' and 'dark side' traits. Hughes (2002) discussed strategies used by 14 psychologists to coach clients with narcissistic personality features. In this study she concluded that shorter-term coaching of such clients would rely on behavioural strategies, and would realistically aim for more 'superficial' change, rather than enduring trait change.

Often, the assumption underlying these approaches is that personality predicts behaviour and that through understanding personality we can more effectively understand and target changes in behaviour (though changes in cognitions and feeling are also considered). No literature was identified that explored in a systematic way whether personality change is possible and/or desirable in a coaching context. Furthermore, the vast majority of personality coaching literature is based on case studies, leaving a gap in the empirical literature around targeted and measured personality change in a coaching context.

Given that the psychological and economic literature suggests that personality can change, and that positive movements in personality are associated with wide ranging benefits, this article proposes taking coaching one step further by exploring trait change, and measuring such change in the process. Trait change goals can provide a unifying framework for coaching interventions designed to modify (e.g. behaviours, cognitions and feelings). Key benefits of targeting trait change would be provision of this over-arching framework for coaching interventions, increased focus on more enduring changes in behaviours, cognitions and feelings, and inclusion of objective measurement of such changes. As significant changes in traits have been demonstrated in clients with extreme personality dysfunction in 12 weeks (Maddux et al., 2009), it does not seem unrealistic to explore trait change in coaching populations without major psychopathology in similar time frames.

1.3.2 Coaching versus counselling/therapy for change processes?

If personality change appears to be a worthwhile endeavour, then the most appropriate approach for facilitating this goal needs evaluation. The following section proposes that: (a) both coaching and counselling/therapy have a strong evidence base as effective change mechanisms; (b) the boundaries between coaching and counselling/therapy are not clear cut; (c) that personality change could arguably fit with either; and (d) whether coaching or counselling/therapy is utilised will be influenced by the nature of the client/research participant, and the intervention style adopted. It suggests that for clients without major psychopathology, personality change interventions may be more consistent with coaching, and a 'coaching' approach may offer certain advantages. These arguments are presented in turn.

Evidence base for coaching and counselling/

therapy. In evaluating the merits of coaching versus counselling/therapy, the literature supporting their effectiveness as change processes needs consideration. Findings of coaching outcome studies suggest that coaching is an effective change mechanism in a range of different formats and contexts (Grant et al., 2010; Greif, 2007; Spence & Grant, 2005). However, counselling/therapy also has an impressive body of research validating its efficacy in change processes (Lambert & Ogles, 2004; Newnham & Page, 2010). These findings suggest that both coaching and counselling/therapy could potentially be effective professions for facilitating personality change.

Boundaries between coaching and counselling/therapy. The literature proposes that the boundaries between coaching and counselling/therapy are currently unclear, and that there is a high level of overlap between coaching and counselling/therapy approaches used (Grant, et al., 2010; Griffiths & Campbell, 2008; Maxwell, 2009). Nevertheless it is widely recognised that coaching is not the treatment of choice for psychopathology, and disorders major requiring longer-term treatment (e.g. Axis II disorders, significant current alcohol and drug abuse, active psychosis or bipolar disorder). This indicates that this group would not be suitable candidates for shorterterm personality change interventions. However, a number of studies propose that lesser levels of psychological dysfunction or distress are commonly dealt with in coaching, and that this practice enhances the coaching process (Cavanagh & Grant, 2004; Griffiths & Campbell, 2008; Maxwell, 2009). This suggests that personality change could be facilitated in either a coaching or counselling/therapy setting, even if goals focus on emotionality facets, provided longer-term major psycho-pathology is excluded.

Factors suggesting a coaching relationship. Determining where to locate personality change interventions is, therefore, not clear cut, and is likely to depend on the clients/research participants, and the focus of change interventions employed. Nevertheless, Williams (2003) suggested that the following factors help differential coaching from counselling/therapy: (a) goal achievement focus versus psychopathology focus; (b) 'learning/development model' focus versus 'diagnostic medical model' focus; and (c) the degree of collaboration in the process. These considerations are discussed in turn.

According to Williams (2003), coaching is generally viewed as being more goal-oriented than counselling/therapy. As the primary focus of personality change interventions would be on goal oriented trait change, rather than identification of psychopathology, this suggests a coaching relationship. Psychological problems would be considered only as they relate to personality change goals. Williams further proposed that coaching more often employs a 'development/learning' model approach, while counselling/therapy more often employs a diagnostically focused 'medical model'. Personality change interventions are likely to focus more on growth and development, rather than diagnosing psychological problems, as most personality facets (24 of the 30) are not related to emotionality. Furthermore, diagnosis of psychopathology may not be helpful, even where reduction of emotionality facets is a goal. For example, efforts to reduce self-consciousness or impulsiveness are unlikely to benefit from a 'diagnosis'. Therefore, from this perspective, personality change interventions are more likely to align with coaching than counselling/therapy. Finally, Williams (2003) proposed that coaching is more collaborative. As personality change goals would logically be a highly collaborative process, with the client choosing personality change goals and collaboratively mapping their path forward, a coaching relationship is suggested.

Whereas the coaching versus counselling/therapy question remains somewhat murky, differentiating factors, noted by Williams (2003), suggest a coaching relationship may be preferable for clients without major psychopathology.

1.3.3 One-to-one versus group change progresses

The personal nature of personality profiles (e.g. revealing levels of depression and anxiety) suggests that group processes (e.g. peer-coaching) could be ethically problematic, as individuals may not wish to share sensitive aspects of their profile with other relatively untrained group members. Furthermore, it would be difficult to focus on the unique profile and goals of individuals in group settings. The complexity of personality profiles, and the training required in their interpretation, suggests that it would not be well suited to selfcoaching or peer-coaching. However one-toone coaching with a trained professional enables the tailoring of personality change interventions to the unique profile and goals of the individual, and provides a safer and more private environment. This suggests that one-to-one coaching would be preferable. The processes that personality change coaching involve are described below.

1.4 Which personality model and inventory?

A pre-requisite to investigating personality change is determining what approach or theory of personality (and related measures) is to be adopted. The literature includes a host of different ways of looking at personality (e.g. the trait approach based on individual differences, the biological approach based on physical mechanisms, learning and cognitive approaches underpinning behavioural acquisition and change, the humanistic approach based on conscious free will, and the psychodynamic approach based on unconscious processes) (Funder, 2007). It is beyond the scope of this article to explore and evaluate these alternatives. However, a comprehensive overview of this literature is provided in Funder. Suffice to say coaches use a range of different personality approaches and tools to assess and work with personality, and many of these could potentially be used for exploring personality change. However, the Big-Five/ Five-Factor* model of personality, based on the trait approach, is considered by most authors to be the most investigated and validated model of personality currently available (Barrick, Mount & Judge, 2001; Ozer & Benet-Martinez, 2006; Piedmont, 1998).

The origins of the Big-Five model of personality date back to the 1930s, when

^{*} The terms Big-Five and Five-Factor model are used interchangeable. Different authors use different terms. For example, Costa and McCrae use the term Five-Factor in their literature, and in respect to findings based on their inventory, the NEO PI-R.

Allport and Odbert (1936) identified some 18,000 words in an English language dictionary that described individual characteristics. With this as a foundation, a series of research studies attempted to distil this list to a manageable number of meaningful clusters that most effectively differentiated one individual from another. In the 1980s, a consensus began to emerge on a Five-Factor model (Costa & McCrae, 1997). Support for the Five-Factor model has been further strengthened by a series of meta-analyses confirming the Big-Five's predictive validity in terms of behaviours and life outcomes across a wide range of contexts (e.g. Barrick et al., 2001; Ones et al., 2007; Ozer & Benet-Martinez, 2006). Recently, Smewing and McDowell (2010) proposed that the Five-Factor model is now the 'most widely accepted general model of personality used today' (p.86). Its wide acceptance and sound predictive validity suggest client personality profiles generated from this model provide sound material to reflect on, in terms of life outcomes to date, and how the client's traits might help or hinder future goal attainment.

The Five-Factor model of personality suggests that personality can best be organised under five broad traits: Emotional Stability (or Neuroticism), Extraversion, Openness to Experience, Agreeableness and Conscientiousness (or similar equivalents) (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Several inventories are currently available for measuring Big Five/Five-Factor traits and facets. Piedmont (1998) proposed that the NEO PI-R (Costa et al., 2000) is 'rapidly becoming one of the most popular measures of normal personality in the research literature' (p.31). He further proposed that the psychometric properties (including predictive validity) of this inventory are 'uniformly favourable' (p.31), as evidenced by empirical reviews (Botwin, 1995; Juni, 1995; Piedmont, 1997). These factors suggest that the NEO PI-R (or a sound proxy) provides a reputable measure for exploring personality change.

The NEO PI-R further divides the five broad traits into 30 sub-traits (facets).

For example, the broad trait Conscientiousness is divided into six facets (i.e. Competence, Order, Dutifulness, Achievement striving, Selfdiscipline and Deliberation). Measurement at the more detailed facet level provides the opportunity for building up a more detailed picture of the individual's personality patterns, and allows for more accurate targeting of personality change interventions. For example, the trait Emotionality consists of the following facets; Anxiety, Anger, Depression, Self-conscientiousness, Impulsiveness and Vulnerability. Whereas it is useful to know the overall emotionality of an individual, it is also important to understand how the different individual facets of emotionality contribute to this, as facilitating change on individual facets is likely to require different kinds of coaching interventions. It is, therefore, suggested that both a trait and facets level profile be used for assessing personality, and that personality change goals focus primarily on the facet level.

1.5 Conclusions and future research directions

Although shorter-term targeted personality change has not been systematically studied in a coaching context, the related literature suggests it is both possible and desirable, in a one-to-one coaching context. This article proposed that such coaching provides the opportunity to extend existing coaching practice in positive ways, through providing a unifying framework, and focusing on (and objectively measuring) more enduring trait/facet change. The absence of studies directly exploring this issue support the need for research to: (a) develop evidence based coaching resources designed to facilitate personality change; (b) establish whether coaching can facilitate personality change in client chosen facets; and (c) clarify what factors affect personality change, and how these can best be managed in a coaching context. Furthermore, it would be useful to explore if change does in fact occur, the timing of such change over a series of coaching sessions, and whether it endures beyond the coaching period.

Further development of the literature in these areas offers the opportunity for coaching to provide benefits to the individual across life domains, and to the wider society via (e.g. reduced health costs). From a coaching perspective, such research would expand this literature into a new arena (i.e. targeted personality change). For the discipline of psychology, it offers the potential for its practitioners to contribute a unique skills set, based on their training in personality, psychometrics and skills in dealing with psychological issues relating to emotionality facets.

References

- Barrick, M.R., Mount, M.K. & Judge, T.A. (2001). Personality and performance at the beginning of the new millennium: What do we know and where do we go next? [Summary of 15 metaanalyses 1980–2001]. International Journal of Selection and Assessment, 9, 9–30.
- Bloch, S. & Singh, B.S. (2007). Foundations of clinical psychiatry (3rd ed.). Melbourne: Melbourne University Press.
- Boyce, C., Wood, A.M. & Powdthavee, N. (in press). Is personality fixed? Personality changes as much as 'variable' economic factors and more strongly predicts changes to life satisfaction. Social Indicators Research.
- Cavanagh, M.J. & Grant, A.M. (2004). Executive coaching in organisations: The personal is the professional. *International Journal of Coaching in Organisations*, 2(1), 6–15.
- Clark, L.A. (2009). Stability and change in personality disorder. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(1), 27–31.
- Cloninger, R., Svrakic, D. & Pryzbeck, T. (1993). A psychobiological model of temperament and character. Archives of General Psychiatry, 50, 975–990.
- Costa, P.T., Jr., Herbst, J.H., McCrae, R.R. & Siegler, I.C. (2000). Personality at midlife: Stability, instrinsic maturation, and response to life events. *Assessment*, 7, 365–378.

The Authors Lesley S. Martin Sydney Business School, University of Wollongong.

Lindsay G. Oades

Australian Institute of Business Wellbeing, Sydney Business School, University of Wollongong.

Peter Caputi

School of Psychology, University of Wollongong.

Correspondence

Lesley Martin PO Box 5059, Wollongong. NSW 2500, Australia. Email: sue@psy.net.au Telephone: (02) 4243 1323

- Costa, P.T., Jr. & McCrae, R.M. (1992). Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO PI-R) and NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI). Lutz, Florida: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Costa, P.T., Jr. & McCrae, R.R. (1997). Stability and change in personality assessment: The Revised NEO Personality Inventory in the Year 2000. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 68*, 86–94.
- Cuijpers, P., Smit, F., Penninx, B.J.H., deGraaf, R., ten Have, M. & Beekman, A.T.F. (2010). Economic costs of neuroticism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(10), 1086–1093.
- Diener, E. & Lucas, R.E. (1999). Personality and subjective well-being. In D. Kahneman, E. Diener & N. Scwarz (Eds.), *Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Funder, D.C. (Ed.) (2007). The personality puzzle (4th ed.). New York: W.W. Norton & Co.
- Grant, A.M., Passmore, J., Cavanagh, M.J. & Parker, H. (2010). The state of play in coaching today: A comprehensive review of the field. *International Review of Industrial and Organisational Psychology*, 25, 125–168.
- Greif, S. (2007). Advances in research on coaching outcomes [Review]. International Coaching Psychology Review, 2(3), 222–249.

- Griffiths, K. & Campbell, M.A. (2008). Semantics or substance? Preliminary evidence in the debate between life coaching and counselling. An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice, 1(2), 164–175.
- Hicks, R. & McCracken, J. (2009). Coaching the abrasive personality. *Physician Executive*, 35(5), 82–84.
- Hughes, J. (2002). Adjusting the mirror: Strategies for coaching executives with narcissistic personality features. The State University of New Jersey, Graduate School of Applied and Professional Psychology.
- Judge, T.A., Piccolo, R.F. & Kosalka, T. (2009). The bright and dark sides of leader traits: A review and theoretical extension of the leader trait paradigm. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(6), 855–875.
- Lambert, M.J. & Ogles, B.M. (2004). The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy. In M.J. Lambert, Bergin and Garfield's handbook of psychotherapy and behaviour change (pp.139–193).
- Maddux, R.E., Riso, L.P., Klein, D.N., Markowitz, J.C., Rothbaum, B.O., Arnow, B.A. & Thase, M.E. (2009). Select comorbid personality disorders and the treatment of chronic depression with nefazodone, targeted psychotherapy, or their combination. *Journal of Affective Disorder*, 117(3), 174–179.
- Maxwell, A. (2009). How do business coaches experience the boundary between coaching and therapy/counselling? *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 2(2), 149–162.
- McCormick, I. & Burch, G., St. J. (2008). Personalityfocused coaching for leadership development. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 60(3), 267–278.
- McCrae, R.R. & Costa, P.T., Jr. (2003). Personality in adulthood: A Five-Factor theory perspective (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Newnham, E.A. & Page, A.C. (2010). Bridging the gap between best evidence and best practice in mental health. *Clinical Psychology Review 30*, 127–142.
- Ones, D.S., Dilchert, S., Viswesvaran, C. & Judge, T.A. (2007). In support of personality assessment in organisational settings. *Personnel Psychology*, 60, 995–1027.

- Ozer, D.J. & Benet-Martinez, V. (2006). Personality and the prediction of consequential outcomes [Literature review]. Annual Review of Psychology, 57, 401–421.
- Piedmont, R.L. (1998). The Revised NEO Personality Inventory: Clinical and research applications. New York: Plenum Press.
- Piedmont, R.L. & Ciarrocchi, J.W. (1999). The utility of the Revised NEO Personality Inventory in an outpatient, drug rehabilitation context [Study]. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviours*, 13(3), 213–226.
- Roberts, B.W. & Mroczek, D. (2008). Personality trait change in adulthood. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17, 31–35.
- Robinson, O.C. (2009). On the social malleability of traits: Variability and consistency in Big-Five trait expression across three interpersonal contexts [Study]. *Journal of Individual Differences*, 30(4), 201–208.
- Smewing, C. & McDowell, A. (2010). Assessment in coaching. In S. Palmer & A. McDowell (Eds.), *The coaching relationship: Putting people first.* East Sussex: Routledge.
- Spence, G.B. & Grant, A.M. (2005). Individual and group life-coaching: Initial findings from a randomised, controlled trial. In M.J. Cavanagh, A.M. Grant & T. Kemp (Eds.), *Evidence-based coaching* (Vol. 1, pp.143–158). Bowen Hills, Australia: Australian Academic Press.
- Sperry, L. (1997). Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research, 4(49), 268–280.
- Tang, T.Z., DeRubeis, R.J., Hollon, S.D., Amsterdam, J., Shelton, R. & Schalet, B. (2009). Personality change during depression treatment [Study]. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(12), 1322–1330.
- Williams, P. (2003). The potential perils of personal issues in coaching: The continuing debate: Therapy or Coaching? What every coach must know! *International Journal of Coaching in Organisations*, 2(2), 21–30.
- Wood, A.M., Joseph, S. & Maltby, J. (2008). Gratitude uniquely predicts satisfaction with life: Incremental validity above the domains and facets of the Five Factor model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45, 49–54.

Paper

Back to basics II: How the research on attachment and reflective-self function is relevant for coaches and consultants today

Erik de Haan

Design/Methodology: This contribution offers a historical summary of the main breakthroughs in attachment research, showing how (in-)secure attachment can be measured reliably and how it can be linked to reflective-self function – the capacity to mentalise. This capacity is further elucidated with the help of three examples from executive coaching and team coaching.

Results: It is shown how reflective-self function is related to secure attachment, and how mentalising can be used to co-create meaning, insight and understanding with clients.

Conclusions: Mentalising, as understood by reflective-self function, is a helpful way into awareness, insight and empathetic understanding. Coaches would do well to foster this function within themselves and their clients.

Keywords: Reflective-self function; mentalisation; insight; empathy; coaching outcome; consulting; history of psychoanalysis and attachment.

Mentalisation as both active ingredient and outcome

XECUTIVE COACHING appears established as an effective intervention (Grant et al., 2010; De Haan et al., 2012). Studies of coaching outcome are now less focused on demonstrating general effectiveness, as this is deemed to have been sufficiently demonstrated within the limitations of not being able to conduct large-scale randomised controlled trials. Instead. coaching effectiveness studies are now more focused on 'active ingredients', that is, on the aspects of the coaching contract which are most conducive to effectiveness (Stewart et al., 2008; Boyce, Jackson & Neal, 2010; De Haan, Curd & Culpin, 2011).

In order to understand the value of coaching interventions it is important not

just to have indications of positive overall outcome, but also to know more about: (1) what coaching delivers; and (2) whom coaching delivers to:

1. Assuming the significance of coaching outcome, what is the nature of that outcome? It is often suggested that coaching helps with focus and with the right action (e.g. Whitmore, 1992). Similar to sports coaching, executive then coaching would enhance performance itself, or the quality of the effort, without affecting issues like preparation or motivation. Others, who place executive-coaching interventions more in the tradition of 'helping conversations', see coaching as a way to bring out hidden potential (e.g. O'Neill, 2000).

Purpose: In this study the phenomenon of reflective-self function is explored in terms of its historical understanding – just as the phenomenon of transference was explored in terms of its historical understanding in an earlier instalment (De Haan, 2011). As will be shown, reflective-self function is not only demonstrably linked to secure attachment, it is increasingly held to be at the core of the process and outcome of helping conversations.

2. Which clients, with what challenges, roles and personalities, would benefit most from coaching? And perhaps more importantly: how can we help diverse clients with a broad range of objectives, personalities and motivation, to maximise the benefit they take from coaching conversations? This is the question of 'coachability' (De Meuse, Dai & Hallenbeck, 2010).

So what is it that we as coaches 'deliver' to our clients? What outcome do coaching clients particularly value about the coaching intervention? There is some evidence that coaching outcomes that clients most mention are around new insight and understanding, or in their own words, around new 'realisations' (De Haan et al., 2010). Different outcomes of coaching that have been proposed are (see Laske, 2004):

- 1. Support for reflection, producing new motivation and coping;
- 2. Support for sense making, producing new realisations, insight and under-standing;
- 3. Support for new behaviour, producing new focus, energy and action orientation. These three possible outcomes may very well overlap, may all be present at the same time and may all lead to enhanced performance in the leadership role.

The second one of these, new realisation and insight, has a very long tradition in helping conversations. At the very beginning of the tradition of helping conversations, Breuer and Freud (1885) emphasised understanding and insight. The founder of nondirective therapy, Carl Rogers (1961) did not fundamentally challenge Freud's hypothesis about the mutative power of understanding and insight. Rogers insisted that such new understanding should come from within, and can be fostered by empathic understanding. Cognitive and behavioural psychologists also recognise the importance of insight, albeit that they aim to correct distortions of reality based on erroneous premises by supplanting them with more realistic cognitions and insight (Beck, 1975). All three main schools of psychotherapy (psychoanalytic, personcentred and cognitive-behavioural) therefore agree on the importance of (mutative, realistic, actionable) insight. In newer approaches, such as mindfulness in coaching (Passmore & Marianetti, 2007), we see the same interest in awareness and insight as a potentially crucial ingredient.

This article gives an overview of the research into the 'reflective-self', an idea that has the power to integrate and refocus schools of thinking about insight and which holds the promise of:

- 1. Offering a hypothesis regarding 'coachability';
- 2. Providing the first empirical backing for the age-old hypothesis that understanding and insight might be helpful; and
- 3. Anchoring these empirical results in wellresearched attachment behaviour.

The idea of the reflective-self has immediate appeal for coaches and psychotherapists alike (see Grant, 2001; Van der Loo, 2007; Wallin, 2007; Drake, 2009). This might be because it not only gives a hypothesis regarding an important 'active ingredient' in helping conversations, but at the same time proposes a new formulation of 'good' outcome of helping conversations. The hypothesis of reflective-self function brings together attachment theory and psychoanalysis; neuroscience and cognitive psychology¹; and also psychotherapist and patient,

¹ It is worthwhile to compare the cognitive-psychology research on 'theory of mind' with the neuroscientific findings of so-called 'mirror neurons'. The former, theory of mind, has been defined by cognitive ethologists and psychologists as the ability to attribute mental states – beliefs, intents, desires, pretending, knowledge, etc. – to oneself and others and to understand that others have beliefs, desires and intentions that are different from one's own (Premack & Woodruff, 1978). The latter, mirror neurons, have provided support for the neural basis of theory of mind. Research by Gallese and Goldman (1998) has shown that some sensorimotor neurons, which are referred to as mirror neurons, first discovered in the premotor cortex of rhesus monkeys, can fire when a monkey performs an action but also when the monkey views another agent carrying out the same task.

or coach and client - suggesting a single, quantifiable ingredient that is wholesome for both. Wholesome in the sense that the client develops his or her security in relationships or attachment styles, whilst at the same time the executive coach develops his or her 'reflective-self' as a helpful way of holding the client in mind. On top of this, there is the appeal of quantitative research: the fact that this notion has come out of quantitative empirical research which can be and has been replicated. The rare appeal of this function of the mind is rarely touched on in coaching literature. Nevertheless, it is important to understand both the genesis of the concept and the claims that can be made regarding its role in the effectiveness of coaching.

Background: Empirical investigations in psychology

Psychology as the science of mind and behaviour is the study of the single most complex 'system' that we know - the human central nervous system - and how it interacts with its environment. We have very few definitive and demonstrated facts about the psyche. Clearly this science is still in its infancy and it is no surprise that most psychological texts occupy themselves with competing theories, models and perspectives on mind and behaviour. Nowhere is this more apparent than in the field of psychotherapy, which deals with the treatment of mental disorder by psychological means and therefore mostly with higherorder functions of the mind such as personality, mood, communication, meaningmaking, adaptation and lifestyle. This state of affairs makes it all too easy to forget that there have indeed been many valuable and universally recognised contributions to making psychology a 'proper' empirical science.

Freud, as a neurologist, thought that ultimately psychology as an empirical science would base itself on our understanding of the inner workings of the central nervous system, that is, on neuroscience or 'brain science' (Freud, 1915). He was less interested in another 19th century development, pioneered by Fechner (1860), Wundt (1862) and Von Helmholtz (1867), which focused on the study of 'psychophysical' evidence, evidence from the interaction between the mind and its environment(s). These internal and external, intra-psychic and interactional perspectives are still very much alive today, and both inform the field of executive coaching (see Rock & Page, 2009, for links between brain science and coaching, and Stober & Grant, 2006, or De Haan, 2008, for links between psychophysical experiments and coaching).

It should be noted that this distinction between the interpersonal and the intra-psychic is nowadays, to an extent, a difference in emphasis. Some modern psychophysical studies measure brain activity concurrently and modern brain research looks at the central nervous system in vivo, that is, whilst it interacts with its environment in the shape of 'controlled stimuli'. As in any living system, internal phenomena and external interaction patterns are intimately related and mutually dependent. Findings from both fields should eventually complement and support one another.

Empirical tools in attachment research

According to Bretherton (1985, p.14), John Bowlby made two distinct and important contributions to psychology. The first contribution is the hypothesis of *attachment* as a core, biologically based instinct, which informs behavioural and motivational drives. The second is that he theorised that individual differences in the functioning of this 'attachment system' are linked to individual *working models* of self and others (See also Bowlby, 1969, 1973). Both these ideas received much more support when they were operationalised in reliable psychophysical tests which led to further quantitative study. Here is a brief summary of these tests.

The first hypothesis was operationalised by Mary Ainsworth in 1978 with her design of the 'Strange Situation' experiment,



John Bowlby. Reproduced by kind permission of Sir Richard Bowlby BT. © Sir Richard Bowlby BT.

a 20-minute experience for caregiver and child where the caregiver and a stranger enter and leave the room recreating the flow of familiar and unfamiliar presences in the child's life. The Strange Situation experiment has reliably demonstrated three different attachment behaviours (Ainsworth et al., 1978):

- 1. *Secure attachment.* The behaviour of the child during separation and upon reunion is characterised by confidence that the caregiver will be comforting.
- 2. Avoidant attachment. The behaviour of the child during separation and upon reunion is characterised by lack of confidence in the caregiver's availability, and thus by attempts to control or downplay emotional arousal and to show limited distress and disinterest.
- 3. *Ambivalent attachment*. The behaviour of the child during separation and upon

reunion is characterised by attempts to exaggerate or up-regulate affect in order to secure the caregiver's attention.

Later, Main and Solomon (1990), upon reviewing hundreds of hours of videotape of Strange Situations, were able to add a fourth attachment style, which may accompany any of the other three attachment behaviours, that is, an attachment behaviour which can be demonstrated in parallel to the other attachment behaviours:

4. *Disorganised attachment.* The behaviour of the child during separation and upon reunion is characterised by seeking proximity in strange and disoriented ways, such as backwards approach, freezing, staring and moving sideways.

Bowlby's second hypothesis above was supported in the work of Mary Main and collaborators, when they created the 'Adult Attachment Interview' (AAI; George, Kaplan & Main, 1984), which provided a reliable way to assess an adult's internal representation of attachment. The interview consists of a prompted narrative about childhood including sensitive issues such as separation and loss. The protocols are transcribed and classified according to a coding system that privileges narrative style over content. The dimension of coherence (comprising: substantiation of evidence, succinctness yet completeness, relevance to the topic at hand, clarity and orderliness) can be associated with

1. Attachment security (the 'Autonomous' classification): high coherence about attachment.

Protocols with low coherence can be ordered in three patterns:

- 2. *Dismissing*: idealising or derogatory about attachment
- 3. *Preoccupied*': angry or passive about attachment
- 4. *'Unresolved'*: unresolved in relation to loss and abuse.

These four classifications map both conceptually and intuitively onto the four attachment categories arising from the Strange Situation. Moreover, AAI classifications are stable over several months and independent of various IQ ratings, autobiographical memory, social desirability, interviewer effects and general discourse styles. In fact, both instruments have high validity and high (short-term) reliability, so experiments soon began to test empirically how well they predict each other. By 1995 it was established through an 18-sample meta-analysis that the caregiver's AAI narrative coding predicts the infant's Strange Situation response to a considerable extent (Van IJzendoorn, 1995). Moreover, Van IJzendoorn, Juffer and Duyvesteyn (1995) have shown that support interventions aimed at changing the mother's sensitivity or attachment representation have a significant positive effect on infant security as measured by the Strange Situation.

As Drake (2009) has pointed out, clients' narratives in coaching can also be appreciated in terms of their internal coherence, particularly as that will give a coach a 'window' into the wider narrative patterns in their work and life. Drake continues to suggest that 'the level of coherence in clients' stories - about the past, present and future - often reflects leaders' own attachment experience and the way in which they lead and interact with others at work'. It seems plausible that secure and autonomous leaders have more coherent life stories, and that insecure leaders are more at a loss for coherence in their storytelling. Part of a coach's job is to study coherence, to look out for gaps in storytelling and to inquire thoughtfully into the relationships between aspects of clients' narratives.

Both Ainsworth's Strange Situation and Main's Adult Attachment Interview made reliable empirical research possible in the field of attachment which will be discussed next, including Fonagy's discovery of the importance of reflective-self function.

Empirical findings of attachment research

Here is a short summary of findings from attachment research, limited to conclusions which are well-demonstrated and replicated through various studies.

The most impressive empirical contribution from attachment theory has to be confirmation that psychopathology is correlated from one generation to the next, or, in other words, that we have convincing evidence now that some psychopathology gets passed on between generations. There are clear, demonstrable correlations between the attachment patterns described by the mother during the AAI and the attachment patterns that can be found in the infant with the help of the Strange Situation experiment. The correlation can be demonstrated when the AAI is taken contemporaneously with the toddler's Strange Situation experiment (Van IJzendoorn, 1995; this has a combined effect size of d=1.06, a strong effect); when the AAI of each parent is collected and coded before the birth of the child and the infant's Strange-Situation classification is done at 12 and 18 months (Steele, Steele & Fonagy, 1996); and also when a parent's AAI coding is correlated with the child's security of attachment measured five years previously (Main, Kaplan & Cassidy, 1985). Hence, the strong concordance that is found (between 75 per cent and 80 per cent on each pair of attachment categories), persists in both directions and over at least a six-year time gap. These findings lend support to Freud's hypothesis (Freud, 1940) of the intergenerational spread of psychopathology.

Another notion of Freud that has been supported by attachment research is that of the 'repetition compulsion' (Freud, 1920), that is, the suggestion that those who do not actively remember and come to terms with their past are destined (or more likely) to repeat it. Fonagy et al. (1994) demonstrate with a group of relatively deprived mothers that they have a much higher chance of securely attached infants if their capacity to reflect on mental states (mentalisation), operationalised by reflective-self function, is higher.

Interestingly, these findings can also be linked to other psychophysical findings, namely those coming from meta-analyses of psychotherapy outcome studies. These metaanalyses have demonstrated a surprisingly small contribution coming from the specific model or psychotherapeutic approach, and are much more supportive of so-called 'common factors' (factors common to all approaches, as suggested by Rosenzweig, 1936; see Wampold, 2001) as the 'active ingredients' in psychotherapeutic work. One of these common factors is the opportunity that all psychotherapy offers to reflect on and think through challenges, symptoms and complaints. Investigators have distinguished six broad 'areas of commonality' amongst the various approaches to psychotherapy: Relationship-related factors; Client-related factors; Therapist-related factors: Change-related factors: Structurerelated factors; and External factors outside therapy (Grencavage & Norcross, 1990). Obviously, secure attachment, coherence and reflectivity are common factors in the empirical sense understood by general outcome research. Fonagy and Bateman (2006) even claim that this may be the core active ingredient of all psychotherapy: 'It is possible that psychotherapy in general is effective because it arouses the attachment system at the same time it applies interpersonal demands which require the patient to mentalise'.

'Secure attachment' is often linked with 'successful containment' (Bion, 1963) and is then taken by many as a measure of 'psychological health'. It is important to point out, as Fonagy (2001) does, that the evidence linking early secure attachment with a healthy or balanced life is not strong. One needs to be reminded that the demonstration of predictive power of any psychological context or relationship over the course of decades is extremely tenuous and rarely achieved.

Notions of 'the reflective-self' in attachment research

Joyce McDougal (1978) has said that in early childhood the 'mother functions as the baby's thinking system'. This notion of mothering as a containing, mirroring and reflective activity is prevalent throughout the psychoanalytical literature² and lies at the root of the idea of the *reflective-self*.

The reflective-self function is an operationalisation of the capacity to 'mentalise' (Brown, 1977) or the capacity for 'metacognition' (Main & Goldwyn, 1990) or 'psychological mindedness' (Appelbaum, 1973; Grant, 2001). The reflective-self function measures an individual's quality of understanding of another's intentionality, and is measured on a nine-point Likert scale (Fonagy et al., 1998). The measure confounds understanding of self and other, so it applies in equal measure to reflections on one's own and someone else's intentionality. The measure also confounds 'true' understanding and 'plausible' understanding, or in other words 'accurate' and 'habitual' modes of understanding, as no measure for 'objective' or 'shared' understanding is introduced (Fonagy et al., 1991).

Reflective-self function is not the same as empathy, although empathetic understanding will have to be based on this capacity. Reflective-self function is more fundamental and refers to the capacity to understand what goes on within oneself or

² Fonagy (2001) points to the following precursors of the notion of the reflective-self: *Bindung*, the psychological capacity of linking (Freud, 1911); the *depressive position* as the recognition of hurt and suffering in another (Klein, 1945); the caregiver's *psychological understanding* of the infant in the emergence of the true self (Winnicott, 1962); *containment* as the capacity to transform internal events into tolerable and thinkable experiences (Bion, 1963); *mirroring* or mirror transference (Winnicott, 1967; Kohut, 1977); *psychological mindedness* (Appelbaum, 1973; Grant, 2001); and the idea of *mentalisation* as the function that links drive excitations with internal representations (Brown, 1977).

within another, whereas empathy refers to the understanding from within, the capacity to feel what another person feels, that is, to become sympathetic or 'in tune' with those feelings oneself.

Reflective-self function is also not the same as mindfulness, although mindfulness can be seen as a capacity that reflective-self function is based on or draws from. Mindfulness is a spiritual faculty in Buddhism which amounts to an attentive awareness of the reality of things and is therefore very close to being psychologically awake ('Buddha' literally means 'he that is awoken'). Mindfulness, therefore, extends from understanding psychological facts to natural phenomena and even spiritual experience. Nevertheless, mindfulness frequently refers to one's own bodily functions, sensations, feelings, thoughts, perceptions, and consciousness itself - in which case it would appear very akin to reflective-self function.

To summarise:

- 1. *Mindfulness* can be seen as attentive awareness of what is going on in the present moment;
- 2. *Reflective-self function*, within mindfulness, can be seen as being aware of what is going on in the minds of self and others, in the present moment;
- 3. *Empathy*, building on reflective-self function, can be seen as being aware of and sharing in states of mind as they occur to another person, in the present moment.

Peter Fonagy went on to explore cases of apparently diminished reflective-self function and described the slow and arduous growth of reflective-self function in psychotherapy, see, for example, Fonagy and Target, 1996 and 2000 (the first is a casestudy with a 4-year-old girl described as resistant to the development of reflective-self function and the second with a severe borderline-personality-disorder patient in her mid-30s).

This work led to the development of 'mentalisation-based treatment' (MBT) as a treatment for borderline personality disorder. In MBT the aim of the psychotherapy becomes the development of reflective-self function (see, for example, Fonagy & Bateman, 2006). The therapist is encouraged to focus on the patient's current mental state with the aim of building up reflective-self function. The therapist is asked to avoid situations in which the patient talks of mental states that he or she cannot link to subjectively felt reality; and the inevitable enactments over the course of the treatment are not interpreted in terms of their unconscious meaning but in terms of the situation and affects immediately before the enactment (Fonagy & Bateman, 2006). In other words, the therapist uses mentalisation to further the patient's mentalisation, and the aim is not so much deep understanding as it is the recovery of mentalisation.

Another later development is the hypothesis that the biological need for secure attachment is precisely the development of reflective-self function as a 'representational system that has evolved, we may presume, to aid human survival' (Fonagy et al., 2004), which, therefore, claims that the prediction might be both ways: reflective-self function predicts secure attachment *and* secure attachment begets mentalisation.

These ideas around reflective-self function and mentalisation have been taken up in adult psychotherapy, where attachment styles are taken up as a metaphor for working-alliance patterns and therapy is conceptualised as a 'corrective emotional experience' that may help to develop and establish attachment security and reflectiveself function (Wallin, 2007).

Applications in coaching practice

Attachment research seems to be particularly useful in coaching practice, as it helps us to model core relationships which are bound to enter into the coaching relationship. Firstly, through the phenomenon of transference (Freud, 1905; and see the companion article, De Haan, 2011), core formative relationships may enter the coaching setting. Secondly, the working alliance as perceived by the client has long been shown to be an important ingredient for effectiveness (Horvath & Symonds, 1991). In other words, the coaching relationship has important precursors as well, which will enter the room through the phenomenon of positive transference, 'which is the true motive force of the patient's collaboration' (Freud, 1940). Thirdly, since the 1950s comparisons have been made between the presence of the helper in helping conversations and the presence of the first caregiver. In the concepts of a 'holding environment' (Winnicott, 1965) and of a 'container' with 'reverie' (Bion, 1963), we have very similar ideas that link the maternal environment (or relationship) to the coaching environment (or relationship). In other words, the helping relationship from a 'real' (non-transferential) perspective has also been intimately linked with the earliest core caring relationship. Fourthly, and not least of all, attachment relationships will invariably be the topic of coaching sessions, as clients will bring accounts, thoughts and concerns about both past and present intimate relationships. In summary, 'attachment' seems to figure at a multitude of levels in coaching, namely within: (1) transference patterns; (2) positive transference or working alliance; (3) the 'real' relationship; and (4) the content of the sessions.

One obvious area of application of attachment research is around what happens between client and coach as a result of beginnings, endings, breaks or alterations in the setting such as rescheduling, room changes, time changes or sponsor changes. In my experience some of the most emotionally charged moments have occurred around breaks and interruptions. Approaching termination, the definitive 'break' in coaching, raw emotions may recur. Many examples of what happens around breaks and ruptures in coaching have already been documented (Day et al., 2008), and it is clear from analysis that mentalising in the form of shared reflection about what is going on makes a crucial difference to the outcome of those ruptures *(ibidem)*.

Drake (2009) has proposed five 'narrative strategies' for building a strong attachment relationship in coaching conversations:

- 1. Provide clients with a sense that the coaching sessions are like a safe haven and a secure base from which they can explore issues which affect them.
- 2. Use the rapport that is gained to help clients take a good look at how they currently relate to others and reflect on these relationships, and where they might be biased.
- 3. Use the coaching sessions as a laboratory for the study of clients' attachmentrelated behaviour and for the experimentation with new, more secure, relational patterns.
- 4. Help clients to reflect on how their working models and their subsequent interpersonal patterns are rooted in childhood experiences with primary attachment figures.
- 5. Position yourself as a coach as a 'good enough' and available caregiver to help clients experience new attachment orientations and behaviours.

Here are some examples from my own practice which show attachment styles and the reflective-self function at work. Identifying details have been disguised.

1st Case Example

An investment manager in a global retail and investment bank comes to coaching following a number of performance conversations where it was suggested to him that his readiness for promotion to the next level would be contingent on improving his work relationships and that executive coaching might help to prepare him further. At the first phone call a meeting was arranged and another four-way meeting with his boss and the HR Director followed. In the first weeks of this coaching contract the senior banker sent performance-related and multi-party-feedback documentation to his executive coach, and he rang his coach several times on his mobile phone. His motivation seemed high. Objectives were established around growing his self-confidence and his clarity as to what type of behaviour his senior team was expecting from him. Session 5, however, was postponed and then cancelled. Despite time spent together and veritable openness in sharing sensitive material, the sessions still felt aloof and as if lacking in rapport. The formal contract of six sessions was not completed. A certain distance and formality was present in all the sessions. When the coach raised this (perceived) aspect of the relationship, the client appeared puzzled. In the notes from the fourth session the coach concludes that she only appeared to be 'telling' the client about their relationship and about other relationships, without there being much real dialogue between them.

Reflection: It was one of those assignments with a client who was 'sent' by others, doesn't really know what to expect of coaching, and finds it quickly irrelevant as he fails to see a clear link between the 'off-line' conversations and his personal objectives. Coachability proves low and this is partly due to a limited capacity to mentalise oneself and one's (working) relationships. Or perhaps there was a withdrawal from the reflectiveself function for fear of something painful emerging. The only strategy remaining for the coach appears to be to focus on the client's reflective-self directly, however hard it may be to make a change at that level. In other words, and in retrospect, the coach could have confronted the client more in terms of his limited representations of his working relationships, including the one with his coach. In my experience, this state of affairs occurs regularly in coaching relationships: intentions are on the whole positive, pressure and willingness to change are high, but shared moments of psychological understanding are so few and far between that outcome remains poor.

2nd Case Example

Eamonn was a Dean in a university. He was very agitated during the first session. About a year ago he started working with Fiona as his faculty director. They shared the responsibility for managing the faculty between them. Their collaboration has been, in his words, non-existent. He thought he might be intimidating her, as an academic and sharp intellectual, but perhaps even more by being a conscientious planner, who turns up for meetings early and is very results-oriented. Fiona appeared to him tense most of the time. She cancelled most of their meetings or appearances together, and avoided anything that had a semblance of a 'one-to-one' with him. She had other 'dotted line' responsibilities that appeared more important to her than her collaboration with Eamonn.

Now Eamonn was extremely dissatisfied with all of this, especially in view of great changes that needed to be implemented. He talked about going back to Ireland, taking up a role in Dublin, where he thought there would be 'more respect' and a better salary. He seemed visibly agitated and eventually spoke about his profound doubts that anything could be done. 'Nobody can change the way Fiona works', 'nobody in our organisation seems to take real responsibility for the changes that need to happen', etc. The coach jotted down the objectives for the work and suggested a higher frequency than he would normally do: once every three weeks.

The second session had Eamonn much more relaxed. He related successes in convincing some lead researchers and services that they would have to change their reporting structures. He reflected on his tendency to 'see the grass greener' on the other side of the road – and in grassy green Ireland – but he avoided the topic of Fiona' altogether. When the coach raised the topic in the second hour he just said that nothing had changed and that Fiona had managed to completely avoid him these three weeks, and that he perhaps had been guilty of avoiding too. He then expressed surprise that the next session would be already in three weeks' time: unlikely that he would have anything to talk about...

During the third session Eamonn talked at length about how as a dean he tried to 'lead from the front' and how he was very good at taking on precisely those battles that he could win. Again, in the last half-hour, the coach asked him about Fiona. Eamonn said Fiona and he were 'probably' working well together. They headed the faculty 'like two ships that pass each other in the night'. They turned up at different places, barely had a meeting together and if they had, Fiona was always happy that he took the lead and explained 'what had to be done'. He was better at that anyway. Then he mentioned he had always been good at this 'comanagement' and that he could usually empower others, but somehow Fiona could not be reached. He felt intimidated by her behaviour: she always determined where she would be, and in what capacity. He did his best to work around that, and they never spoke about their relationship. He was very clear that she would not say anything sincere if he'd ask her about how they worked together, and that she would try to avoid the topic together.

The coach then asked if Eamonn had encountered any other 'Fiona's' in his career - who she reminded him of? Initially he said 'nobody' and there were long silences. Suddenly, he related how recently at a party he had met an old fiancée, Cleona, Irish like himself. He was there with his wife and children. Cleona beamed into their room, looking like the successful business woman she was, full of 'executive polish'. She still had this powerful influence on him, this mixture of intimidation and attraction. She had always seemed aggrieved about something, 'hurt' by social gestures, as if someone had invaded her space when in fact it was usually the other way round. She controls conversations he said, just like Fiona, who had been described to the coach in quite different terms up until now. For a good ten minutes Eamonn continued associating around his partner choices and similarities between Fiona and Cleona.

Here was a source of Eamonn's confusion, an intimidation and attraction that he couldn't escape. Eamonn started to understand the real 'infatuation' the two co-managers were having with each other, despite their coldness and distance. Another element that he discovered for the first time was the 'controlling' nature of their relationship, how he wanted Fiona to be at places where she wasn't, and how Fiona controlled him by citing stresses and other obligations.

Reflection: Here is a client with a well-developed reflective-self function and with high 'coachability'. In fact he started the contract by naming two other positive experiences with a coach. He also felt quickly secure in the sessions. Nevertheless, it does take coach and client some three sessions to get to the nub (or 'a' nub) of an issue and to arrive at reflections that matter to the client. At that point the coach enhances reflective-self function by inquiring more deeply into intimate relationships, and asking for a parallel experience in the client's life. There appears to be a breakthrough when the client can begin to see this relationship in terms of others in his life, and in terms of other important relationships in his life. It then takes several sessions more to think about the consequences of this new insight and about how to improve or reflect differently on the particular working relationship.

3rd Case Example

This consulting assignment started off with the request for facilitation of a consulting firm's away day, which would include the eight partners and the head of the secretariat, to mark the transition to a new managing partner. As so often with such events, both the wish to be entertained, to have fun, to chill out, and great anxieties about the unspoken concerns in the firm and whether they will be addressed or even voiced, were palpable from the outset. The team of partners established the main formal goal of the away day to be to achieve that frankness and fearlessness that they prided themselves on with their clients, internally.

The facilitator asked the members of the group to bring something, an object, which speaks to their relationship to the company. They took their turns freely – however, in terms of group dynamics, the order turned out to be 'reverse seniority'. When finally, one before last, the old managing partner spoke, she read a poem, something like 'should I stay or should I go?' and said that she wasn't clear about her next steps. At that point the head of the secretariat burst into tears, almost wails, which prompted embarrassed looks and eyes fixed to the ground from the consultants. The outgoing managing partner seemed to be emboldened and she consoled her.

Their query had been 'how to be more frank with each other internally?' In the afternoon the facilitator felt moved to challenge the assumptions in that statement: 'Yes, frankness and fearlessness may be what clients really need from you, that is, they want to trust you will speak out and tell them what you see, preferably in a way that they can hear it. However, internally, you are a 'polis', a citizenship, a political society, however small, and it is perhaps more important to be diplomatic than to be direct.' Then he showed concern, Directness may become the privilege of the more powerful in the group, the 'prima donnas' who can both get all the attention and give all the direct feedback, but are themselves exempt'. At that precise point, when the word prima donna was mentioned, a shiver seemed to go through the group. There was something electrical in the air and the facilitator knew he had said something profoundly 'wrong' - or perhaps profoundly 'right', which amounts to the same thing. There was a long silence and then people started to debate an earlier point, but just weakly and without much interest. Soon someone called tea break and nobody came back to what the facilitator thought had been a major incident. In fact, he still felt utterly rejected and excluded by the group.

During the tea break the facilitator felt tense, guilty, awkward, and disconnected from the group. This in spite of the fact that one of the partners approached him briefly to say that it was good that he had 'outed' the prima donnas. Coming back into the afternoon session he realised it was difficult for him to think and to reflect, and that he must try to hold the space as this might be true for others as well. He waited and asked how people were and after a while gathered his wits back together sufficiently to say 'I have the impression you do not want to talk about this so this is not easy to say. I noticed what happened when I mentioned the word 'prima donna'. There was possibly some significance in what I said and this was perhaps itself one of those frank things that you find hard to say to each other. I think this somehow links with your anxieties around the new leadership of the firm and the dilemmas of your old managing partner about where to go next.' Gradually and without exploring the concept of prima donna much further, the group now returned to thinking about the challenges ahead and people felt freer to speak about their hopes for the future and for each other.

Reflection: Here is an example of how mentalising can come under pressure in coaching and consulting assignments. We can identify such moments almost on a daily basis, for example, when we are anxious about arriving late, about meeting a new client, or about what is going on in the conversations at hand; when we don't know what the issues are or how to respond, when we feel we have said something wrong or too challenging, etc. To paraphrase Allen³ (2003, p.105), 'Of course, we coaches must mentalise to foster mentalising in our clients. It is through our own mentalising that we engage our clients the process of mentalising (and, in conversely, through their mentalising that they engage us in the process). We are in the same boat with our clients. We, too, must rely on an intact social brain, a secure attachment history, and an optimal level of arousal. We bring to the session our development competence and our current state of mind (based on our feeling of security and level of arousal at the moment) which may or may not be conducive to mentalising performance. We, too, know the 'biology of being frazzled' as our prefrontal cortical functioning goes off-line, giving way to our limbic propensities to fight, flight or freeze responses.' Often competent consulting can be regained just by re-acquiring the space to think, by stepping back for a moment, and allowing our healthier and calmer reflections to touch on the issues at hand. Paradoxically, important new reflections can arise precisely from those moments where the reflective-self is incapacitated, because there would have to be something new and important for it to have the power to bring us off balance.

Reflective-self function in coaching

What these examples have in common is a sense of 'plasticity', a sense that attachment and mentalisation are gradually formed during coaching, and that it is possible to build up a secure sense in coaching even if

³ Changing only the words clinician, therapist and patient into coaching equivalents.

security and understanding were hard to come by in earlier attachment relationships. This must be encouraging as it shows that 'history' does not equal 'destiny'; in other words that clients can achieve new outcomes and can learn to build up both a more secure sense of relationship and the reflective-self function that goes along with secure attachment. In this regard it is perhaps encouraging that the intra-subject reliability or stability over longer time periods of the AAI is rather small (see Fonagy, 2001, Chapter 2).

We have to be wary, though, of attaching too much importance to the notion of reflective-self function, and that is because of its enormous appeal. As we have seen attachment relationships can be relevant on at least four basic levels in coaching (transference, working alliance, 'real' relationship and content of sessions). Secure attachment can in principle be linked with the reflective-self on any of these levels. This makes the reflective-self a highly relevant notion for the client on all levels and even for the coach in his or her approach to the client. Moreover, as has been argued by various authors cited above, the reflective-self is not just seen as a measure of good therapy, as in mentalisation-based psychotherapy, it can also be regarded as a measure of good outcome of helping conversations, as in the recovery or strengthening of mentalisation. This makes the reflective-self into a panacea and could lead to the false impression of 'snake oil', or perhaps in modern industrial terms, of 'lactic acid' (which is increasingly used to make food ingredients, conservatives, cleaning products and plastics that do no harm to the human body), a flexible agent of questionable curative value that is natural to the mind/body and sold as a cure for many ills, to be applied in the most generous of doses. Instead, I believe the main lesson to draw from the empirical results at this stage is the importance of investigating further the properties of reflective-self function or psychological mindedness and establishing empirically what contribution they have in coaching.

Conclusion

Mentalisation, or the idea that infants become independent subjects only if they are recognised as such, as beings with minds, intentions and feelings of their own, by their caregivers, an idea which has been operationalised by reflective-self function (Fonagy et al., 1991), is a very powerful notion precisely because it goes back to the root of helping conversations. It is first and foremost a new and empirically quantifiable way of expressing that a client might get better when listened to and understood by a thoughtful other who can help him or her make sense of memories, experiences and challenges, a phenomenon which is as old as psychotherapy itself (Breuer & Freud, 1885). This new operationalisation of a classic phenomenon is also distinct in that it emphasises the understanding of another's intentionality, which by definition includes self-understanding, the understanding of one's own intentions. There is a shift in emphasis and an increase in empirically reliable data concerning the understanding of self and others. It is fair to say that this development has afforded new importance to the idea of insight (or interpretation, or realisation) in psychotherapy and coaching.

The history of helping conversations started with recognition of the importance of self-understanding for healthy functioning, be it through recollection (Erinnerung; Breuer & Freud, 1885), interpretation (Deutung; Breuer & Freud, 1885) or insight (Aufklärung; Breuer & Freud, 1885). Now with the empirical research on reflective-self function providing some evidence for a link with a particular self- and other-understanding – a possible connection between mentalisation and psychological health, through a demonstrated correlation with secure attachment - this journey has come full circle.

We can see reflective-self function as the first operationalisation of the Freudian notion of 'insight', just like 'working alliance' (Greenson, 1965) was the first operationalisation of the Freudian notion of 'positive transference'. Both operationalisations led in the next decades to corroboration of the efficacy of the original idea: working alliance correlates with psychotherapy outcome (Horvath & Symonds, 1991), whilst reflective-self function correlates with secure attachment (Fonagy et al., 1991). However, as we have seen in this brief overview, the evidence for reflective-self function as an active ingredient of helping conversations is still limited. It is not at the same level as that for working alliance. Nevertheless, the psychophysical evidencebase of these and other original hunches of Freud has now grown to an encouraging degree.

In this way executive coaches are beginning to get an idea of the ingredients that are potentially effective in coaching conversations. Working alliance (De Haan, 2011), as the best predictor of coaching outcome, will come first. And reflective-self function, as a function that correlates with secure attachment, could come second. If nothing else, this evidence can help coaches to be more confident in attending as fully as they can to reflection within the coaching relationship.

The Author

Dr Erik de Haan is Director of the Ashridge Centre for Coaching, Trainee Psychodynamic Psychotherapist and Professor of Organisation Development and Coaching at the VU University, Amsterdam.

Correspondence

Dr Erik de Haan

Ashridge Centre for Coaching, Ashridge Business School, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire HP4 1NS, UK. Email: erik.dehaan@ashridge.org.uk www.erikdehaan.com

References

- Ainsworth, M.D.S., Blehar, M.C., Waters, E. & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation. Hillsdale (NJ): Erlbaum.
- Allen, J.G. (2003). Mentalising. Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic, 67(2), 91–112.
- Appelbaum, S.A. (1973). Psychological-mindedness: Word, concept and essence. *The International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 54(1), 35–46.
- Beck, A.T. (1975). Cognitive therapy and the emotional disorders. New York: International Universities Press.
- Bion, W.R. (1963). *Elements of psychoanalysis*. Londen: William Heinemann.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss, Vol. 1: Attachment. London: Hogarth Press and the Institute of Psychoanalysis.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss, Vol. 2: Separation: Anxiety and anger. London: Hogarth Press and the Institute of Psychoanalysis.
- Boyce, L.A., Jackson, R.J. & Neal, L.J. (2010). Building successful leadership coaching relationships: Examining impact of matching criteria in a leadership coaching programme. *Journal of Management Development*, 29(10), 914–931.
- Bretherton, I. (1985). Attachment theory: Retrospect and prospect. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 50(1-2), 3-35.
- Breuer, J. & Freud, S. (1895). Studien über Hysterie [Studies on hysteria]. Leipzig/Vienna: Franz Deuticke.
- Brown, D.G. (1977). Drowsiness in the countertransference. International Review of Psychoanalysis, 4, 481–492.
- Day, A., De Haan, E., Sills, C., Bertie, C & Blass, E. (2008). Coaches' experience of critical moments in the coaching. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 3(3), 207–218.
- De Haan, E. (2008). *Relational coaching*. Chichester: Wiley.
- De Haan, E. (2011). Back to Basics: How the discovery of transference is relevant for coaches and consultants today. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 6(2), 180–193.
- De Haan, E., Bertie, C., Day, A. & Sills, C. (2010). Clients' critical moments of coaching: towards a 'client model' of executive coaching. Academy of Management Learning and Education, 5(2), 109–128.
- De Haan, E., Curd, J. & Culpin, V. (2011). Executive coaching in practice: What determines helpfulness for clients of coaching? *Personnel Review*, 40(1), 24–44.

- De Haan, E., Duckworth, A. & Birch, D. & Jones, C. (2012). Executive coaching outcome research: The predictive value of common factors such as relationship, personality match and self-efficacy. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research* (In Press).
- De Meuse, K.P., Dai, G. & Hallenbeck, G.S. (2010). Learning agility: A construct whose time has come. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 62(2), 119–130.
- Drake, D.B. (2009). Using attachment theory in coaching leaders: The search for a coherent narrative International Coaching Psychology Review, 4(1), 49–58.
- Fechner, G.T. (1860). Elemente der Psychophysik [Elements of psychophysics]. Leipzig: Breitkopf & Härtel.
- Fonagy, P. (2001). Attachment theory and psychoanalysis. New York: Other Press.
- Fonagy, P. & Bateman, A.W. (2006). Mechanisms of change in mentalisation-based treatment of BPD. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(4), 411–430.
- Fonagy, P. Gergely, G., Jurist, E.L. & Target, M. (2004). Affect regulation, mentalisation, and the development of the self. New York: Other Press.
- Fonagy, P. & Target, M. (1996). Playing with reality I. Theory of mind and the normal development of psychic reality. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 77, 217–233.
- Fonagy, P. & Target, M. (2000). Playing with reality III. The persistence of dual psychic reality in borderline patients. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 81, 853–873.
- Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Moran, G.S. & Higgitt, A.C. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: The reflective-self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 12(3), 201–218.
- Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Higgitt, A.C. & Target, M. (1994). Theory and practice of resilience. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 35, 231–257.
- Fonagy, P., Target, M., Steele, H. & Steele, M. (1998). Reflective-functioning Manual, Version 5.0, for application to Adult Attachment Interviews. London: University College London.
- Freud, S. (1905). Bruchstück einer Hysterie-Analyse [Fragment of an analysis of a case of hysteria]. Monatsschrift für Psychiatrie und Neurologie, Band XXVIII. 4.
- Freud, S. (1911). Formulierungen über die zwei Prinzipien des psychischen Geschehens [Formulations of the two principles of mental functioning]. Jahrbuch für psychoanalytische und psychopathologische Forschungen, Band III.

- Freud, S. (1914). Erinnern, Wiederholen und Durcharbeiten [Remembering, repeating and working-through]. Zeitschrift für Psychoanalyse, Band II.
- Freud, S. (1915). Das Unbewusste (The Unconscious). Zeitschrift für Psychoanalyse, Band III.
- Freud, S. (1920). Jenseits des Lustprinzips [Beyond the pleasure principle]. Leipzig/Vienna/Zürich: Internationaler psychoanalytischer Verlag.
- Freud, S. (1940). Abriss der Psychoanalyse [An outline of psychoanalysis – unfinished]. Internationale Zeitschrift für Psychoanalyse und Imago XXV.1, 7–67.
- Gallese, V. & Goldman, A. (1998). Mirror neurons and the simulation theory of mind-reading. *Trends in Cognitive Science*, 2(12), 493–501.
- George, C., Kaplan, N. & Main, M. (1984). Adult attachment interview protocol. University of California at Berkeley (3rd ed., 1996).
- Grant, A.M. (2001). Rethinking psychological mindedness: Metacognition, self-reflection, and insight. *Behaviour Change*, 18(1), 8–17.
- Grant, A.M., Passmore, J., Cavanagh, M.J. & Parker, H. (2010). The state of play in coaching today: A comprehensive review of the field. *International Review of Industrial and Organisational Psychology*, 25, 125–168.
- Greenson, R.R. (1965). The working alliance and the transference neuroses. *Psychoanalysis Quarterly*, 34, 155–181.
- Grencavage, L.M. & Norcross, J.C. (1990). Where are the commonalities among the therapeutic common factors? *Professional Psychology: Research* and Practice, 21, 372–378.
- Helmholtz, H. von. (1867). Handbuch der Physiologischen Optik. Leipzig: Voss.
- Horvath, A.O. & Symonds, B.D. (1991). Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 38(2), 139–149.
- Klein, M. (1945). The Oedipus complex in the light of early anxieties. In M. Klein, *The writings of Melanie Klein* (pp.370–419). London: Hogarth, 1975.
- Kohut, H. (1977). *The restoration of the self*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Laske, O. (2004). Can evidence-based coaching increase ROI? International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring, 2(2), 41–53.
- Main, M. & Goldwyn, R. (1990). Adult attachment rating and classification systems. In M. Main (Ed.), A typology of human attachment organisation assessed in discourse, drawings and interviews. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- Main, M. & Solomon, J. (1990). Procedures for identifying infants as disorganised/disoriented during the Ainsworth Strange Situation. In M. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti & E.M. Cummings (Eds.), Attachment during the pre-school years: Theory, research and intervention (pp.121–160). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Main, M., Kaplan, N. & Cassidy, J. (1985). Security in infancy, childhood and adulthood: A move to the level of representation. *Monographs of the Society* for Research in Child Development, 50(1–2), 66–104.
- McDougal, J. (1978). *Plea for a measure of abnormality*. New York: International Universities Press.
- O'Neill, M.B. (2000). Executive coaching with backbone and heart – a systems approach to engaging leaders with their challenges. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Passmore, J. & Marianetti, O. (2007). The role of mindfulness in coaching. *The Coaching Psychologist*, 3(3), 131–137.
- Premack, D.G. & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? *Behavioural* and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515–526.
- Rosenzweig, S. (1936). Some implicit common factors in diverse methods of psychotherapy: 'At last the Dodo said, "Everybody has won and all must have prizes."' American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 6, 412–415.
- Rock, D. & Page, L.J. (2009). Coaching with the brain in mind: Foundations for practice. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Roth, A. & Fonagy, P. (1996). What works for whom? A critical review of psychotherapy research. New York: Guilford Press
- Steele, H., Steele, M. & Fonagy, P. (1996). Associations among attachment classifications of mothers, fathers, and their infants. *Child Development*, 67, 541–555.
- Stewart, L.J., Palmer, S., Wilkin, H. & Kerrin, M. (2008). The influence of character: Does personality impact coaching success? *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 6(1), 32–42.
- Stober, D.R. & Grant, A.M. (Eds.) (2006). Evidence based coaching handbook. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Van der Loo, E. (2007). The art of listening. In M.F.R. Kets de Vries, K. Korotov & E. Florent-Treacy (Eds.), *Coach and couch: The psychology of making better leaders* (pp.221–240). London: Hogarth.
- Van IJzendoorn, M.H. (1995). Adult attachment representations, partental responsiveness, and infant attachment: A meta-analysis on the predictive validity of the Adult Attachment Interview. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117, 387–403.
- Van IJzendoorn, M.H., Juffer, F. & Duyvesteyn, M.G.C. (1995). Breaking the intergenerational cycle of insecure attachment: A review of the effects of attachment-based interventions on maternal sensitiviy and infant security. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 36, 225–248.

- Wallin, D.J. (2007). *Attachment in psychotherapy*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Wampold, B.E. (2001). The great psychotherapy debate: Models, methods and findings. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Whitmore, J. (1992). Coaching for performance: GROWing people, performance and purpose. London: Nicholas Brealey.
- Winnicott, D.W. (1962). Ego integration and child development. In Maturational processes and the facilitating environment: Studies in the theory of the emotional development. London: Hogarth, 1965.
- Winnicott, D.W. (1965). Maturational processes and the facilitating environment: Studies in the theory of the emotional development. London: Hogarth.
- Winnicott, D.W. (1967). Mirror-role of the mother and family in child development. In P. Lomas (Ed.), *The predicament of the family: A psychoanalytical symposium* (pp.26–33). London: Hogarth.
- Wundt, W. (1862). Die Geschwindigkeit des Gedankens [The Velocity of Thought]. Die Gartenlaube, 17, 263–265.

Keynote

Strengths-based approaches to developing mental toughness: Team and individual

Sandy Gordon



Based on an Invited Keynote Presentation at the British Psychological Society's Division of Sport and Exercise Psychology Annual Conference which was part of the British Psychological Society's Annual Conference, 17–21 April 2012, in London.

In sport settings developing mental toughness has become a major focus for athletes, coaches, teams and organisations. The focus of this paper is on the principal 'climate engineers' of sport environments, namely coaches, and on a strengths-based approach to mental toughness development that was facilitated by a sport psychologist. A brief summary of mental toughness research and a short history of strengths approaches to the development of human potential is presented. In the final section the author describes how he has used strengths-based approaches in professional sport, both with teams and individuals.

Keywords: Applied positive psychology; strengths-based coaching; psychological skills training.

HE PURPOSE of this paper is to introduce the reader to a strengths-based approach to developing mental toughness in sport, which draws on principles from applied positive psychology (Biswas-Diener, 2010), appreciative inquiry (Cooperrider & appreciative Whitney, 2005), inquiry coaching (Orem, Binkert & Clancy, 2007) and strengths-based coaching (Linley & Harrington, 2006; Linley, Woolston & Biswas-Diener, 2009). Following a brief overview of mental toughness research and history of strengths approaches, the contrasting assumptions of strengths-based coaching methods and traditional psychological skills training are presented. The paper concludes with examples of how a strengths-based approach to developing mental toughness was conducted by the author among professional cricketers.

Mental toughness: A brief summary

For almost a decade, sport researchers have recognised the need to empirically examine the question: 'What is mental toughness?' Increased attention within the academic community has resulted in efforts focused on identifying the key components of mental toughness, understanding how they are developed, and developing and validating measurement instruments (for a full review, see Gucciardi & Gordon, 2011a).

Recently, Gucciardi and colleagues (2009a) developed a 'process model' grounded in Personal Construct Psychology (PCP: Kelly, 1991), which encapsulates the experiential processes of acquiring mental toughness. Within this model, the key components of mental toughness are said to influence the way in which an individual covertly and overtly approaches, appraises, and responds to events demanding varying degrees of challenge, adversity, and pressure. Subsequently, self-reflection and feedback from others provides information that an
individual may use to evaluate their investment in their experiences and outcomes. In integrating research with their process model, Gucciardi and colleagues proposed a definition of mental toughness:

Mental toughness is the presence of some or the entire collection of experientially developed and inherent values, attitudes, emotions, cognitions, and behaviours that influence the way in which an individual approaches, responds to, and appraises both negatively and positively construed pressures, challenges, and adversities to consistently achieve his or her goals (Coulter et al., 2010, p.715).

The evidence specifically on the development of mental toughness so far suggests that while some mental toughness is simply inherited, an inestimable amount can be caught (socialised) and taught (coached) (see Clough & Strycharczk, 2012; Gucciardi & Gordon, 2011a). Further research in sport and other performance environments is needed to pinpoint exactly 'what' needs to be taught 'by whom' and 'how,' and also what experiences young people should be exposed to and when. In addition, investigations need to determine if these experiences need to be activity-specific or even activityrelated and/or if there is a role for mentoring, story-telling and account-making in promoting mental toughness?

Recently Gucciardi and Gordon (2011b) suggested that changing mindsets and strengthsbased approaches have considerable potential in developing mental toughness, and encouraged experimental evaluations of interventions using each procedure separately or in combination, with athletes of all age and ability levels. Importantly, Gucciardi and Gordon proposed that both methodologies are consistent with the basic tenets of personal construct psychology (PCP: Kelly, 1991), which are described elsewhere (e.g. Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009a, 2009b). Specifically, guided questioning and reflection associated with changing mindsets and strengths-based processes elicit learning and understanding of an individual's personal construct system.

Strengths-based approaches: A brief history

Peterson (2006) has described positive psychology as having 'a short history but very long past'. Readers are directed elsewhere (e.g. Linley & Joseph, 2004; Lopez & Snyder, 2009; Peterson, 2006) to full histories and philosophical perspectives of strengths approaches, positive psychology, coaching psychology and their applications. For the purposes of this paper, the following people and their activities represent a brief chronology of some important events and activities.

Bernard Haldane (1947) has been credited as the first to refer to 'human aptitudes'. He believed that the core reason for lack of efficiency in the workplace was that senior management was not sufficiently equipped to identify strengths and talent among their staff. Abraham Maslow (1954, p.354) commented on the historical focus of psychology, which 'has revealed to us much of man's shortcomings, his illness, his sins, but little about his potentialities, his virtues, his achievable aspirations, or his full psychological height'. Also in the mid-1950s Donald O. Clifton, cited by the American Psychological Association (APA) as the 'Father of Strengths Psychology', began five decades studying what is right about people. He bought The Gallup Organisation (founded in 1958) and later, with Marcus Buckingham (Buckingham & Clifton, 2001) and Tom Rath (Rath & Clifton, 2004), co-authored several bestselling books on strengths approaches. Peter Drucker (1967), regarded as the 'Father of Management Theory', claimed that 'the effective executive' builds on strengths their own strengths, the strengths of superiors, colleagues, subordinates, and on the strengths of the situation. Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi (1975) described 'flow' and elements of optimal experiences and enjoyment that are present in those activities that consume us and become intrinsically rewarding but don't take energy away - in fact they give energy to us. David Cooperrider (Cooperrider & Srivasta, 1987) launched a new organisational development discipline called Appreciative Inquiry (AI) and its basic premise is to build organisations around what works rather than fix what doesn't. In 1998, prior to becoming the APA President, Martin Seligman (Seligman, 1999) gave the field of Positive Psychology its name, generally referred to at the time as 'the scientific study of optimal human functioning'. A vast array of research directions quickly developed measuring well-being including and mapping human strengths spawning several strengths identification assessment tools such as the VIA Inventory of Strengths (Petersen & Seligman, 2004), StrengthsFinder (Rath, 2007), and Realise2 Strengths (Linley, Willars & Biswas-Diener, 2010). Mike Pegg (2008) and Sir Ken Robinson (2009) claim we are in our 'element' when our natural aptitude and personal passions meet, similar to characteristics of 'flow' experiences. Recently, Alex Linley (2008) and his colleagues at the Centre of Applied Positive Psychology (CAPP) distinguished both unrealised and realised strengths from learned behaviours and weaknesses, which will be discussed in more detail later.

Strengths-based coaching and psychological skills training

Historically human endeavours have been characterised as 'fixing weaknesses' (Maslow, 1954; Seligman, 1999, 2011) and the coaching process in sport is no exception (Park-Perin, 2010). Current sport psychology practice and traditional psychological skills training typically focuses on identifying a team's or athlete's weaknesses and fixing them. Strengths-based coaching, on the other hand, is about spotting and exploiting teams' and athletes' strengths. A brief summary of the contrasting assumptions of strengths-based coaching and traditional psychological skills training approaches is presented in Table 1.

According to Linley, Willars and Biswas-Diener (2010) the two key characteristics of strengths are 'delivering a high level of performance and experiencing a sense of energy when you are doing it' (p.67), so a strength is something athletes are good at and they are also passionate about doing it. During strengths coaching the focus is on what is already working because our areas of greatest potential are in the areas of our

ASSUMPTIONS	Strengths-Based Coaching	Psychological (Mental) Skills Training
Coach philosophy	Strengths spotting	Problem identification
Areas of development and learning focus for coaching	Strengths Learn from successes	Weaknesses Learn from mistakes
Athletes	are resourceful and have experienced success	require expert assistance in dealing with failures
Type of coaching required	Proactive	Remedial
	Exploit existing strengths	Fix existing weaknesses
Learning process	Coaching 'asking', self-directed (athlete)	Training 'telling'; other-directed (practitioner)
Source of expertise and Coach/Athlete relationship	Athlete Collaboration	Practitioner Coach-led
Behavioural goal type	Self-concordant	External/Introjected

 Table 1: Comparison of strengths-based coaching and traditional psychological skills training.

greatest strengths. Linley and his colleagues acknowledge that while you *can* develop from working on weaknesses, change and improvement is only possible when you are *also* working on your strengths.

Strengths-based consulting in sport can be regarded as being both an approach to consulting (i.e. strengths are used more effectively in the attainment of goals) and as a value-adding outcome of consulting (i.e. strengths-based consulting is used to enable the realisation and development of an individual's strengths) (Linley & Harrington, 2006; Linley, Woolston & Biswas-Diener, 2009). Research in non-sport settings has shown that, in addition to being more confident, having higher levels of energy and vitality (Govindji & Linley, 2007), and being more likely to achieve their goals (Linley, Nielson et al., 2010), people who use their strengths are more effective at developing themselves and growing as individuals than people who do not (Sheldon et al., 2002). Research also demonstrates that those individuals who use their strengths more often are happier, have higher self-esteem, experience less stress, are more resilient, perform better at work, and are more engaged at work (Linley, Nielson et al., 2010). The case for using a strengths-based coaching approach in sport, therefore, is quite compelling.

Strengths-based coaching of mental toughness in cricket

As a sport psychologist I have consulted in professional cricket in Perth, Western Australia, since 1987, however, only recently have I introduced strengths-based approaches to facilitate performance enhancement in both teams and individuals. The processes and activities I am about to describe were made possible by one coach who believed in the transformative capacity of strengths-based approaches to individual and team performance consulting. I fully acknowledge that without his support for strengths-based approaches and his encouragement to others (e.g. senior management, team captains and senior players) to apply them, my initiatives may not have been as effective, or even possible. The examples come from the work I conducted with the same coach with two teams: Western Warriors (WW: Perth, Australia) and the Sri Lankan National Cricket team (SLC).

Appreciative Inquiry: The purpose of this activity with SLC in January 2006, held in Australia (Melbourne), was to introduce an Appreciative Inquiry (AI) approach to understanding the concept of high performing teams. AI is regarded as a positive, strengthsbased operational approach to change, learning, and development, which begins by obliging athletes and management to choose 'the positive' as the focus of inquiry, and as the launching point for all that follows. I recently reported an AI case study that featured a cricket operations strategic planning event at the Western Australian Cricket Association (Gordon, 2011). According to Sloan and Canine (2007):

The AI philosophy and practice is in and of itself the ideal process for both enabling people in organisations to become more aware of their own strengths and abilities in ways that increase their effectiveness in all parts of their life and to create robust support for change in the client's social system (p.1).

The following assumptions about life, people and the change process itself, form the basis of an AI approach (Cooperrider & Whitney, 2005):

- In every society, organisation, group or individual, something works;
- What people focus on becomes their reality;
- Reality is created in the moment, and there are multiple realities;
- The act of asking questions of an organisation, group, or individual, influences the group or individual in some way;
- People are more confident and comfortable in their journey to the future (the unknown) when they carry forward parts of the past (the known);

- If people carry parts of the past forward, those parts should be what is best about the past;
- It is important to value differences;
- The language people use creates their reality.

Prior to the squad leaving Sri Lanka for this Australian tour (January 2006), the coach and I asked both management and players to partner up and collect data on high performing teams using the interview guide illustrated in full in Table 2. Upon their arrival in Australia, I facilitated a two-hour meeting focusing on the data collected during interviews that were universally enjoyed by interviewees as well as by both management staff and players. This meeting was concluded with a discussion on goal setting specifically for touring Australia.

Two months later (April, 2006), prior to the first warm-up game of the Sri Lankan tour of England, during which Sri Lanka drew the three Test series 1-1 and whitewashed England 5-0 in the One-Day International (ODI) series, I conducted a squad session that I have described in greater detail as a case study in a special issue on performance psychology in the Australian Psychological Society's InPsych magazine (Gordon, 2008). The focus of the meeting was 'Discovering What Gives Life To SLC When It Is At Its Best', which featured a combination of facilitation techniques, including Naming Elephants (Hammond & Mayfield, 2004) and Open Space Technology (Owen, 1997), as well as Appreciative Inquiry (AI). Naming Elephants is a metaphor for bringing undiscussable issues into the open and making implicit 'difficult' conversations explicit. The main 'elephant' identified by all players was intimidation, negative and pessimistic communication to junior players by senior players, which had a negative behavioural impact on the team such as lowered morale among junior players, who switched off emotionally during both team meetings and games and suppressed ideas and thoughts of voicing contributions. Open Space Technology is a group facilitation method

comprised of four principles and one 'law' that allows small (or large) teams of players to say and do what they want in the time available and have self-organised discussions on anything that is important to them in a short time.

During this session coaches and players created a meeting agenda around the theme 'What Gives Life To Sri Lankan Batting, Bowling and Fielding When It Is At Its Best?' During a five-hour session (three hours over schedule) they had mapped out their England tour preferences for both training priorities and match tactics. The session witnessed players and staff speaking to each other freely and in a solution-focused manner. One additional important outcome was a record of on-field, off-field and dressing room habits associated with best performances. This list, entitled Habits SLC Has When At Its Best, was finalised at the conclusion of the England tour and became an agenda item to re-visit during each of the subsequent three meetings that I facilitated. Core habits and attitudes associated with managing tournaments included 'leadership from within the team', 'team goals always trump individual goals', 'no excuses to lose (e.g. weather, travel, food)', 'respect weaker opposition (e.g. English County sides)', and 'focus on *fundamentals*.'

A few months later (December, 2006) I arrived in Wellington, New Zealand, in time to see the last wicket fall on Day 4 of the 2nd Test, won by Sri Lanka. Later that day I met with the coach and staff to discuss the agenda for a strengths-based strategic planning team session that would characterise the team's focus and efforts for the next six months leading up to the Cricket World Cup in June 2007. Next day, to facilitate this three-hour session, I began by reminding everyone of the strengths-based AI process used in England that resulted in Habits SLC Has When At Its Best. However, since strategic planning specifically for the forthcoming six months was required, I introduced the SOAR technique, which stands for Strengths, Opportunities, Aspirations, and Results

Table 2: Interview guide for an inquiry into high performing cricket teams.

You are going to pair up with another player and ask each other the questions that follow. As an interviewer, your job is to read the introduction to the topic, then ask the first question. Listen to what your partner tells you and make notes so you can share the information with the larger group.

Question 1: High Performing Teams

- Tell me about a time when you observed or were part of a high performing team. What did it look like, feel like?
- What stands out in your mind about how the team worked with each other?

Question 2: Trust

- Think of a time when there was high trust in a team or partnership. What factors were present to make trust possible?
- Think of a leader you trusted. Why did you trust him or her? What did they do that made trust possible?
- When have you worked in a team or organisation that operates under the assumption that people can be trusted? What did they do differently from a team or organisation that operates under the assumption that people can't be trusted?

Question 3: Relationships

- When you have been a part of, or observed this type of team, how did the team manage relationships?
- How did this team handle conflict how did they manage it?

Question 4: Expect and Respect Differences

- How did the team show respect and appreciation for the diversity within the team?
- When the team had differences, how did they deal with those differences?

Question 5: Results

- What was the process the team used to set their goals and divide the roles and responsibilities necessary to achieve those results?
- Who or what was the team? What was the situation? What did the team do to gain clarity? How did this clarity help the team achieve top performance?

Question 6: Leadership

- Describe the qualities, characteristics, behaviours, activities, and/or practices of the team that foster a 'leaderful' environment.
- Think of a leader who demonstrates leadership that supports a leaderful environment. Specifically, what does he/she do?

Question 7: Learning/Mistakes/Celebration

- Tell me about a time you were a part of a team that demonstrated they could learn together. Specifically how did they do it?
- If there was an 'after-action' review or an apology, who initiated it? How did the team react?
- How did the team put the lessons to use?
- How did this team celebrate success?

(Stavros & Hinrichs, 2009). SOAR incorporates AI principles and players were simply asked to pair up and discuss responses to each of the questions illustrated in Table 3. A final document prepared by the players, entitled *Api Wenuwen Api (God Bless Sri Lanka)*, was sent to the coach, who prepared a formal template for everyone to refer to and apply immediately.

Developing mental toughness. In an attempt to develop mental toughness among Western Warriors (male professional cricketers) a colleague and I first collected mental toughness data from 22 contracted players using the 15-item Cricket Mental Toughness Inventory (CMTI: Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009c), which is comprised of five key facets as illustrated in Table 4. How we and the coach addressed results from these data is dealt with later in this paper. To facilitate performance enhancement generally, we applied the CAPP Realise2 Model (Linley, 2008; (Linley, Nielson et al., 2010).

Briefly, the Realise2 model (Linley et al., 2010) considers strengths as things that we do that we are good at *and* that energise us,

such as Realised Strengths that we get to do regularly, or Unrealised Strengths that we don't get as much opportunity to use so much and yet are our greatest areas for development. Learned Behaviours, on the other hand, are activities we are good at but drain us of energy, which is particularly relevant for elite/professional athletes because if activities are not energising doing them repeatedly can lead to an increasing sense of feeling disengaged, disenfranchised and even burned out. Finally, our Weaknesses are things we are not good at and also drain us. Subsequently, from the model, the best advice is to marshal realised strengths, by using them differently to best effect; maximise unrealised strengths, by finding opportunities to use them more; moderate learned behaviours, by not using them too much; and minimise weaknesses, by finding ways to stop having to focus on them at all. Unlike other aforementioned strengths finding approaches, however, if weaknesses matter for performance and cannot be ignored, the Realise2 Model provides five ideas on how to minimise their relevance and impact on performance, as illustrated in Figure 1.

Element	Questions
Strengths	What can we build on – what are our strengths in fielding, bowling and batting? What is already happening that works? What do we already do that is world class?
Opportunities	From our existing strengths, what other opportunities are provided that we should focus our efforts on? What new skills do we need to move forwards?
Aspirations	Reflecting on our strengths and opportunities, who are we, who should we become? What innovations or initiatives (i.e. tactics) would support our aspirations?
Results	How will we know we are succeeding? Considering our strengths, opportunities, and aspirations, what meaningful measures would indicate that we are on track to achieving our goals? What indicators would create a score card that addresses our process goals? What are the best rewards to support those who achieve our process goals?

Table 3: The SOAR Process.

CMTI Factors	Description	Item example 'I
Affective Intelligence	The ability to regulate one's emotions and moods in any circumstance to facilitate performance.	Am able to deal with anxiety.
Desire to Achieve	An internalised, insatiable desire and commitment to consistently improve one's performance levels and achieve success.	In general, display a hard work ethic.
Resilience	The ability to withstand and bounce back from situations in which negative outcomes are experienced (i.e. pressure, adversity, challenge).	Am able to deal with setbacks associated with cricket.
Attentional Control	The ability to manage one's attention and focus over extended periods of play involving various distractions.	Remain focused despite cricket-related distractions.
Self-Belief	An unshakeable self-belief in your physical ability to perform in any circumstance.	Never experience doubts.

 Table 4: Cricket Mental Toughness Inventory (CMTI): Factors and example item (Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009c).

To apply this model, prior to an indoor cricket net practice, we asked the coaches to determine individual perceptions of strengths related to general cricket ability (technical, physical, tactical as well as mental skills) by having players respond to strengths-based questions about their batting, bowling and fielding. The questions, and responses from a top-order batsman who is also a spin bowler, are illustrated in Table 5, which also includes his response to a question asking how he could use his strengths more at practice. Subsequently, with the head coach we facilitated an open discussion on what the implications from this exercise were for each player's self-regulated performance enhancement and training priorities.

Several players expressed embarrassment and discomfort when asked to read out their responses and every player agreed that they had never been asked to consider these ques-

tions previously. Additionally, discussion inevitably led to concerns about ignoring weaknesses and the importance of working to improve them. Subsequently, based on the model, players were asked to consider if they could reshape their role on the team so that they could play in their 'element' more often, rather than have to bat, bowl or field at times and in positions in which they felt vulnerable; second, they considered using their strengths to compensate for their weaknesses, such as being more decisive about shot selection with both short and full-length quick deliveries (fast bowling); third, players were asked to consider finding a complementary partner, someone who was strong in areas they were weak so they could buddy-up at training and during games and learn vicariously from watching strengths in action; *fourth*, players and the coaches were asked to consider grouping certain players accord-ing to their strengths and weaknesses, thereby

Figure 1: Minimising weaknesses to make them irrelevant (adapted from Linley, Willars & Biswas-Diener, 2010).



chunking up a level from 'complementary partner', and *adopt strengths-based team work* off-field as well as during training and games; and *finally*, when none of the above strategies was possible players were invited to consider *undertaking specific training and development sessions* with coaches, with the aim of becoming as good as they needed to be or good enough, but not excellent.

While all participants reported great benefits from making their weaknesses less relevant using all five ideas, they were particularly impressed with the overall value of a strengths-based approach to specifically technical development. One senior National Team cricketer remarked, 'This was very different to what I'm used to. I much prefer the idea of spending the majority of my time realising my strengths rather than trying to fix weaker areas.'

To further facilitate the development of mental toughness all players were invited to either discuss their CMTI (Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009c) data with each other and/or their coaches, or individually in person with me. During individual consultations I used

	Table 5	Table 5: Identification of strengths of a top-order batsman.	ngths of a top-order t	oatsman.	
BATTING	Responses	BOWLING	Responses	FIELDING	Responses
My strengths are I feel strong when I am(doing this).	'I feel strong when I am coming into bat when the innings needs rescuing or a game is to be won'	My strengths are I feel strong when I am(doing this).	'Bowling to a game plan'	My strengths are I feel strong when I am(doing this).	'My strengths are my hands, slip catching or catching in general'.
What is your best shot? 'Straight drive' How do you get most of your runs?	'Straight drive.'	What is your best delivery? How do you get most of your wickets?	'By building pressure on batsman and executing my bowling plan. Reading batsmen and their game plans. Breaking partnerships'	What is your best position? Where and when do you feel most effective?	'2nd slip and mid-wicket.'
I deliver my best and feel in my element doing these activities	'Rebuilding an innings when the team is in trouble. Guiding the team to victory using a calm and clever mind set. Involving myself in the contest.'	I deliver my best and feel in my element doing these activities	'By being patient and involving myself in the contest.'	I deliver my best and feel in my element doing these activities	'Fielding at 2nd slip'.
My favourite role(s) that I find most stimulating is (are)	'Being the player that stands up during the tough times and most difficult periods of play.	My favourite role(s) that I find most stimulating is (are)	Tying a team down, sliding under their radar, being underestimated:	My favourite role(s) that I find most stimulating is (are)	'Being a captain.'
Things I can do to build 'To train mostly by on my batting simulating game strengths, put myself situations under gr into situations where I pressure,' am in my element are	'To train mostly by simulating game situations under greater pressure,'	Things I can do to build on my batting strengths, put myself into situations where I am in my element are	'Ritualise my pre- and post-delivery routines through simulated pressure practice at the nets'	Things I can do to build on my batting strengths, put myself into situations where I am in my element are	'To improve my catching under greater pressure at training'

an appreciative coaching approach, which is illustrated in Table 6 and uses an example of a player's perceived weakness in self-belief. The AIC approach to developing mental toughness represents a significant departure from traditional approaches to psychological skills training typically used by performance psychologists. The first step in this approach is crucial and involves identifying and exploring what mental toughness terms (e.g. self-belief) mean to each coachee. This exploration is a necessary first step because coaches need to help coachees understand what mental toughness is and is not, when it is required and when it is not required, and how, in general, coachees personally construe their realities. Consistent with our previous research using a Personal Construct Psychology (PCP) framework and interview protocol to understand mental toughness (for a review, see Gucciardi & Gordon,

2009a) this approach can be embedded in the AI 4-D cycle to guide athletes in their explorations of mental toughness. In addition to sport psychologists, coaches can also ask these questions from the 4-D Model in turn – allowing plenty time for reflection (Connaughton, Hanton & Jones, 2010; Connaughton et al., 2008) – and summarise the mutual understanding in each part of the cycle prior to proceeding to the next one.

Conclusion

I am excited about the activities and strategies described in this paper that proved to be both popular and effective in developing mental toughness in my practice with elite adult performers, however, I acknowledge that a single approach is unlikely to be appropriate for all age and competitive levels. Sport psychologists and coaches will need to consider the developmental stage of

AI 4-D cycle	Strengths-based coaching questions
Discovery	Describe what you consider self-belief to be – and not be. When recently did you display self-belief? What attitude(s) did you adopt at that time? Describe your emotions. How did you react? What did you do? What would others have noticed?
Dream	Overnight a miracle occurred, and when you woke up your self-belief was just as you've described. How would you know? What would be different? What has changed in your habits? Who would be the first to notice these changes? What will they say or do, and how will you respond?
Design	So, how will you act differently to make the dream reality? How best can you develop and sustain your self-belief? Are there 'significant others' whom you feel play a crucial role in the development of your self-belief? What do you think these individuals could do to help? What should they not do?
Destiny/Delivery	Reflecting on what you really want and where you are right now regarding self-belief, what do you see as the most significant behavioural changes you could make that would help you get what you want? What one small behavioural change could you make right now, no matter how small, that would improve your self-belief? Can you just try it?

Table 6: Appreciative coaching questions (adapted from Orem et al., 2007).
--

their athletes when promoting the development of mental toughness (Connaughton et al., 2008, 2010). For example, early in an athlete's career, and based on previous research (Gucciardi, Gordon, & Dimmock, 2009; Gucciardi et al., 2009), I would anticipate that a strategy designed to combine traditional psychological skills training with strengths-based approaches to be optimal. Nonetheless, I encourage all practitioners and coaches to consider using strengthsbased approaches to developing mental toughness at any age and at any competitive level because I believe 'realising our strengths is the smallest thing we can do to make the biggest difference' (Linley, 2008, p.47).

References

- Biswas-Diener, R. (2010). Practicing positive psychology coaching. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Buckingham, M. & Clifton, D.O. (2001). Now, discover your strengths: How to develop your talents and those of the people you manage. Sydney: Pocket Books.
- Clough, P. & Strycharczyk, D. (2012). Developing mental toughness: Improving performance, well-being and positive behaviour in others. London: Kogan Page.
- Connaughton, D., Hanton, S. & Jones, G. (2010). The development and maintenance of mental toughness in the world's best performers. *The Sport Psychologist*, 24, 168–193.
- Connaughton, D., Wadey, R., Hanton, S. & Jones, G. (2008). The development and maintenance of mental toughness: Perceptions of elite performers. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 26, 83–95.
- Cooperrider, D.L. & Srivasta, S. (1987). Appreciative inquiry in organisational life. In W.A. Pasmore & R.W. Woodman (Eds.), *Research in organisational change and development* (Vol. I, pp.129–169). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Cooperrider, D.L. & Whitney, D. (2005). *Appreciative inquiry: A positive revolution in change.* San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.
- Coulter, T., Mallett, C.J. & Gucciardi, D.F. (2010). Understanding mental toughness in Australian soccer: Perceptions of players, parents, and coaches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 28, 699–716.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1975). Beyond boredom and anxiety. London: Jossey-Bass.
- Drucker, P.F. (1967). The effective executive. London: Heinemann.

Correspondence

Professor Sandy Gordon

The School of Sport Science, Exercise and Health, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia. Email: sandy.gordon@uwa.edu.au

- Gordon, S. (2008). Enhancing the team work of the Sri Lankan cricket team: A case study of applying Appreciative Inquiry. *InPsych*, 30(1), 12–13.
- Gordon, S. (2011). Building the optimal cricket operation. *Appreciative Inquiry Practitioner*, 13, 60-64.
- Gordon, S. (in press). Creating an effective organisational culture. In F. Pyke (Ed.), *Coaching excellence*. Adelaide, SA: Human Kinetics.
- Govindji, R. & Linley, P.A. (2007). Strengths use, selfconcordance and well-being: Implications for strengths coaching and coaching psychologists. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(2), 143–153.
- Gucciardi, D.F. & Gordon, S. (2009a). Construing the athlete and exerciser: Research and applied perspectives from personal construct psychology. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 21 (Supp1), S17–S33.
- Gucciardi, D.F. & Gordon, S. (2009b). Revisiting the performance profile technique: Theoretical underpinnings and application. *The Sport Psychologist*, 23, 93–117.
- Gucciardi, D.F. & Gordon, S. (2009c). Development and preliminary validation of the Cricket Mental Toughness Inventory. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 27, 1293–1310
- Gucciardi, D.F. & Gordon, S. (Eds.) (2011a). Mental toughness in sport: Developments in theory and research. London: Routledge.
- Gucciardi, D.F. & Gordon, S. (2011b). Mental toughness in sport: Past present, and future. In D.F. Gucciardi & S. Gordon (Eds.), Mental toughness in sport: Developments in theory and research (pp.233-251). London: Routledge

- Gucciardi, D., Gordon, S. & Dimmock, J.A. (2009). Evaluation of a mental toughness training programme for youth-aged Australian footballers: II. A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 21, 324–339.
- Gucciardi, D.F., Gordon, S., Dimmock, J.A. & Mallett, C.J. (2009). Understanding the coach's role in the development of mental toughness: Perspectives of elite Australian football coaches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 27, 1483–1496.
- Haldane, B. (1947). A pattern for executive placement. *Harvard Business Review*, 25, 652–663.
- Hammond, S.A. & Mayfield, A.B. (2004). The thin book of Naming Elephants: How to surface undiscussables for greater organisational success. Bend, OR: Thin Book.
- Kelly, G.A. (1991). The psychology of personal constructs: A theory of personality, Vol. 1. London: Routledge; originally publised 1955.
- Linley, P.A. (2008). Average to A+: Realising strengths in yourself and others. Coventry, UK: CAPP.
- Linley, P.A. & Harrington, S. (2006). Strengths coaching: A potential-guided approach to coaching psychology. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 1(1), 37–46.
- Linley, P.A. & Joseph, S. (Eds.) (2004). Positive psychology in practice. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Linley, P.A., Nielsen, K.M., Wood, A.M., Gillett, R. & Biswas-Diener, R. (2010). Using signature strengths in pursuit of goals: Effects on goal progress, need satisfaction, and well-being, and implications for coaching psychologists. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 5(1), 8–17.
- Linley, P.A., Willars, J. & Biswas-Diener, R. (2010). The strengths book: Be confident, be successful, and enjoy better relationships by realising the best of you. Coventry, UK: CAPP.
- Linley, P.A., Woolston, L. & Biswas-Diener, R. (2009). Strengths coaching with leaders. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 4(1), 37–48.
- Lopez, S.J. & Snyder, C.R. (Eds.) (2009). Oxford handbook of positive psychology (2nd ed.). Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

- Maslow, A.H. (1954). *Motivation and personality*. New York: Harper.
- Orem, S.L., Binkert, J. & Clancy, A.I. (2007). Appreciative coaching: A positive process for change. San Francisco: Wiley.
- Owen, H. (1997). Expanding our now: The story of Open Space Technology. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.
- Park-Perin, G. (2010). Positive psychology. In S.J. Hanarahan & M.B. Andersen (Eds.), Routledge handbook of applied sport psychology: A comprehensive guide for students and practitioners (pp.141–149). London: Taylor & Francis.
- Pegg, M. (2008). The strengths toolbox: All the tools you need to build and develop strengths in the workplace. Cirencester, UK: Management Books 2000.
- Peterson, C. (2006). A primer in positive psychology. Melbourne: Oxford University press.
- Petersen, C. & Seligman, M.E.P. (2004). Character strengths and virtues: A handbook and classification. Washington, DC: APA.
- Rath, T. (2007). *StrengthsFinder 2.0*. New York: Gallup Press.
- Rath, T. & Clifton, D.O. (2004). How full is your bucket? Positive strategies for work and life. New York: Gallup Press.
- Robinson, K. (2009). The element: How finding your passion changes everything. London: Penguin Group.
- Seligman, M.E.P. (1999). The President's address. American Psychologist, 54, 559–562.
- Seligman, M.E.P. (2011). *Flourish.* Sydney: Heinemann.
- Sheldon, K.M., Kasser, T., Smith, K. & Share, T. (2002). Personal goals and psychological growth: Testing an intervention to enhance goalattainment and personality integration. *Journal of Personality*, 70, 5–31.
- Sloan, B. & Canine, T. (2007, May). Appreciative inquiry in coaching: Exploration and learnings. *AI Practitioner: The International Journal of AI Best Practice*, 1–5.
- Stavros, J.M. & Hinrichs, G. (2009). SOAR: Building strengths-based strategy. Bend, OR: Thin Book.

Keynote

Looking back to see the future: The influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching psychology today



Patrick Williams

Based on an Keynote Presentation at the 2nd International Congress on Coaching Psychology, 10–12 May, 2012, in Sydney, Australia.

Keywords: Coaching; coaching psychology; humanistic psychology; transpersonal psychology.

N 1968, the first class I took at the University of Kansas was Psychology of Satisfaction. (Psych 101 was full as I was late to enroll). That was a turning point in my view of the field of psychology. This course, about what made people become happy and satisfied in their life, was an early precursor or what Positive Psychology would focus on 30 years later! I began to choose other courses in the years to come that eschewed Freudian psychology and instead learned of Maslow, Rogers, Jung, Assagioli and other theorists and researchers in human potential. I moved from my undergraduate degree to get a masters in Humanistic Psychology and a doctorate in Transpersonal Psychology and Counseling...all of which I point to today as more applicable to coaching that to psychotherapy.

In the 1960s, when psychology was strongly rooted in a battle between psychodynamic theory and behaviourism, Humanistic psychology arose as the Third Force, followed shortly by Transpersonal Psychology, the Fourth force. The influence of Maslow, Rogers, Esalen Institute, Tavistock, Findhorn, and Omega greatly influence the Human potential movement as an antidote to the mechanistic, analytic, and reductionist theories of the first half of the 20th century. That humanistic movement, while somewhat chaotic and experimental paved the way for Coaching Psychology today and the rise of positive psychology, appreciative inquiry, and human systems theory as underpinnings for 21st century personal and business coaching.

The history and evolution of Life Coaching: The influence of the Human Potential Movement of the 1960s and beyond.

Historical information provides current and prospective coaching psychologists with both a framework for understanding their profession and insights into future opportunities. This framework also helps life coaches to place themselves squarely within the larger context of a profession that is still developing, changing, and evolving. As we cast our eyes across the diverse threads of the past, perhaps we will come to understand the present more accurately and will be better prepared as life coaching (and coaching psychology) expands in the 21st century. I believe an examination of the evolution of life coaching also helps those trained as therapists or counsellors to make the transition to life coaching by further clarifying the similarities and differences between life coaching and other helping professions.

Life Coaching as an operating system

Personal and professional coaching has emerged as a recognised career in the last decade and it has created new options for people who seek help with life transitions in finding a guide to partner with them in designing their desired future. While coaching has grown to incorporate a variety of specialised applications, the case can be made that life coaching as a whole-person, clientcentred approach is the foundational operating system. As an operating system, the whole life approach is a system always in the background of the conversation, just like an OS in a computer system. Invariably, any specific focus of a coaching relationship will be interconnected to other areas of a person's life. If you have a client who wants to be a better manager, or make a career transition, you will find that conversations about their significant relationships, or their personal wellness, or their stress level could and should come up in the conversation. They are all intertwined in a whole person approach. For your coaching practice, this means that you need to be willing to open up conversations through asking questions about other areas of the client's life. What is working well? What is less than satisfying? How do energy drainers in one area of the client's life bleed over into effecting their stated goals

This presentation documents the rise of life coaching within the broader movement of personal and professional coaching and its roots in psychology. And let's not forget to honour the fact that the University of Sydney's Masters in Coaching Psychology (led by Anthony Grant and colleagues) was the first recognised degree in professional coaching!

The psychological roots of Life Coaching aka Coaching Psychology

Psychological theorists in the early part of the 20th century set the framework for life coaching's 'whole and healthy person' view. The shift from seeing clients as ill or pathological toward viewing them as 'capable and whole' and seeking a richer life is paramount to understanding the evolution of life coaching. Life coaches view clients as whole and uniquely capable persons and focus not on pathology, but on optimal living and a purpose- focused life.

Most people would agree that Sigmund Freud had a dramatic influence on society's view of mental illness and a deeper understanding of behaviour. While much of Freud's theory has little applicability to life coaching, he did profess that driving influences in people's lives were not conscious (ego-driven) but unconscious forces - the id (libido) and the superego (social conscience), which he believed were symbols for analysis and dream interpretation. It is this emphasis on symbolic thinking that is beneficial for life coaching. Life coaches help clients discover their greatness or brilliance, which often lies masked or buried in their unconsciousness and can be experienced when they begin to design their lives consciously and purposely. (NB: brilliance as a diamond whose facets are cut and ebullient.)

But colleagues from Freud's inner circle, such as Carl Jung and Alfred Adler and Roberto Assagioli, broke away from his theories of neuroses and psychosis and posited theories that were more teleological and optimistic about human potential. Although there remains a significant distinction between therapy approaches and coaching, many of Adler and Jung's theories are antecedents to modern-day coaching psychology.

Adler, for example, saw himself as more of a personal educator, believing that every person develops a unique life approach, which shapes their goals, values, habits, and personal drives (Adler, 1956) He believed that happiness arises from a sense of significance and social connectedness (belonging), not merely individual objectives and desires. Adler saw each person as the creator and artist of his or her life and frequently involved his clients in goal setting, life planning, and inventing their future – all tenets and approaches in life coaching today.

Similarly, Carl Jung (Jung, 1953) believed in the power of connectedness and relationships, as well as a 'future orientation' or teleological belief that we create our futures through visioning and purposeful living. Jung's writings really focused on life after the age of 40 and he concentrated on many of the life issues of our later years. This is particularly appropriate for life coaches because we work primarily with adult learners. Jung often coached adults through a 'life review' and encouraged his clients to consciously live their lives by expressing their natural gifts and talents and moving toward self-individuation by living life 'on purpose.'

Jung's theories and approaches also emphasised spirituality and values expressed as one goes though the process he called individuation – the progression and development of the spiritual self (Jung, 1976). This is particularly prevalent in the second half of life, a time when life coaches are most likely to experience this themselves and with their clients. Jung also described the importance of myths and rituals, which are increasingly becoming important components of our life coaching clients' lives. I believe psychologically-trained coaches are particularly qualified to assist clients in these important stages of adult development

And Roberto Assagioli with his Personal and Spiritual Psychosynthesis maintained that Freud had not given sufficient weight to the *higher* aspects of the human personality, and recognised a need for a more inclusive concept of humanity and human potential. (Assagioli, 1965)

The Boulder Conference: Psychology comes of age

Clinical psychology, as a profession separate from research and academia, was catapulted into the latter half of the 20th century because of the historical Boulder Conference in 1949 – the first national meeting ever held in the US to discuss standards of graduate training in psychology, despite the fact that doctoral programmes in America had been around more than 60 years (Albee,

2000). Up to that point, the emphasis was on theory and human behaviour, not so much on clinical or psychotherapeutic applications in a systemised, integrated approach. The demand for psychologists and counsellors grew after World War II for treating posttraumatic stress, the psychological impact of war injuries, and the military's need to prepare soldiers with improved emphasis on mental health and the hope for a kind of 'stress inoculation'. Looking back now at the Boulder Conference, it is easy to see that the teaching of clinical psychology included much of what today is found in counselling psychology and even the offshoots of counselling and marriage and family therapy.

Influences of Humanistic Psychology and the Human Potential Movement

During this time period, counselling and psychotherapy actually were starting to be viewed by many as arts more than sciences. The influence of the theories of Maslow and the emergence of humanistic, client-centred approaches saw the client as full of potential and possibility rather than as one with neuroses or pathology.

In 1951, Carl Roger's book, *Client Centred Therapy*, really defined counselling and therapy as relationships in which the client was assumed to have the ability to change and grow by the clinician creating a therapeutic alliance (Rogers, 1951). This alliance evolved from a safe, confidential space granting the client or patient what Rogers called *unconditional positive regard*. I believe this shift in perspective was a significant precursor to what is called life coaching today.

In the years after World War II, American psychologists began to be influenced by European schools of thought, namely phenomenology and existentialism. These points of view laid much of the philosophical foundation for what was to become the Third Force* in psychological thought,

^{*} There are Four Forces: The First Force was Freudian Psychology; the Second Force was Behavioural Psychology; the Third Force was Humanistic Psychology; and the Fourth Force was Transpersonal Psychology.

humanistic psychology. (The early work of Carl Rogers, Kurt Lewin, Prescott Lecky, and, eventually, Abraham Maslow, also served as great influences.) Emphasis is now on studying the whole person, not fragmented parts. Although the philosophies and values of humanistic psychology unified the whole field of psychology, it also profession. Humanistic polarised the psychology arose largely as a reaction against behaviourism's mechanistic view of humanity and was once again concerned with human experience and intrapsychic motivations as it had been in psychology's earliest years, but these concerns were viewed as nonobservable, nonmeasurable, intervening variables according to behavioural psychology's precepts.

Abraham Maslow, considered by many the father of humanistic psychology, was largely responsible for injecting much credibility and energy into the human potential movement of the 1960s with the publication of his seminal treatise, Toward a Psychology of Being (1968). In this work, Maslow summarised his research of 'self-actualising people' (a term first coined by Kurt Goldstein) and coined terms such as 'full-humanand wrote about 'being' ness' and 'becoming.' Maslow studied the 'healthy personality' of people who he termed selfactualisers; he researched, questioned, and observed people who were living with a sense of vitality and purpose and who were constantly seeking to grow psychologically and achieve more of their human potential. It is this key point in history that I believe set the framework for the field of life coaching (and now Coaching Psychology) to emerge in the 1990s. Persons seeking personal evolution and ways to live their life more fully do not need psychological counselling; life coaching is a more accurate paradigm for the improved outcomes or creative achievements the client seeks.

Maslow was instrumental in giving great value and importance to the idea of personal growth and its necessity for the healthy personality. However, Maslow was not the

first with these ideas. Many early psychiatrists and psychologists revolted against the orthodox approaches to mental problems and their emphasis on the person's pathological or pathogenic components. I assume you in this audience have already been introduced to the influential work of Adler and Jung, and Assagioli as contemporaries of Freud, but Gordon Allport, James Bugenthal, Kurt Goldstein, Karen Horney, Sidney Jourard, Fritz Perls, Virginia Satir, Rollo May, and Carl Rogers also influenced psychology's move toward a wellness perspective that laid much of the groundwork for modern coaching theory, perspective, and techniques.

Third Force Psychology has found its place in mainstream psychology and is represented by an international organisation. Abraham Maslow's ideas were central to the beginnings of both the journal and the association, but the AHP was not organised simply to promote his philosophy. The AHP represents a broad viewpoint, but it emerged as the third major force in psychology because of its unitary revolt against mechanistic, deterministic psychology. I believe this philosophical shift took root in a generation that now rejects the idea of sickness and seeks wellness, wholeness and optimal living instead. Hence the emergence of life coaching!

Another unique influence

Influences of Milton Erickson and Solution-Focused Approaches also evolved in the 1970s and beyond.

The work of Milton Erickson (the father of American hypnosis) is a key precursor to the methods in coaching today. Milton Erickson, a creative and unique psychiatrist, believed in the inherent ability of individuals to achieve wellness if the reason for an illness could be thwarted. Erickson often achieved seemingly 'miraculous results' from just a few sessions with a patient. Jay Haley (1986) coined the term 'uncommon therapy' to describe Erickson's approach.

More recent psychological approaches that have evolved from Ericksonian and other wellness approaches are the solutionfocused therapies. These approaches are not insight - or depth psychology - dependent and are also powerful influences on modern coaching practices and theory. Most notably, Glasser's reality therapy, Ellis's rational emotive therapy, systemic family therapies (Haley, Madanes, Satir), neuro-linguistic programming (NLP) (Bandler & Grindler), modern psychosynthesis (Assagioli), and many other hybrids of these lend themselves to coaching strategies. In all of these, the main focus is not pathology but behaviour change through increased awareness and choices to allow for desired future results and solutions to current 'problems in living.' Personal coaching has really developed from three streams: (1) helping professions such as psychotherapy and counselling and related theoretical perspectives as noted above; (2) consulting and organisational development and industrial psychology; and (3) personal development training such as EST, Lifespring, Landmark Forum, and Anthony Robbins.

The personal development courses listed above all focus on taking personal action and responsibility for one's life choices. They often include one-to-one coaching as part of their service or recommend it to those who desire sustainable results from the weekend training experience.

Life coaching is a 20th century phenomenon with roots in early psychological theories. It is a profession still experiencing dynamic growth and change. Life coaching and coaching psychology will no doubt continue to interact developmentally with social, economic, and political processes, draw on the knowledge base of diverse disciplines, enhance its intellectual and professional maturity, and continue to establish itself internationally. Co-operative efforts among diverse professional groups will enable life coaching to develop in more unified and collaborative ways in order to strengthen its influence.

The Life Coach operating system: Foundations in psychology

It is important to chart the course of some of the psychological theorists of the 20th century who laid the groundwork for the emergence and evolution of personal and professional coaching and coaching psychology as well. Relevant evidence-based research and theories will be noted along with their application and significance in coaching today. It is important for professional coaches to know that quality coach training and education is based in a multidimensional model of human development and communication that has drawn from the best of humanistic psychology, positive psychology, integral psychology and others in this field. Coaching also draws from other fields such as organisational development, adult learning theory, and systems theory, but they are not the focus of this presentation.

It is important to cite the theories and research from the established field of psychology and note how specific techniques and/or skill sets that can be applied in coaching conversations so that coaches can develop a greater variety of tools in communicating with clients. Many of the same techniques that originated in clinical psychology are useful in assisting clients to reframe their experience and to discover their strengths. These techniques include powerful questions, guided imagery (Psychosynthesis), empty chair technique (Gestalt therapy), time lines and future pacing (NLP), and even techniques and theory from Transactional Analysis (Eric Berne), client-centred counselling (Carl Rogers) and life stage awareness (Carl Jung, Frederic Hudson, Carol Gilligan, and Robert Kegan among others). This discussion focuses particularly on the philosophy and practice of life coaching as it relates to high-quality human communication that empowers the client. Some nuances require adaptations for various cultures, but since coaching is a co-created conversation to empower the receiver of the coaching, an expert/client paradigm is intentionally absent.

Many of the theories and techniques cited in this discussion are unique to Western cultures but can be adapted for use in most other cultures as well.

Coaching has a unique paradigm, but much of the foundation of coaching goes back many decades and even centuries. The draw to pursue life improvement, personal development, and the exploration of meaning began with early Greek society. This is reflected in Socrates' famous quote, 'The unexamined life is not worth living'. Since then, people have developed many ways of examining their lives, some useful and some not; some grounded in theory and evidencebased, while others are made up and inconsistent in their helpfulness. What persists, however, is that people who no longer need focus on the pursuit of basic human needs such as food and shelter - are beginning to pay attention to higher needs such as selfactualisation, fulfilment, and spiritual connection. This is also why much of the world that lives in poverty and on the edge of survival does not always concern themselves with future possibilities and big goals for their lives. Those often have to be put on the back burner.

I have spent much time in Third World/developing countries and see that the coach approach can be helpful in empowering local villagers to be more resourceful, but they still need the resources to become available. The NGOs and non-profit groups that supply food, water, housing, etc., could benefit from a holistic coaching approach in order to create and empower sustainable changes that the resource poor villagers can continue with assistance from resource rich countries and foundations Taking this global and integrative perspective for the power of coaching, we could do much for the view that coaching is mostly elitist and serves the rich and powerful primarily. As such, more and more people have an intense desire to explore and find personal meaning, when the blocks to survival are eliminated and the ability to thrive supplants survive. More about this later.

Coaching today is seen as a new phenomenon, but as a field it borrows from and builds on theories and research from related fields such as psychology and philosophy. As such, coaching is a *multi-disciplinary*, *multitheory* synthesis and application of applied behavioural change. As coaching evolved in the public arena it began to incorporate accepted theories of behavioural change as the evidence base for this new helping relationship.

Contributions from psychology

What has the field of psychology brought to coaching and what and who are the major influences?

We have already cited the historical influence of four major forces in psychological theory since the emergence of psychology in 1879 as a social science. These four forces are Freudian, Behavioural, Humanistic, and Transpersonal. Both the Freudian and behavioural models grew out of biology and philosophy and were focused on pathology and how to 'cure' it. The humanistic approaches of Carl Rogers and Abraham Maslow were a response to the pathological model; they attempted to make space in psychology for those elements of being human that create health and happiness. Finally, the transpersonal movement arose in the late 1960s in a further attempt to include more of what allows human beings to function at their best. Its focus was on mind, body, and spirit and included studies and experiences of states of consciousness, transcendence, and what Eastern traditions and practices had to teach Western theorists and practitioners. A more recent approach, the integral model of Ken Wilber and others, is emerging and may become a fifth force, integrating all that has come before and offering a holistic and even multilevel view of the various modalities for understanding human development and our desire to evolve mentally, physically, spiritually, and socially.

In recent years, several other approaches have arisen as adaptations of one or more of the original four and have been taken up by many coaches. Cognitive-behavioural psychology grew from a mix of the behavioural and humanistic schools. I say this because much of cognitive psychology embodied wisdom and leanings from behaviourism and even operant conditioning. But when the humanistic aspect was included, it became a way to use those techniques and theories of change to increase choice for the individual. In coaching, then, you can utilise what we know about shifting mindset and behaviours by using a process of inquiry and powerful questions that guide the client to understanding their ability to respond rather than react to their personal situations. Responding comes from viewing the multiple choices available in cognition and behaviour rather than just reacting habitually. Positive Psychology builds on two key principles from humanistic psychology: a non-mechanistic perspective and a view of possibility as opposed to pathology as the essential approach to the client. Humanistic psychology arose as a counterpoint to the view of Freudian psychology and Behaviourism that people could be viewed as controlled by unconscious and conditioned responses. Humanistic psychology arose to promote the emphasis on personal growth and the importance of beingness and the phenomenology of the human experience. Along with each revolution in psychology, a changing image of human nature has evolved along with greater insights into how to effectively work with people. As noted above, Wilber's Integral theory is adding to the holistic knowledge base upon which professional coaches can draw.

The birth of psychology

The field of psychology began as the investigation of consciousness and mental functions such as sensation and perception. *Webster's New World College Dictionary* (Indexed 4th edition) defines psychology as: (a) the science dealing with the mind and with mental and emotional processes; and (b) the science of human and animal behaviour'. Much of the early influence on psychology came from the philosophical tradition and early psychologists adopted the practice of introspection used by philosophers. The practice of introspection into one's desires, as well as noticing and observing behaviours, thoughts, and emotions are core practices for increasing client awareness and, as such, are cornerstones of a solid approach to coaching.

The growing body of coaching-related research greatly assists the profession in meeting this need to have evidence that what coaches do with their clients actually works. Coaches today have a rich resource of studies and published research that can inform their practice and help articulate the efficacy of what they offer to clients. As a context for this research, let's take a quick tour of the growth of psychology and how its major thinkers set the stage for the coaching revolution.

William James was the father of American psychology. James preferred ideas to laboratory results and is best known for his writings on consciousness and his view that humans can experience higher states of consciousness. He wrote on such diverse topics as functions of the brain, perception of space, psychic and paranormal faculties, religious ecstasy, will, attention, and habit.

The First Wave: Freudian Psychology

Sigmund Freud influenced the first force in psychology. While psychology in the US was struggling for an identity and striving for recognition by the scientific community, European psychology was being reshaped by the theories of Sigmund Freud. Freud created quite a stir in the medical community with his ideas and theories, but he finally gained acceptance in psychiatry with the 'talking cure' breakthrough - psychoanalysis. Some of Freud's followers went on to become well-known theorists as well most notably Carl Jung (e.g. archetypes, psychological types, individuation, active imagination and the shadow), Alfred Adler (e.g. the social self, compensation, and inferiority/superiority), and **Karen Horney** (e.g. a neo-Freudian view of neuroses, isolation and helplessness as the root of anxiety). Over the years, as more people worked with Freudian ideas, the practice of psychoanalysis became more refined and more effective.

Many American psychologists began to combat Freudian theories as another nonverifiable, subjective pseudo-science of the mind. What was happening in almost parallel times were two major attempts to explain what 'a piece of work is man' and to understand what would explain pathological behaviour and what would prevent or create change in aberrant behaviours - the focus though was primarily still on the negative, the pathology, and the problems of human life, not the positive drives that would come to be emphasised later in the 20th century, especially with the rise of the Humanistic theories and now in the 21st century the popularity of positive psychology (Seligman, 2002).

The Second Wave: Behaviourists

As Freudian thought was taking shape in Europe and the US, other theorists began to focus on measurable behaviour. Thus, the time was ripe for the emergence of Behaviourism as the second major force in psychology, a movement led by B.F. Skinner and John Watson. Hundreds of years previously, Shakespeare had commented, 'What a piece of work is man?' The Behaviourists took this literally and looked upon humans in the early 20th century as Homo mechanicus, an object to be studied as any machine. Homo mechanicus was a machine whose mind was ignored and instead the focus was on that arose via behaviours automatic processes, leaving the humanity out of the equation.

The Third Wave: Humanistic Psychology

In the 1950s, **Abraham Maslow** and **Carl Rogers** initiated the third force in psychology, Humanistic Psychology, which focused on the personal, ontological, and phenomenological aspects of human experience as opposed to the mechanistic and reductionist theories of Freudianism and Behaviourism. Rogers was more concerned with the 'fully functioning person' than he was with pathology. He believed that people needed love and acceptance from others in order to be fully functioning, and his work resulted in what came to be known as client-centred therapy. Likewise, Maslow was interested in how people find value and meaning in their lives, which resulted in his 'hierarchy of needs' model, and his use of the term self actualisation.

The Fourth Wave: Transpersonal Psychology

Transpersonal Psychology was originally a major theme in the writings of Roberto Assagioli, who spoke of transpersonal consciousness. There are many who believe that psychosynthesis actually represents a fifth force, but for the purposes of this presentation, it is included in transpersonal psychology. Abraham Maslow eventually posited the fourth force, Transpersonal Psychology, which included mind, body, and spirit. It delved into altered states of consciousness that were both naturally induced by esoteric spiritual practices such as meditation, chanting, dancing and chemically induced by LSD and other hallucinogens (as experienced and researched by Stanislov Grof, Timothy Leary, and Richard Alpert (aka Baba Ram Dass) as a way to explore the transpersonal realm. This research opened up our knowledge of the human mind and expanded our windows of perception and possibility.

Maslow suggested this new model when he designated the Humanistic approach as a third force. As he emphasised that humanistic psychology was a major development distinct from psychoanalysis and behaviourism, he also anticipated fourth and fifth forces, which he labelled 'Transpersonal' and 'Transhuman' (Goble, 1970). In recent years, Transpersonal Psychology has joined forces with Humanistic Psychology in studying states of consciousness, spirituality and positive aspects of human life. In fact when Positive Psychology emerged in the 1990s, it seemed that many had forgotten the early influences of these two schools of thought and their positive approaches to human understanding and change.

Major figures

So who were the major figures from these four forces in psychology and what do they bring to modern day coaching? What follows is a historical review of the influence of psychology and the theories that relate to coaching. Through works such as The Psychopathology of Everyday Life (1901), Sigmund Freud brought us the unconscious, transference, counter-transference, defense mechanisms, and resistance. His theories, although strongly pathology based, did allow the pursuit of our unconscious desires and unconscious mechanisms that influenced behaviour. Coaches, of course, today speak of the unconscious frequently, and probably often ask their clients to look inside or at least to be more aware of thoughts desires and motives just out of conscious awareness.

Carl Jung made many important contributions to the development and terminology of psychology, including the spiritual realm, symbolism, the relevance of ancient wisdom, archetypes, life reviews, synchronicity, transpersonal consciousness, stages of life, individuation, the shadow, and spiritual quests. Jung broke away from Freud in pursuing a more holistic, spiritual understanding of human motivation. He is quoted as saying 'who looks outside dreams...who looks inside awakens.' That is a powerful quote for coaching today. Jung's views were often called teleological and future driven. He became very much involved with what could clients learn from their life journey as they continued to create their desired future. A major theory that tracks well with coaching is his concept of individuation...the process of becoming whole and realising one's unique purpose and path.

Alfred Adler worked on social connections, humans as social beings, the importance of relationships, family of origin themes, significance and belonging, and lifestyle assessment. His exploration of the big question ('What if...?'), and the possibilities of 'acting as if' are techniques commonly used in coaching today. For coaches who work on issues related to social, corporate or family cultures with their clients, his theories of human nature are enlightening. He identified five key areas of influence on our everyday existence: social, love, self, work, and spiritual; and three life tasks as he called them: (1) love and sexual relationship; (2) relationship to work and occupation; and (3) relationship to others and the culture. Both he and Jung believed humans had a teleological pull, a pull to create a desired future - a view at the heart of what professional coaches work toward with their clients! Roberto Assagioli, the father of Psychosynthesis, wrote about our ability to synthesise our various aspects in order to function at higher levels of consciousness. He introduced such terms as subpersonalities, wisdom of the inner self, higher self, and the observing self. He would be considered in the Humanistic and Transpersonal camps.

Karen Horney was an early, influential feminist psychiatrist. Her key theories involved irrational beliefs, the need for security, early influences on rational-emotive theory, and modelling the goal of 'self-help.' She was a contemporary of Adler and an early influence on Carl Rogers. She was considered a theorist that supported humanistic psychology.

Fritz Perls, founder of Gestalt therapy, worked with personality problems involving the inner conflict between values and behaviour (desires), introducing terms such as *top dog and underdog*, and practices such as *polarity* (black-and-white thinking), *the empty chair technique*, and *awareness in the moment*. Gestalt theory also valued the whole-person experience of the client, including mind, emotions, physicality, and spirituality. Perls was influenced by Kurt Lewin's change theory and his work in figure-ground perspectives. He was a major influence in humanistic psychology and the holistic view of a person as an interaction of body, brain, and being and that unconscious thoughts and feelings manifested themselves in many ways that could be understood with present focused inquiry.

Carl Rogers developed a client-centred approach that suggested clients have the answers within them. He brought us the terms *unconditional positive regard* and *humanistic psychology* He championed the practice of listening, reflecting, and paraphrasing, and the value of silence and sacred space: and this influence carries over to coaching and its value for deep listening, co creating the coaching space, client-driven processes, and viewing coaching as a partner to clients in their exploration of desired change.

Abraham Maslow introduced his hierarchy of needs and values. He reflected on *being needs* versus *deficiency needs*, the higher self, and our transpersonal potential. He is considered the father of Humanistic Psychology and did much research into the process of self-actualisation. His theories apply well to positive psychology and coaching today leading toward an emphasis on *thriving* more than *surviving* or even just *striving*.

Virginia Satir can be seen as the mother of family therapy, as was experienced when I heard her say to those of us in attendance at Esalen Institute in 1970 that she could not explain the magic herself - she just did what she felt and intuited and let the family's issues surface in ways that she had fun with but also provoked deepening their awareness. She began to be called Columbus of family therapy because she did not arrive where she started to go and did not really know where she was when she got there. She believed that a healthy family affection, feelings, and love. She was well known for describing family roles, for example, the rescuer, the victim, or the placator that function to constrain relationships and interactions in

families. Her work, an early systemic look at relationships, has had a strong influence on coaching in the business context because many of the consultants at that time began to realise that her system theories and techniques for families were just as effective with dysfunctional work teams and managers. I personally used much of her techniques in my early executive coaching with executives at major corporations in the later 1980s and early 1990s.

Viktor Frankl developed Logotherapy out of his personal experience during World War II. Influenced by existential philosophy and his own existential crisis, Frankl wrote Man's Search for Meaning (1959) while in a Nazi prison camp and later published it from the notes he had made on scraps of paper. He is quoted as saying that the one freedom that could not be taken from him while in prison was his freedom to think, dream, and mentally create. Frankl introduced paradoxical intent into psychology - 'what you resist persists' or 'what you give energy to is what you manifest'. Coaches today use these same principles to assist their clients to focus on what they want and on creating desired outcomes. Frankl is cited today by many coaches as an exemplar of the importance of intention and the necessity of finding meaning in work and life.

Milton Erickson investigated hypnotherapy as well as languaging and the doublebinding of the client. From his work, coaches have learned to focus on possibility and look for the uncommon approach to change, including the use of evocative and powerful questions as well as creative requests that were made of clients. Erickson is the father of American hypnotherapy and, along with Gregory Bateson, an early influencer of Programming Neuro-Linguistic (NLP) created by Bandler and Grindler. They studied and recorded the techniques that made Erickson and Satir as well so creatively successful and masterful in a way that they did not even know what it was they did that created the magic, a framework that is used by many coaches.

Jeffrey Zeig and Bill O'Hanlon, students of Milton Erickson, introduced pattern interruption, the confusion technique, forced choice, assumption of the positive path, nontrance hypnosis, and unconscious competence. *Reframing* is another important coaching tool based in their work, used to help clients shift their view of a situation.

In the 1970s, solution-focused approaches emerged; they put less focus on the problem and instead focused their energy into discovering and highlighting what works.

Fernando Flores is a philosopher who took Austin and Searle's work (Solomon, 2001) on speech act theory and applied it to human interaction through conversations. One aspect of his legacy is among one of the most useful coaching tools, making requests...and is a legacy of his exploration of how language brings action into being. Flores was an early influence on Werner Erhard, and the EST training, which later became Landmark Education, programmes which influenced Thomas Leonard and his early curriculum at Coach University and Laura Whitworth and the curriculum of the Coaches Training Institute. Both Leonard and Whitworth worked closely with Werner Erhard in his organisation in the 1980s. Julio Ollala and James Flaherty, both early creators in the ontological coaching theories and practices, are important figures here as well greatly influenced by Flores.

Martin Seligman promotes Positive Psychology as a strength-based approach to human fulfillment. In doing so, Seligman brought new emphasis to principles from Humanistic Psychology in looking at positive and generative aspects for human living. Its consistent focus is on building and utilising strengths rather than weaknesses, and it can be applied to therapy as well as coaching and education. Seligman's work is highly useful to coaches and it is based in decades of research to back up the theories. Life coaching can certainly be viewed as applied positive psychology.

Conclusion

The core of the coaching profession is grounded in sound academic and scholarly theories that preceded coaching, and it will be strengthened by the validation of theories and evidence-based research as the profession moves forward. All the amazing tools that have grown out of modern psychology offer support to coaches in assisting clients to change as desired. As the recent emergence of Positive Psychology demonstrates and now as Coaching Psychology takes its place of influence new developments become available all the time.

The hallmarks of coaching are its synthesis of tools from other fields and its proclivity for innovation. With all the research going on today, coaching is developing its own evidence-based theories. It has borrowed from what has gone before, much as psychologists borrowed from philosophers. As coaching grows as a profession, it will develop its own research base of effective strategies and tools within the unique relationship that is the coaching alliance.

Coaching has arisen as a profession, I believe, because of the shortage of real listening in our society today and for the lack of true connection that many people experience. All of these factors arise from the socioeconomic conditions of rapid change, technology advances, and the instant availability of information. Carl Rogers said that counselling was like buying a friend; hiring a coach is similar. But, of course, it is much more than that. A coach is a partner who is hired to assist the client in going for greatness in any and all domains of their life. People may not always need a coach, but I believe they do deserve a coach. And like all true professions, there are different levels of mastery and competence.

In the context of my presentation on the influence of Humanistic and Transpersonal luminaries on the field of Coaching Psychology, I posited the importance of a whole person perspective: Mind, Body, Spirit (or Body, Brain and Being) and yet we must not forget the Social aspect of a holistic view of humanity and where coaching psychology can be effective.

In that vein, I founded a non-profit organisation in 2006 called Coaching the Global Village, and I end here with a personal perspective of where this fits in the landscape of what coaching can be in the world today!

Coaching Psychology plays an increasing important role in developing the profession of personal and business coaching. Coaching will survive because it is effective, it will thrive because it can be socially transformational, for us humans and the planet we inhabit.

References

- Adler, A. (1998). Understanding human nature (C. Brett, Trans.). Center City, MN: Hazelden.
- Adler, A. (1956). The individual psychology of Alfred Adler: A systematic presentation in selections from his writings (H.L. Ansbacher & R.R. Ansbacher, Eds.). New York: Basic.
- Albee, G.W. (1998). Fifty years of clinical psychology: Selling our soul to the devil. *Applied and Preventive Psychology*, 7, 189–194.
- Albee, G.W. (2000, February). The Boulder model's fatal flaw. *American Psychologist*, 55(2), 247–248.
- Allport, G. (1937). Personality: A psychological interpretation. New York: Holt.
- Allport, G. (1955). Becoming: Basic considerations for a psychology of personality. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Allport, G. (1961). *Pattern and growth in personality*. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Assagioli, R. (1965). Psychosynthesis: A manual of principles and techniques. New York: Hobbs, Dorman.
- Assagioli, R. (2000). Psychosynthesis: A collection of basic writings. Amherst, MA: Synthesis Center publishing
- Bandler, R. & Grinder, J. (1975). Patterns of the hypnotic techniques of Milton H. Erickson, M.D. Cupertino, CA: Meta.
- Berg, I.K. (1994). Family-based services: A solutionfocused approach. New York: Norton.
- Berg, I.K. & Szabo, P. (2005). Brief coaching for lasting solutions. New York: Norton
- Berne, E. (1996). Games people play: The basic handbook of transactional analysis. New York: Ballantine books
- Bugental, J.F.T. (1967). Challenges of humanistic psychology. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Correspondence Dr Patrick Williams

Department Chair of the Coaching Psychology Program, The International University of Professional Studies. Email: doccoach@bellsouth.net www.iups.edu

Founder, Institute of Life Coach Training. www.LifeCoachTraining.com

Website links

www.CoachingTheGlobalVillage.org

- Calvin, W.H. (2005). A brief history of the mind. London: Oxford University Press.
- de Shazer, S. (1985). *Keys to solution in brief therapy*. New York: Norton.
- de Shazer, S. (1988). Clues: Investigating solutions in brief therapy. New York: Norton.
- Dennett, D. (1991). *Consciousness explained*. Boston, MA: Little , Brown & Co.
- Erickson, M.H. (1990). Uncommon casebook: The complete clinical work of Milton H. Erickson (W.H. O'Hanlon & A.L. Hexum, Eds.). New York: Norton.
- Fadiman, J. & Frager, R. (1976). Personality and personal growth. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Harper & Row.
- Flaherty, K. (1998). Coaching: Evoking excellence in others. Burlington, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann
- Frankl, V. E. (1959). Man's search for meaning. New York: Pocket.
- Freud, S. (1965). New introductory lectures on psychoanalysis. New York: Norton.
- Freud, S. (1982). Basic works of Sigmund Freud (J. Strackey, Trans./Ed.). Franklin Center, PA: Franklin Library.
- Freud, S. (1971). *The psychopathology of everyday life.* New York: Norton.
- Gallwey, W.T. (2000). The inner game of work: focus learning, pleasure and mobility in the workplace. New York: Random House.
- Gilligan, C. (1993). In a different voice: Psychological theory and women's development. Cambridge, MA, Harvard University Press.
- Goble, F. (1965). The third force: The psychology of Abraham Maslow. New York: Harper & Row.

- Haley, J. (1986). Uncommon therapy: The psychiatric techniques of Milton H. Erickson. New York: W.W. Norton.
- Hart, V., Blattner, J. & Leipsic, S. (2001). Coaching versus Therapy: A perspective. *Consulting Psychology Journal*, 53(4), 229–237.
- Horney, K. (1950). *The collected works of Karen Horney* (2 vols.). New York: Norton Books
- Horney, K. (1980). The adolescent diaries of Karen Horney. New York: Basic.
- Hudson, F. (1999). The handbook of coaching: A comprehensive resource guide for managers, executives, consultants, and HR. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hudson, F. (1999). *The adult years*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- James, W. (1994). The varieties of religious experience: A study in human nature. New York: Random House.
- James, W. (1983). *The principles of psychology*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Jourard, S.M. (1974). Healthy personality. An approach from the viewpoint of humanistic psychology. New York: Macmillan.
- Jung, C.G. (1964). *Man and his symbols*. Garden City, NY: Doubleday
- Jung, C.G. (1933). Modern man in search of a soul. London: Trubner.
- Jung, C.G. (1953). The collected works of C.G. Jung (H. Read, M. Fordham & G. Adler, Eds.). New York: Pantheon.
- Jung, C.G. (1970). Civilisation in transition (R.F.C. Hull, Trans.). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Jung, C.G. (1976). *The portable Jung* (J. Campbell, Ed.; R.F.C. Hull, Trans.). New York: Penguin.
- Kegan, R. (1982). The evolving self: Problems and process in human development. Cambridge, MA, Harvard University Press
- Maslow, A. (1954). *Motivation and personality*. New York: Harper.
- Maslow, A. (1962). *Toward a psychology of being*. Princeton, NJ: Van Nostrand.
- Maslow, A. (1993). Farther reaches of human nature. New York: Arkana.
- May, R. (1953). Man's search for himself. New York: Norton.
- May, R. (1975). The courage to create. New York: Norton.
- May, R. (1979). *Psychology and the human dilemma*. New York: Norton.
- O'Hanlon, B. (1999a). Guide to possibility land. New York: Norton.
- O'Hanlon, B. (1999b). Do one thing different. New York: Morrow.
- O'Hanlon, B. & Martin, M. (1992). Solution-oriented hypnosis: An Ericksonian approach. New York: Norton.

- O'Hanlon, B. (2006). Change 101: A practical guide to creating change in life or therapy. New York: Norton Books.
- Perls, F.S. (1966). Ego, hunger and aggression: A revision of Freud's theory and method. San Francisco: Orbit Graphics Arts.
- Perls, F.S. (1973). The Gestalt approach and eye witness to therapy. Ben Lomond, CA: Science & Behaviour.
- Perls, F.S. (1969). *Gestalt therapy verbatim*. Lafayette, CA: Real People Press.
- Prochaska, J.O., Norcross, J.C. & DiClemente, C.C. (1994). Changing for good: A revolutionary six-stage programme for overcoming bad habits and moving your life forward. New York: Harper Collins
- Rogers, C. (1951). *Client-centred therapy*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Rogers, C. (1989). On becoming a person: A therapist's view of psychotherapy. New York: Houghton Mifflan.
- Satir, V. (1964). Conjoint family therapy: A guide to therapy and techniques. Palo Alto, CA: Science & Behaviour.
- Satir, V. (1976). *Making contact.* Millbrae, CA: Celestial Arts.
- Satir, V. (1991). Satir model: Family therapy and beyond. Palo Alto: Science & Behaviour.
- Satir, V. & Baldwin, M. (1983). Step-by-step: A guide to creating change in families. Palo Alto, CA: Science & Behaviour.
- Seligman, M.E.P. (2002). Authentic happiness: Using the new positive psychology to realise your potential for lasting fulfillment. New York: Free Press.
- Skinner, B.F. (1976). About behaviourism. New York: Vintage Books.
- Solomon, R.C. & Flores, F. (2001). Building trust: In business, politics, relationships, and life. New York: Harper Collins.
- Stober, D. & Grant, A.M. (Eds.) (2006). *Evidenced* based coaching handbook. New York: Wiley.
- Watson, J. (1913) Psychology as the behaviourist views it. Psychological Review, 20, 158-177.
- Whitmore, J. (1995). *Coaching for performance*. Sonoma, CA: Nicholas Brealey.
- Wilber. K (2000). Integral psychology: Consciousness, spirit, psychology, therapy. Boston, MA: Shambhala Publications.
- Williams, P. (1980). Transpersonal psychology: An introductory guidebook. Greeley, CO: Lutey.
- Williams, P. (1997). Telephone coaching for cash draws new client market. *Practice Strategies*, 2, 11.
- Williams, P. (1999). The therapist as personal coach: Reclaiming your soul! *The Independent Practitioner*, 19(4), 204–207.
- Williams, P. (2000a, July). Practice building: The coaching phenomenon marches on. *Psychotherapy Finances*, 26(315), 1–2.
- Williams, P. (2000b, June). Personal coaching's evolution from therapy. *Consulting Today* (Special issue), 4.

Patrick Williams

- Williams, P. & Davis, D. (2007). Therapist as life coach: An introduction for counsellors and other helping professionals (Revised and expanded edition). New York, W.W. Norton.
- Williams, P. & Thomas L. (2005). Total life coaching: 50+ Life lessons, skills, and techniques to enhance your practice and your life. New York: Norton.
- Williams, P. & Menendez, D. (2007). Becoming a professional life coach: Lessons from the Institute for Life Coach Training. New York: Norton.
- Zieg, J.K. (1994). Ericksonian methods: The essence of the story. New York: Brunner/Mazel.

Editorial Michael Cavanagh & Stephen Palmer

ESEARCHERS in biology and natural systems tell us that one measure of the health of a system is the diversity it is able to sustain (Cardinale et al., 2012). Indeed, diversity is not just a 'nice to have', but a sine qua non of sustainability in any system. While diversity brings with it tension, it is also the vehicle by which new information, energy, and innovation is created. The field of coaching and coaching psychology is no exception to this rule. It was this understanding that inspired the successful 'Debate' section of this publication (started in 2011 and to be continued in future issues). It is also the thinking is behind a new section that is commencing in this issue -'Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology'.

In this section we are looking to publish work that is applicable to coaching, but which has its foundation in disciplines outside coaching and coaching psychology proper. This may include work that is grounded in the wider field of psychology, or indeed work that emanates from disciplines far removed from psychology.

We have two excellent articles to kick off the 'Cross-disciplinary perspectives' section. The first, by Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osborne and David Lane, looks at the issue of trauma in people's lives and its relation to coaching. It is often said that coaching deal with healthy populations – though for some time a range of research suggests this is not always the case (see Cavanagh, 2005; Spence & Grant, 2005; Green, Oades & Grant, 2007). Tehrani and her colleagues suggest that coaches need to be cogniscent of the signs and symptoms of trauma, so that they can deal effectively with clients for whom past or present trauma is an issue. In their very informative paper they provide tips and guidelines for supporting, and referring clients suffering from trauma, and for self care on the part of the coach.

In the second article launching this new section, Maria Gardiner and Hugh Kearns draw on their work in helping professionals kick start their writing for academic, professional and general audiences. Drawing from the therapeutic literature and their work on the psychology of writing, they suggest that cognitive behavioural coaching may be a useful intervention to help academics and other clients commence and sustain high quality, high quantity writing.

Both of these articles bring new understandings and knowledge from the wider field of applied psychology, and we welcome them as contributing to the knowledge base in coaching. We would also welcome future contributions, drawn from areas even further afield, that are able to inform the coaching process. After all, the capacity to engage with a wide range of perspectives in the service of valued outcomes is at the heart of the coaching project, and the heart of professional coaching psychology.

Michael Cavanagh & Stephen Palmer

References

- Cardinale et al. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature, 486,* 59–67.
- Cavanagh, M.J. (2005). Mental health issues and challenging clients in executive coaching. In M.J. Cavanagh, A.M. Grant & T. Kemp (Eds.), Evidence-based coaching: 1. Theory, research and practice from the behavioural sciences (pp.21–36). Brisbane: Australian Academic Press.
- Green, L.S., Oades, L.G. & Grant, A.M (2006) Cognitive-behavioural, solution-focused life coaching: Enhancing goal striving, well-being, and hope. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(3), 142–149.
- Spence, G.B. & Grant, A.M. (2005) Individual and Group Life Coaching: Initial findings from a randomised, controlled trial. In M.J. Cavanagh, A.M. Grant & T. Kemp, (Eds.), Evidence-based coaching, Vol 1: Theory, research and practice from the behavioural sciences (pp.143–158) Bowen Hills, Queensland: Australian Academic Press.

Restoring meaning and wholeness – the role for coaching after a trauma

Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osborne & David Lane

Trauma affects most people at some time in their lives, even where a traumatic event occurred a long time in the past, it may be reactivated by another event in life. Coaches, need to be aware of the signs and symptoms of trauma so that, if they choose they can work with it to provide appropriate support and direction for their clients. This article gives an outline of trauma, helps coaches to see where their skills may be helpful, provides guidance on when to refer on to a trauma therapist and gives some hints on how to prevent secondary trauma and compassion fatigue. There are some ideas for finding out more about training which would be suitable for coaches in this important work.

Keywords: Psychological trauma; coaching; competence; training.

Trauma is everywhere!

XAMINING the epidemiology of traumatic incidence it soon becomes clear • that trauma is all around us all of the time. Even the most extreme forms of trauma which meet the criterion required as a prerequisite for a diagnosis of Post-traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) are not uncommon. Breslau (1998) reported on the lifetime prevalence of traumatic exposures in a national survey and found that 61 per cent of men and 59 per cent of women had experienced a traumatic event ranging from rape, sexual assault, war, accidents, threatened with a weapon, physical attack, being shot or stabbed or dealing with an unexpected death. Despite the incidence of traumatic events, around a quarter of people exposed experience an acute or longer term response with most of these symptoms being resolved within two years. As you read this paper, you may be able to think back to events in your own life during which you felt that your life or well-being was in danger, you observed a horrific event or suffered a personal attack. Biomedical researchers are recognising that childhood events have long term impacts in terms of mental, physical and emotional health. Incidents of maltreatment of various types in childhood are also high with up to one in four children being affected. (Lanius et al., 2010; NSPCC, 2012).

The workplace can also be a dangerous place with some workers being affected by personal traumas such as industrial accidents, violence or bullying or they may be exposed to the trauma of others through their role of nurse, social worker, police officer, ambulance or fire & rescue personnel (Tehrani, 2004, 2012). The sudden death of a much loved colleague or the slow demise of a close friend from cancer can be traumatic due to the nature of the relationships which build up in the workplace.

Coaches work with a wide range of clients, whilst it may be obvious that some have come to coaching as a result of a distressing event such as a redundancy, bullying, conflict or relationship breakdown. However, it is sometimes the case that the underpinning issue is trauma related and at these times it would be valuable for coaches to have some understanding of traumatic stress and how it is similar to and different from everyday stresses and strains of life.

What is psychological trauma?

Perhaps the easiest way to understand traumatic stress is to look at it from an evolutionary and biological perspective. This

approach is relatively easy to understand and largely eliminates the suggestion that people who become traumatised are somehow weak or inferior to those who can withstand a traumatic exposure (Figure 1 shows the main areas of the brain involved in the trauma response). During a traumatic exposure the person is faced by a situation which overwhelms their normal coping mechanisms alerting their amygdala (trauma centre) to the features of the traumatising event. The amygdala is a primitive part of the brain and is highly sensitive to danger. Unfortunately, the amygdala has no language and is unable to discriminate between things that are dangerous from those that are merely associated with a danger. For example, a bank clerk held up by a raider wearing a leather jacket may become upset of fearful of anyone wearing leather jackets. The role of the amygdala is to trigger the arousal system to respond to danger, a task which it can fulfil in a fraction of the time that would be

required by higher centres in the brain, this clearly has an advantage in a traumatic situation where there is no time to think. The amygdala's holds a range of trauma templates created throughout life, some templates relate to real dangers and are helpful others involve random features of traumatic events which were not in themselves dangerous but cause anxiety, distress or fear. The activation of these templates often causes panic attacks or phobic responses. The brain has a mechanism to prevent the amygdala taking over at the time of a traumatic exposure; metaphorically this is like a fuse which blows between the amygdala and the hippocampus. The later has the role of creating new memories. When the 'fuse' blows there is a tendency to feel emotionally detached from the traumatic event. People often describe this as feeling as if they are watching a film or being on automatic pilot.

Figure 1: The brain's response to trauma.



Most people recover from a traumatic exposure providing they have an opportunity to reflect and make sense of their experience and are able to recognise that some of their symptoms may be related to the amygdala trying to 'communicate its anxiety' by creating flashbacks, dreams or illusions from the trauma templates or by setting off the arousal system when faced with any sensory feature of the trauma.

When are coaches competent to help people who have gone through a traumatic event?

In some ways coaches may be in a better position to assist someone who has gone through a traumatic event than some counsellors. Allowing time for the person to tell their story without the need to challenge or explore the emotional responses is an important skill for the trauma support worker. We need to recognise that coaching psychologists often have competence in other areas. They may be clinical or counselling psychologists as well as coaches. Here we are addressing the role that non-clinically qualified coaching psychologists might play. Table 1 shows the different skills and activities involved in dealing with a traumatised client.

The safe and effective process for dealing with a traumatised client is quite structured and involves going through what has happened in a safe and structured way, concentrating on factual and sensory information rather than the thoughts and emotional responses (Hawker et al., 2011).

The aim is to act as a psychological first aider where there is an opportunity to acknowledge and gain closure to traumatic experiences rather than opening up other possibilities which can overwhelm. A trauma supporter will accept the story and impressions of their client rather than challenging their recollection and provide the client with opportunities to dictate the speed and content of what they wish to describe. Unlike counselling which generally will not include providing information or advice trauma support requires the supporter to provide information, education and exercises to help reduce the trauma symptoms. While some coaching psychologists reject an advice giving role for others it makes sense when appropriate to the client. This is one of those occasions.

It is important for the coach to recognise the limits to their knowledge and competence in dealing with some of the deeper issues which may be present in a client experiencing significant levels of trauma symptoms or where the traumatic events are complex or go back to early life abuse or losses. Coaches should also recognise that in order for them to work effectively with a client there has to be a reasonable level of self-awareness and willingness to work on those activities which will reduce their anxiety and levels of arousal. Social support is extremely important to someone experiencing trauma symptoms; research has shown that where a trauma victim has the support of their family, colleagues or friends they have a much better chance of recovery

Trauma Support Coaching	Counselling
Structured	 Generally less structured
Closing down	Opening up
Acceptance	Challenging
Limited focus	Wide focus
Client control	 Client risk taking
 Information provided 	 Non-advisory

Table 1: Difference between Trauma Support Coaching and Counselling.

(Bryant & Harvey, 2000). Coaches dealing with a traumatised client would, therefore, need to be mindful of the need to encourage the building or re-establishment of social networks and support.

What help can coaches provide?

When working with a traumatic event it is important to concentrate on the issue that has been raised by the client. Whilst there may be parallel issues or other factors it is not helpful to try to deal with everything that has a resonance with the issue of concern. For example, if a client was involved in a car crash it is important to focus on the features of the crash and not explore other times when the client may have feared for his or her life or felt out of control. Whilst in therapy it may be appropriate to explore the significance of the date, people involved or meaning of the crash or early life experiences and attachments, this is not helpful to a traumatised person who need to deal with the trauma in a more straight forward way.

Processing trauma memories, particularly when these memories are difficult to access as they have become embedded in the amygdala in a sensory rather than verbal form can be a slow process. Teaching clients relaxation skills to help them remain calm during the retelling of their experience is helpful but may take time. The amygdala does not release the sensory memories to the conscious awareness on demand, sometimes waiting for opportunities to disclose the encrypted fear in flashbacks, nightmares, recurrent thoughts and behaviours. For a traumatised client these re-experiences of the traumatic event are regard as frightening symptoms of a trauma disorder rather than the key to help them regaining wellbeing. Coaching clients need to recognise accept these post trauma responses as natural outcomes of their experience. This takes away fear and allows the meaning of the traumatic event to be created.

A common feature of post-trauma behaviour is the avoidance of all reminders of the traumatic event. This avoidance

behaviour is a natural outcome of the anxiety or panic created by exposure to the reminder. For many victims of traumatic exposure this can develop into phobias which can become generalised to restrict many areas of life. Although this trauma initiated phobic process begins with a preconscious recognition of a danger which creates the avoidance behaviour, there is often an accompanying self-deprecating trauma thought or belief (Foa et al., 1999). By understanding the trauma response and the role of the post-trauma cognitions the coach can begin to help their client to challenge this irrational thinking and address the anxiety, panic and phobic responses.

Although much of the emphasis in trauma psychology has been on the negative impact, there is an increasing body of evidence to demonstrate that trauma can lead to personal growth (Joseph, 2009). Within many coaches toolkits are the skills to undertake skills assessments (Linley & Minhas, 2011), these skills enable their clients to become aware of their inherent abilities and strengths which may be tapped. This can help to create new learning and empowerment which can result in the posttrauma self growing as a result of their sensemaking of their distressing experience.

How can their 'coaching skills' help provide support?

Coaching can be a process for supporting clients to achieve a valued goal or objective. Coaches, therefore, employ a range of skills all of which are useful when dealing with a traumatised client. Table 2 highlights some of the skills and shows how they can be used in dealing with a traumatic memory.

When do coaches need to pass cases to a trauma therapist/GP?

Some victims of trauma may not be suitable for coaching as they require a much more indepth psychotherapeutic approach to help them deal with their traumatic experience. It is important to undertake an assessment prior to coaching to see if the traumatic

Coaching Skill	Description	Example
Goal setting	Coaches need to be able to identify clear and well defined goals.	Traumatised people find it hard to focus on the future, the use of SMART goals gives a direction and sense of a future which can be influenced.
Reframing	Taking perceived problems and presenting the problem in a different light/framework.	The reframing for a client who is nervous about meeting people 'That is really interesting – your reactions are helping you to think about how to deal with this meeting in a different way!
Observing	Being aware of body language and having an intuitive sense.	Body language in people who have experienced trauma gives an insight to their inner experiences. Watch their posture, expression, skin tone and movements to help you understand.
Active listening	Active listening which includes, open and closed questions, paraphrase and summary help to get into the clients world.	A traumatised person can find the experience of being listened and responded to accurately and non- judgementally extremely helpful in the process of teasing out pre-conscious trauma memories from the Amygdala.
Empathy	The ability to get into the trauma victim's world and to respond accurately to their experiences.	Empathy helps clients to feel less isolated and alone. There are some dangers for the coach in becoming emotionally empathetic as this can lead to burnout or compassion fatigue.
Immediacy	Providing clear and specific feedback on the clients actions and responses in the session.	This skill is used to test out hunches and intuition as well as to provide positive feedback on achievement. The feedback should be observational and non-judgemental.
Respect	Checking out how the client is feeling and what they want shows respect and also gives the client some control over the session.	For many victims of trauma control has been taken away. Showing respect and consideration gives back control and enables them to decide on how they would like to work with their coach.
Supporting change	Making sure that targets are manageable, efforts are rewarded and support is available.	Change is not easy for anyone, even more so for a trauma victim. Building in rewards, acknowledgement of effort and believing in your client's ability to recover is essential.

Table 2: Coaching skills and post-trauma support.

Domain	Coaching Psychologist	Trauma Psychologist	Psychiatry
Intention	Increase potential to achieve post-trauma growth.	Identify and remove blocks to psychological well-being.	Diagnose and treat psycho-pathology.
Underpinning beliefs	People can learn skills to deal with issues/ situations through systematic engagement and reinforcement.	People are resourceful and given support will solve their problems and achieve their goals.	Some mental conditions are caused by underlying medical or psychiatric malfunctions and need treatment.
Benefits	Forward looking in Increasing the range of skills and abilities based on the needs of the individual.	Recognises and addresses patterns of behaviour which may get in way of achieving goals.	Can identify and treat psychiatric disorders which may contribute to unwanted symptoms or behaviours.
Disadvantages	Most coaching models do not deal with the complexity of trauma. Coaches may not recognise the psychological/ psychiatric problems.	Some trauma psychologists may not pay attention to organisational issues or be aware of the personal skills required to deal with trauma responses.	Psychiatrists may adopt a medical model approach, ignoring the impact of the traumatic event or other social issues.
When appropriate	When there is an openness to explore and self-awareness and an ability to accept some responsibility for actions.	Where there are some unresolved issues from the past which may be getting in the way of positive solutions and personal growth.	Where the underlying problem is relates to a psychiatric disorder which has caused or been caused by the trauma.

T A T		о I Т	D I I I I	
Table 3. Trauma sur	oport available from a	a (oach Trauma	Psychologists and	d Psychiatrist
rubic of fruumu sup	sport available rioni t	a coucily maania	i i sychologists un	a i sycillati isti

memories and responses require a more approach. Recognising specialist the features of acute stress, anxiety, depression, traumatic stress and dissociation and making an appropriate referral will help the client to get the most effective support. Coaches should also monitor their clients and identify where, despite their best intentions the trauma symptoms begin to increase or where there are other concerning features such as substance abuse, self harming or dissociation. For most people there should be an improvement within a month, coaches should consider referring a client to a trauma psychologist or their GP if there is no

obvious improvement within a relatively short period. Table 3 provides an indication of the help that can be provided by coaches, trauma psychologists and psychiatrists.

Importance of supervision when coaching traumatised clients?

While it is recognised that supervision is important for coaches (Carroll, 2006) it is not fully understood or used by some coaches. (Lane,2011) Working with trauma, perhaps more than any other form of coaching requires the coach to be supervised by someone aware of the dangers in undertaking this kind of work. It is likely that this will be a coaching supervisor with qualifications in clinical or counselling psychology (McNabb, 2011). As coaches listen to the accounts of their clients empathetic links are created to the trauma stories to such an extent that the coach may begin to have thoughts, dreams or experiences similar to those of their client (Figley, 2002; Morrissette, 2004). The development of secondary trauma, compassion fatigue and burnout are clear signs of the coach becoming vicariously affected by their work with trauma. (Taylor & Lane, 1990). Before engaging in this kind of work with coaches should find a coaching supervisor who is qualified in clinical or counselling psychology and has experience in dealing with trauma. However, the coach should also take personal responsibility for themselves and their need to build their emotional resilience and emotional resources. They need to be sure that they do not have any unresolved or ongoing traumas and that they have a well-balanced lifestyle with a wide range of social support. When selecting a supervisor coaches need to ensure that the supervisor is prepared to:

- Assess whether you have the personal characteristics and personal strengths to engage in the work.
- Identify and deal with signs of emotional distress and to explore these during supervision.
- Recognise and handle parallel process, transference and countertransference played out in the relational dynamics of the supervision.
- Help you to build a range of personal coping strategies and networks.
- Debrief particularly difficult or distressing stories.
- Reward successes and recognise good work.
- To tell you when they feel a case needs to be referred on for trauma therapy.

Is there any training available for coaches wanting to work with trauma?

In the medical field there are long established specialities in dealing with physical

aspects of trauma. Ongoing training and Masters degrees exist. There is no coach specific training available. However, there are now a number of programmes which enable coaches and coaching psychologists to develop their skills in this area. Short-term courses in the UK include those in PTSD from a CBT perspective through the Centre for Coaching and one-day workshops through Noreen Tehrani Associates. There are also now Masters degrees on offer from the universities in Chester and Nottingham and a joint Masters between Noreen Tehranai Associates, Professional Development Foundation and Middlesex University. It is worth coaches searching for traumarelated courses as more are becoming available. In Australia there is widespread interest in the field including training in working with refugees, soldiers, fire-fighters on managing the psychological stress involved. Again these are emerging all the time and it is worth searching. Some university curricula in Australia also include courses on PTSD and Crisis Intervention. However, as for the UK those specific to coaching or coaching psychology are harder to find.

Coaching psychologists looking to develop their skills in this area will need to seek training alongside colleagues in sister disciplines.

In conclusion

There is a role for coaching psychologists to facilitate recovering a sense of wholeness and meaning following traumatic events. The role is not psychotherapeutic but one of providing a structured support process. This is an area in which the skills that are developed within a coaching process add value to a client seeking to come to terms with such events. It is important to recognise the boundary issues and the benefits and disadvantages of a coaching offer as outlined but we believe that this is an area to which coaching psychology can increasingly make a contribution.

The Authors

Noreen Tehrani, PhD

Dean of Faculty of Applied Trauma Psychology, Professional Development Foundation & Noreen Tehrani Associates Ltd. Email: ntehrani@btinternet,com www.noreentehrani.com

Diana Osborne

Email: diana.osborne@pdf.net

Professor David A. Lane

Professional Development Foundation. Email: David.Lane@pdf.net www.pdf.net

References

- Breslau, N. (1989). Epidemiology of trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder. In R. Yehuda (Ed.), *Psychological trauma* (pp.1–29). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Bryant, R.A. & Harvey, A.G. (2000). How to diagnose acute stress disorder. In R.A. Bryant & A.G. Harvey, Acute stress disorder: A handbook of theory, assessment and practice (pp.43–58). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Carroll, M. (2006) Key issues in coaching psychology supervision. The Coaching Psychologist, 2(1), 4–8.
- Figley, C.R. (2002). *Treating compassion fatigue*. New York: Brunner-Routledge.
- Foa, E.B., Ehlers, A., Clark, D.M., Tolin, D.F. & Orsillo, S.M. (1999). The Post-traumatic Cognitions Inventory (PTCI): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 11(3), 303–314.
- Hawker, D.M., Durkin, J. & Hawker, D.S.J. (2011). To debrief or not to debrief our heroes: That is the question. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 18(6), 453–463.
- Joseph, S. (2009) Growth following adversity: Positive psychological perspectives on post-traumatic growth. *Psychological Topics*, 18(2) 335–344.

Correspondence Noreen Tehrani, PhD Email: ntehrani@btinternet,com

- Lane, D. (2011). Ethics and professional standards in superviso. In T. Bachkirova, P. Jackson & D. Clutterbuck (Eds.), *Coaching and mentoring supervision: Theory and practice* (pp.91–107). Maidenhead, Open University Press
- Lanius, R.A., Vermetten, E. & Pain, C. (2010). The impact of early life trauma on health and disease: The hidden epidemic. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Linley, P.A. & Minhas, G. (2011). The strengths of the strengthspotter: Individual characteristics associated with the identification of strengths in others, *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 6(1) 6–15.
- Morrissette, P.J. (2004). The pain of helping: psychological injury of helping professionals. New York: Brunner-Routledge.
- NSPCC (2012). Prevalence and incidence of child abuse and neglect – key child protection statistics. Downloaded 2 May 2012, from: www.nspcc.org.uk/Inform/research/statistics/ prevalence_and_incidence_of_child_abuse_ and_neglect_wda48740.html
- Taylor, A.J.W. & Lane, D.A. (Eds.) (1991). Psychological aspects of disaster: Issues for the 1990s. British Journal of Guidance and Counselling, Special Issue, 19(1).
Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology

The ABCDE of Writing: Coaching high-quality high-quantity writing

Maria Gardiner¹ & Hugh Kearns²

Coaching has been used for many purposes, and the scholarly literature demonstrates its efficacy in improving performance and well-being. However, to date, there has been no specific literature about coaching as a tool to increase the quality and quantity of writing in adult writers. We argue that writing is a significant component on many professional people's working life (e.g. academics or PhD students), and as such, success in this area can have a major impact on career progression. The foundation of cognitive behavioural coaching, the ABCDE model, provides the basis for a discussion about how to coach high-quality, high-quantity writing. In this article we discuss what aspects of writing are most likely to give rise to unhelpful beliefs and consequences. Using evidence from the scholarly literature on writing, inaccurate beliefs are disputed and more effective behaviours are suggested. The authors conclude that there is much to be gained from coaches having a specific understanding of the psychology of writing, as successful writing may make the difference between people's careers flourishing or stagnating. **Keywords:** Cognitive behavioural coaching; Academics; PhD students; Coaching psychology; Writing productivity

OACHES work with coachee's on many aspects of the latter's career, for ✓ example, the team, performance or effectiveness. One aspect not often specifically singled out in coaching is writing. Yet, for the vast majority of coachees (and often for the coaches) who work in professional roles, writing is a core element of their job (National Commission on Writing, 2004). If the coachee is a student, perhaps completing a research higher degree such as a PhD, or an academic, they will be unable to succeed in their jobs unless they are productive writers. Despite the importance of writing in education and careers, very little is known about the internal psychology of writing. Although there are many courses, books and so on about writing, it is generally assumed that people will somehow work out how to manage themselves to write productively and well. Most of these courses and books are about the mechanics of writing, such as how not to split one's infinitives. In the scholarly

literature, the majority of research and comment focuses on a developmental or competency approach to writing (e.g. Camp, 2012; Grigorenko et al., 2012). There is also substantial scholarly literature on improving writing skills, of which the vast majority tends to take a very behavioural- and skills-based approach, which is largely driven by the developmental literature (e.g. Kellogg, 2009; Martinez et al., 2011; Porritt et al., 2006). While these approaches have been shown to be of some use to writers, we claim that without reference to the internal psychological world or belief systems of the writer, such behavioural approaches may be less effective (cf. Boice, 1985; Wellington, 2010).

As such, there has been little focus on how writers can use an understanding of themselves and their beliefs to improve their writing. A recent commentary on this topic published in the leading science journal *Nature* (Gardiner & Kearns, 2011) was the most-read piece in the journal during the

² School of Psychiatry, Flinders University, Co-Director, ThinkWell.

¹ School of Psychology, Flinders University, Co-Director, ThinkWell.

week the journal was released. This indicates that, despite the deficiency in academic application to the internal world of the writer, there is clearly a great deal of interest in the topic. The interest from the writers themselves stems largely from the productivity to be gained from understanding the internal processes involved in high-quality high-quantity writing. As will be demonstrated, many of the beliefs and consequent behaviours in which people engage directly affect the quality and quantity of their writing. Using evidence-based principles to change beliefs and behaviours as a way to improve performance has mostly been the domain of coaching psychology. Coaching psychology has demonstrated reliable improvements in both performance and affect (e.g. see Grant, Cavanagh et al. [2010] for a discussion on the achievements of coaching research). As such, coaching psychology is an ideal methodology to apply to writing productivity and quality, for both our own jobs and those of our coachees.

Coaching psychology and writing

There has been a significant increase in the evidence base for coaching psychology, as demonstrated by the increase in the number of publications in recent years (see Grant [2011] for an annotated bibliography that shows this increase). More than half of the scholarly publications in coaching have appeared in the last 10 years. General conclusions are now being made about some of the psychological and behavioural impacts of coaching (Grant & Cavanagh, 2011; Spence & Grant, 2011). The majority of coaching practice involves coachees in executive or business roles, and research supports the efficacy of coaching in these settings (Passmore & Fillery-Travis, 2011). These research studies have focused on performance within business or commercial environments. Stern (2004) notes that executive coaching focuses on enhancing the executive's abilities and potential, particularly as regards leadership and organisational outcomes. However, many people work or study in highly demanding

roles with limited traditional leadership or commercial responsibilities. Often, the centrepiece of such a role is writing of some description. For example, academics, PhD students and professionals who must write reports and other documents. To date, there has been little in the coaching literature to guide the coach working with such clients. Grant, Green et al. (2010) make this point in the first randomised controlled trial (RCT) examining coaching in an educational setting.

Many professional coaches and consultants now have considerable experience in conducting executive and leadership coaching engagements in commercial and organisational settings. Such experiences have much to offer the broader social enterprise, including the educational sector. We encourage executive coaches and consultants to extend their research and practice and look for new applications in such areas, and in doing so to continue to further contribute to society's development and well-being. (p.165)

The aim of this paper is to attempt to highlight and contribute to redressing this situation.

Evidence-based coaching psychology

Despite some mixed findings, a number of quasi-experimental studies have shown a variety of positive outcomes for coaching. For example, Gyllensten and Palmer (2005) found that workplace coaching reduced some aspects of strain (anxiety and stress) in a coaching group compared with a control group. Kochanowski et al. (2010) found that the participants in a feedback and coaching group had higher levels of collaboration compared with a feedback-only control group. Evers et al. (2006) found that managers who received coaching increased their self-efficacy beliefs in relation to setting their own goals and expectations about acting in a balanced way. Similarly, Leonard-Cross (2010) found that participants who had received coaching had higher levels of selfefficacy compared with those who had not received coaching. In a within-subject singlecase study design, Libri and Kemp (2006) found that an executive was able to improve his sales performance, self-evaluation and global self-ratings of performance after participating in an executive coaching programme. Although these studies do not relate to writing *per se*, they demonstrate the efficacy of coaching as a change methodology.

While the quasi-experimental studies show some support for coaching psychology, RCTs provide a higher level of rigour and, therefore, allow for more robust conclusions about the efficacy of coaching. Of the 15 between-subject outcome studies that exist in the coaching literature, 11 utilised a randomised controlled design and largely support the efficacy of coaching psychology (see Grant & Cavanagh [2011] for a list these studies). For example, Taylor (1997) found that coaching was more effective than training for reducing stress in medical students preparing for exams. Miller et al. (2004) found that coaching, together with feedback, was more successful than training style interventions in improving the interviewing skills of mental-health workers. Gattellari et al. (2005) found that GPs made better clinical decisions about a screening test after they had been coached by peers, relative to a control group. Spence et al. (2008) found that coaching and mindfulness training led to better goal attainment than did health education alone. Grant (2002) found that combined cognitive and behavioural training was more effective at improving performance and mental health over a 12-month period than either cognitive or behavioural coaching alone. Green et al. (2006) found that solution-focused (as opposed to problem-focused) coaching increased goal attainment and well-being, with gains maintained at 30-week follow-up, and (Spence & Grant, 2007) found that solution-focused cognitive behavioural coaching) more effectively increased goal commitment and goal attainment than did peer coaching. More recently, in the first RCT involving executive coaching, Grant et al. (2009) found that solution-focused CBC improved goal attainment, resilience and well-being, and reduced depression and stress. Again, despite these studies having limited reference to writing specifically, they do provide a high level of support for the ability of coaching psychology to assist people to change.

In a high-school setting, a setting more similar to the non-commercial or non-leadership environment under discussion in this paper, Grant, Green et al. (2010) found that teachers who underwent cognitive behavioural solution-focused coaching had higher levels of goal attainment, workplace well-being and resilience, and lower levels of stress, when compared with the control group. Although this was the first RCT to focus on the impact of coaching on goal attainment and well-being in an education setting and outside the commercial organisational settings observed in executivecoaching studies, there was no focus on specific aspects of the non-commercial setting, such as writing.

In summary, all of the RCTs conducted to date that have utilised a goal-focused or solution-focused coaching approach support the efficacy of coaching across a wide variety of outcomes (ranging from goal attainment to well-being, mental health and hardiness) and over an extended period. It would be reasonable to conclude that these findings would extend to a job-related activity such as writing.

Although writing is not directly related to profitability or team management, writing is an integral part of many people's jobs that could benefit from coaching. Recently, Vitae, the body responsible for the support and development of researchers and doctoral students across the UK, released the report Coaching for Research in UK Higher Education Institutions (2012). The report concluded that coaching was a promising methodology for achieving sustainable research careers. Given that one of the biggest predictors of career success for these groups is the ability produce high-quality high-quantity to writing, focusing coaching specifically on

writing, is likely to provide much benefit. Therefore, this current paper attempts to apply existing knowledge about coaching to writing. For many people, the ability to improve their writing productivity and the effectiveness of their writing could make the difference between having a successful or just okay – or even failed – career.

Cognitive behavioural coaching

As evidenced by the studies just reviewed, cognitive behavioural coaching (CBC) is one of the most highly utilised approaches (at least by coaching psychologists) to coaching (Grant & Cavanagh, 2011; Spence & Oades, 2011; Whybrow & Palmer, 2006). CBC is based on the most well-validated and evidence-based intervention in clinical psychology: cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) (Hollon & Beck, 2004; NICE, 2008). Neenan (2008) (see also Neenan & Palmer [2001]) describes how CBT can be, and has been, adapted to the field of coaching. The basic underpinning of CBC is the ABCDE cognitive model, which proposes that Activating events elicit Beliefs that give rise to Consequences, such as unpleasant and unhelpful emotions and behaviours; to reduce these consequences, it is necessary to Dispute the inaccurate beliefs or thoughts, which in turn leads to an Effective new outlook (Dryden & Neenan, 2004; Neenan & Palmer, 2001). Many of the other frameworks used to guide coaching sessions, for example, PRACTICE (Palmer, 2007, 2011), can be incorporated into a cognitive behavioural framework. More sophisticated versions of the basic CBC model have been developed, such as the SPACE model, which bio-psycho-social takes approach а (Edgerton & Palmer, 2005). The basic premise of cognitive behavioural models is if you can change people's beliefs (in this case, about writing), you will change their behaviour, which will lead to more productive attitudes and behaviours. Coaches can utilise any of these models when coaching writers. However, we argue that coaching a writer without reference to the underlying

Figure 1: The ABCDE model of CBC as applied to writing.



beliefs held by the writer will lead to shortterm or sporadic results. Figure 1 illustrates how the foundation of all CBC models, the ABCDE model, applies to writing. The next section explains this model in detail.

Activating event

Clearly, the activating event for writing is writing. However, not all writing is equal. Some types of writing are more likely than other types to give rise to unhelpful beliefs and behaviours. Writing that has an evaluative component is the most likely to induce inaccurate thoughts and production-slowing behaviours. The more significant the evaluation, the bigger the unhelpful reaction. Martin et al. (2003) discuss the ways in which competitive academic environments can lead to unproductive self-protection strategies. In education settings, all writing will be evaluated, that is, 'marked'. This is a central element of why so many students suffer from poor study behaviours, such as overcommitting (Koszegi, 2006), busyness (Silvera, 2000), perfectionism (Greenberg, 1985), procrastination (Martin et al., 2003; Onwuegbuzie, 2004; Solomon & Rothblum, 1984), disorganisation (Norem, 2001), not putting in effort (Urdan & Midgley, 2001) and choosing performance-debilitating circumstances (Sanna & Mark, 1995). The educational pathway that involves the most rigorous and highest level of evaluation is the PhD. Submission rates across Western countries sit between 50 and 60 per cent (Jaschik, 2008; Jiranek, 2010); more recently in the UK at some institutions, submission rates have been higher (Economic and Social Research Council, 2010). The attrition rates in these research higher degrees are extremely high, as are the unhelpful behaviours. A number of researchers argue that it is the unhelpful behaviours, rather than the difficulty of the task, which is responsible for these low completion rates (Kearns, Forbes et al., 2008; Kearns, Gardiner et al, 2008; Manathunga, 2005).

The traditional study environment is not the only activating event for unhelpful

beliefs and behaviours in relation to writing. Many professional careers involve a significant amount of writing and significant pressure to write. Academia is one such profession. In a major study of 15 Australian universities, Gillespie et al. (2001) found that academic staff perceived a sizeable increase in job demands over the preceding five years and that, among other things, task overload was a significant contributor (see Kinman & Jones [2008] for similar findings in the UK). Winefield (2003) (see also Court & Kinman [2008]) noted that this task overload consisted of increasing pressure to lift performance in the areas of publishing and acquiring external grants. Bakker et al. (2010), who presented further analyses from the Winefield (2003) cohort, showed that 'personality characteristics' contributed to the pressure and lack of success experienced by some academics and they suggested there was 'the need to tailor interventions at the individual, not just the workplace, level' (p.633). In essence, Bakker et al. recognised that the issues did not rest entirely with the workload; the ways in which individuals responded to the pressure to write made a substantial difference. Writing when under pressure to do so and when it is important for one's career is a significant activating event for unhelpful beliefs. Other professions also involve a high level of writing and the need to write under pressure; as such, people working in these professions are likely to suffer similar issues.

Beliefs

When writers are faced with a writing task that they know someone else will read and judge or when they have multiple competing demands or both, the dominant response of many writers is to not write at all, or to write very slowly. Writers have a plethora of very plausible and convincing beliefs to support this inaction. We have coached thousands of writers (individually, and in small and large groups), and the following beliefs are the most common and most strongly held beliefs that we have encountered.

I'm not ready yet

Commonly, writers will say that the reason they are not writing is they do not feel ready. They have a belief that they cannot write unless they feel ready. In fact, they tell themselves that they will lower the quality of their writing by 'forcing' their creative thoughts or ideas to flow. Writers often believe that if they just wait a bit longer they will feel ready.

I'll get it all clear in my head first

Another very commonly held belief among writers is a misconception about the writing process. There is a belief that writing is a recording process; therefore, they try to get it all clear in their heads first. They believe that when it is 'all clear', they will start to write. Of course, it is never all clear and consequently they delay writing.

I don't have enough time

This belief is that unless they have big blocks of time in which to write, it is a waste of time trying to write. Writers often believe that because writing is a complex and demanding task, to try to write in small blocks of time simply would not work. They, therefore, think it is better to write nothing at all. In an examination of why academic staff struggled with writing productivity, Boice and Jones (1984) found this type of belief to be a significant cause of poor writing output.

It won't be good enough

Finally, there is the nagging belief that dogs most writers at some point in the writing process: their writing is not very good, so there is not much point in continuing. Writers often believe it would be better to wait until it felt easier or until it was clearer, because it is a waste of time writing 'rubbish'.

Consequences

These beliefs lead to a variety of behavioural consequences among writers. Any difficult situation could lead to the type of avoidance behaviours described below; however, these are the most common consequences we have observed among writers. The consequences listed are mainly behavioural. This is because most of the discomfort associated with writing is avoided by engaging in the behaviours described below.

Don't do anything - Procrastination

A very common behavioural consequence of the above beliefs is to do nothing or, at least, not to do anything that would constitute writing. When people procrastinate, they are postponing until later an action they know they should be taking now. Persaud (2005) estimates that up to 20 per cent of the adult population suffer from chronic procrastination. It is estimated to be even higher among student populations, who generally have an abundance of writing tasks to complete. For example, Solomon and Rothblum (1984) found that 46 per cent of undergraduates reported high levels of procrastination in relation to writing. Further, they procrastinated about the task of writing more than any other task. Coaching psychology has been found to be an effective tool in helping to reduce procrastination (Dryden & Neenan, 2004; Karas & Spada, 2009; Neenan, 2008, 2012).

Do anything else – Displacement activities

Writers may not be writing, but this does not (usually) mean they are doing nothing. Generally, they engage in a range of behaviours that keep them busy: displacement activities. Displacement activities are behaviours that displace the guilt people feel for not doing what they should be doing – in this case, writing. Common displacement activities among writers include reading, sourcing more information, data and so on, referencing, formatting, editing and even housework (Ahern & Manathunga, 2004; Boice, 1990; Wellington, 2010).

Do everything else – Overcommitting

Finally, when all else fails, writers who have unhelpful beliefs, such as 'I'm not ready yet' or 'It won't be good enough', often become overcommitted. They volunteer to organise a conference, to help with the office move or to re-write the curriculum. O'Donaghue and Rabin (2001) found that the more important or desirable the goal, the more likely it was that people would choose to work on other tasks. This is counter to common sense; most people would expect that when they have a choice they would choose to work on their important goals. In relation to writing, many writers become so overcommitted that it is essentially impossible for them to write.

Disputing

What is the truth about writing? Should people wait until they feel ready? Should they or try to get it all clear in their heads first, or only write when they have big blocks of time available? Perhaps as a writer yourself, you are wondering whether these beliefs are true. If you are a coach, you will certainly need to know whether they are true. As is the case with all good CBC, the answer lies in the evidence.

You have to write before you feel ready

Writers often do not feel ready to start writing, but they may never feel ready. In fact, a writer has to start writing before they feel ready. If this is not true, why is it that most writers miraculously become ready to write as soon as a deadline appears? As further evidence, a study of academics showed that those who were forced to be creative had twice as many creative ideas as those who were allowed to have them in their own time, and there was no discernible difference in quality (Boice, 1983). Table 1 provides examples of ways to dispute beliefs related to waiting until a writer feels ready.

Writing clarifies your thinking

Waiting until things are clear in one's head is a misunderstanding about how writing works. Writing is actually creative and interactive. As people write, they begin to see the flaws and holes in their arguments that they could not see when it was in their heads. The truth is that the process of writing clarifies the writer's thinking (Mandel, 1980; Perl, 1980). In fact, we would go even further and say that writing is a form of rigorous thinking. Table 2 provides an example of disputing these beliefs.

Small amounts of time are effective

Although writers often feel it is necessary to have big blocks of time in which to write, the research does not support this. In a landmark study by Robert Boice (1983), which was re-analysed by Krashen (2002), academics who wrote for 30 minutes a day produced more peer-reviewed publications across a year than did academics who wrote in big blocks of time. When coaching writers, it is important to address this issue; if not, it is likely to become a major block to writing (Boice, 1985, 1990, 2000). The easiest way to dispute this belief is to have writers conduct a behavioural experiment whereby they

Table 1: Disputing beliefs related to having to feel ready before writing
(from Gardiner & Kearns, 2010).

Thoughts	What's Accurate
I can't write if I'm not feeling creative.	Apparently, once I start writing that will create more ideas than if I wait for inspiration to strike.
I don't feel in the mood for writing.	Sometimes you have to do things you don't like, to get what you want. Maybe once I start, I'll get in the mood.
I shouldn't have to force myself. It should come naturally.	That would be nice but most writers struggle at some point. There are very few lucky people where it all comes naturally.

Thoughts	What's Accurate
I need to get my ideas clear in my head before I can write.	Writing things down will help me clarify my ideas.
There's no point in starting if I don't know what I'm going to say.	l won't know what I'm going to say if I don't get started!
I just need to think it through for a bit longer.	What if I write first and then I can think about it afterwards. At least I will have something to think about.

 Table 2: Disputing beliefs related to having to ensure it is all clear in one's head before one can write (from Gardiner & Kearns, 2010).

agree to write for 45 minutes every morning (our replication of Boice's research shows that 45 minutes in non-test conditions works better, but 30 minutes is still effective). If, at the end of one week of writing, the writer feels they are less productive, they are free to return to writing in big blocks of time. In 15 years of coaching writers, less than one per cent have made a conscious decision to return to writing in big blocks of time.

If it was okay before, it is likely to be okay this time

Underlying many of the beliefs is the core belief that the writing produced is not particularly good. Worse, when others see how 'bad' it is, the writer will be exposed as a fraud. This is commonly referred to as the *imposter syndrome* – the belief that you are one mistake away from being exposed as a complete and utter fraud. To create effective new beliefs and behaviours, it is important for the coach to challenge the inaccuracies in such thoughts. The most effective form of disputation for the coach to use is, along with the coachee, to look at past evidence of writing abilities. If people have written well in the past (most writers have), it is likely they will be able to write well in the future. Table 3 provides an example of disputing these beliefs.

Effective new outlook and behaviours

Once inaccurate beliefs have been disputed, it is possible for effective new beliefs and behaviours to be utilised. To effectively establish the new outlook, it is necessary for writers to start their writing and to practise it regularly. This achieves two things; first, it acts as a form of exposure and ensures that the inaccurate thoughts are fully disputed and, second, it allows writers to build a genuine sense of self-efficacy as their skills improve. Following are the new attitudes and behaviours that are most effective.

Get started

Writers usually don't start writing because they don't feel like it - they don't feel motivated. Most people fundamentally misunderstand how motivation works in practice. They believe that in order to start they have to feel like doing the action in question. In essence, they believe that motivation leads to action. but this is not how motivation works. Motivation is triggered by taking action. Therefore, action leads to motivation, which, in turn, leads to more action (Kearns & Gardiner, 2011; Schwarz & Bohner, 1996). This requires the writer to make a start before they feel like starting. In return for this small forced step, the writer soon feels motivated to continue (as demonstrated in Figure 2). The coach needs to explain to writers that despite not feeling motivated, after a small amount of action, (in our experience, approximately 10 to 15 minutes), it is likely they will begin to feel more motivated. The coach can use a behavioural experiment to demonstrate this to writers: ask them to write for 30 minutes. and if they are not motivated by the end of that time, they may stop. They then need to

Thoughts	What's Accurate
This is not written well enough.	How do I know? What about previous stuff I've written – that was okay.
There is no argument – it's just descriptive.	How do I know? Check it out. I can work on the argument once I get some feedback.
It's got mistakes.	Of course. All work does. What specifically am I worried about? What can I do about it?
It's not good enough to get published.	But this is still a draft.
It's not as good as what gets published.	It's not fair to compare my draft with a finished manuscript.
I've fooled people up until now, but this will prove how bad I am – that I am barely literate, never mind clever!	If I'm smart enough to fool them for this long, then I'm probably smart enough to be here.

Table 3: Disputing beliefs related to concern over the quality of writing(from Gardiner & Kearns, 2010).

Figure 2: The relationship between action and motivation (from Gardiner & Kearns, 2010).



come back to the writing the next day and write for another 30 minutes. The vast majority of writers will begin to feel more motivated by writing than they will by waiting.

Stay started

At this point, it is useful for coaches to explain to writers about the physiological properties of anxiety: if you avoid it (avoidance), it gets worse. If you stay with it (exposure), it gets better (Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2002). Although many writers may not necessarily experience anxiety, an underlying physiological discomfort often drives writers to avoid writing. Many writers are not experiencing anxiety because they are engaging in displacement activities instead of writing. Therefore, the effective new behaviour that the coach needs to explain to the writer is 'staying put' for at least 45 minutes. This allows the anxiety or discomfort associated with writing to abate. We sometimes say that if writers keep writing they can even experience 'negative anxiety', more commonly referred to as fun!

Snack writing

For most people, their motivation to keep writing will not be sustained if the task is open-ended or too long. Given the evidence for higher productivity when people write in small blocks of time rather than large blocks of time, 'snack writing' is an ideal effective new behaviour. Snack writing increases both motivation and productivity (Kearns & Gardiner, 2011). The main feature of snack writing (as opposed to 'binge writing') is that snacks are regular. Coaching writers to write for 30 to 45 minutes every day is most likely to lead to increased productivity (Boice, 1989). This is different from the points made above about motivation and anxiety. The coach needs to share with writers the techniques for making a start (do not wait until you feel like it) and for continuing with their writing (the discomfort will go away). However, snack writing helps writers understand that it is not a waste of time to write in small blocks of time and that it is probably the most effective and productive way to write. The purpose of coaching is to help writers accept this proposition and then to coach the various pitfalls (and there will be many) that occur along the way.

Apply the 80/20 rule

Once a coach can get a writer to the desk and convince them to stay for at least 30 to 45 minutes, the 80/20 rule (or the Pareto Principle) is one of the easiest ways to increase writers' productivity. The 80/20 rule is based on the work of the Italian economist Vilfredo Pareto who noted that 80 per cent of the wealth in Italy was owned and produced by 20 per cent of the population. The essence of the rule is that 80 per cent of output is created by 20 per cent of the input - the rest is mostly window dressing. The 80/20 rule applies to many aspects of life: 20 per cent of people take 80 per cent of doctors' appointments, 20 per cent of students consume 80 per cent of teachers' time and 20 per cent of academics produce 80 per cent of the published research (Ito & Brotheridge, 2007). How does this knowledge help with the coaching of writers? When some of the beliefs described above have been disputed, writers can be encouraged to write - not to perfect as they write, but simply to write. Twenty per cent of a writer's effort will lead to 80 per cent of the finished product (particularly if the writer does not edit or read or format during the writing process). If the writer only writes, the argument and the structure will appear quickly. It will take time to edit, format, check facts, find references and so on (the remaining 80 per cent of the work); however, the most difficult work (and the most likely work to be avoided) is done.

Summary

We contend that coaching psychology, and CBC in particular, is an extremely effective methodology for assisting the many people who have to write as part of their profession or education. Although there is a growing and increasingly positive evidence base for the effectiveness of CBC, to date there has been no study (or paper of any kind) on the application of coaching to writing. In fact, the vast majority of coaching focuses on leadership and commercial responsibilities. There is no reason to believe that the positive results demonstrated in these domains would not also apply in relation to writing. This paper is a first attempt to show how CBC might be applied to the specific task of writing. From our work with thousands of writers, we know that the application of CBC to their writing goals (and sometimes lack thereof) has fostered, and saved, many a person's career.

References

- Ahern, K. & Manathunga, C. (2004). Clutch-starting stalled research students. *Innovative Higher Education*, 28(4), 237–254.
- Bakker, A.B., Boyd, C., Dollard, M.F., Gillespie, N., Winefield, A.H. & Stough, C. (2010). The role of personality in the job demands-resources model: A study of Australian academic staff. *Career Development International*, 15(7), 622–636.
- Boice, R. (1983). Contingency management in writing and the appearance of creative ideas: Implications for the treatment of writing blocks. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 21(5), 537–543.
- Boice, R. (1985). Cognitive components of blocking. Written Communications, 2(1), 91–44.
- Boice, R. (1989). Procrastination, busyness and bingeing. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 27(6), 605–611. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(89)90144-7
- Boice, R. (1990). Faculty resistance to writingintensive courses. *Teaching of Psychology*, 17(1), 13–17.
- Boice, R. (2000). Advice for new faculty members: Nihil nimus. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Boice, R. & Jones, F. (1984). Why academics don't write. *Journal of Higher Education*, 55(567–582)
- Camp, H. (2012). The psychology of writing development – and its implications for assessment. Assessing Writing, 17(2), 92–105.
- Court, S. & Kinman, G. (2008). *Tackling stress in further education*. London: University and College Union. Retrieved 1 February 2012, from: www.ucu.org.uk/media/pdf/h/e/ ucu_festress_dec08.pdf
- Dryden, W. & Neenan, M. (2004). Rational emotive behavioural counselling in action (3rd ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Economic and Social Research Council. (n.d.). 2010 submission rate survey results. Retrieved 5 June 2012, from: www.esrc.ac.uk/funding-and-guidance/ guidance/postgraduates/2010-submission.aspx

The authors Maria Gardiner & Hugh Kearns Flinders University, Bedford Park, South Australia, Australia.

Correspondence

Maria Gardiner ThinkWell, PO Box 560 Unley Business Centre, SA, 5061, Australia. Tel: 61-8-2935000 Email: maria@ithinkwell.com.au

- Edgerton, N. & Palmer, S. (2005). SPACE: A psychological model for use within cognitive behavioural coaching, therapy and stress management. *The Coaching Psychologist*, 2(2), 25–30.
- Evers, W.J.G., Brouwers, A. & Tomic, W. (2006). A quasi-experimental study on management coaching effectiveness. Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice & Research, 58(3), 174–182.
- Gardiner, M. & Kearns, H. (2010). Turbocharge your writing. Adelaide: Flinders Press.
- Gardiner, M. & Kearns, H. (2011). Turbocharge your writing today. *Nature*, 475, 129–130.
- Gattellari, M. & Donnelly, N. (2005). Does 'peer coaching' increase GP capacity to promote informed decision making about PSA screening? A cluster randomised trial. *Family Practice*, 22(3), 253–265.
- Gillespie, N.A., Walsh, M., Winefield, A.H., Dua, J. & Stough, C. (2001). Occupational stress in universities: Staff perceptions of the causes, consequences and moderators of stress. *Work & Stress*, 15(1), 53–72.
- Grant, A.M. (2002). Towards a psychology of coaching: The impact of coaching on metacognition, mental health and goal attainment. Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences, 63(1), 6094.
- Grant, A.M. & Cavanagh, M.J. (2011). Designing positive psychology: Taking stock and moving forward. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Grant, A.M., Cavanagh, M.J. & Parker, H.M. (2010). The state of play in coaching today: A comprehensive review of the field. In G.P. Hodgkinson & J.K. Ford (Eds.), *International review of industrial and organisational psychology* v.25 (pp.125–167). New York: Wiley.

- Grant, A.M., Curtayne, L. & Burton, G. (2009).
 Executive coaching enhances goal attainment, resilience and workplace well-being:
 A randomised controlled study. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4(5), 396–407.
- Grant, A.M., Green, L.S. & Rynsaardt, J. (2010). Developmental coaching for high school teachers: Executive coaching goes to school. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice & Research*, 62(3), 151–168.
- Green, L.S., Oades, L.G. & Grant, A.M. (2006). Cognitive-behavioural, solution-focused life coaching: Enhancing goal striving, well-being, and hope. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(3), 142–149.
- Greenberg, J. (1985). Unattainable goal choice as a self-handicapping strategy. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 15(2), 140–152.
- Grigorenko, E., Mambrino, E. & Preiss, D. (Eds.). (2012). Writing: A mosaic of new perspectives. New York: Psychology Press.
- Gyllensten, K. & Palmer, S. (2005). Can coaching reduce workplace stress? A quasi-experimental study. International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring, 3(2), 75–85.
- Hollon, S.D. & Beck, A.T. (2004). Cognitive and cognitive behavioural therapies. In M.J. Lambert (Ed.), Garfield and Bergin's handbook of psychotherapy and behaviour change: An empirical analysis (pp.447–492). New York: Wiley.
- Ito, J. & Brotheridge, C. (2007). Predicting individual research productivity: More than a question of time. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 37(1), 1–25.
- Jaschik, S. (2008). *PhD completion gaps*. Retrieved 4 June 2012, from: www.insidehighered.com/news/

2008/09/09/gaps

- Jiranek, V. (2010). Potential predictors of timely completion among dissertation research students at an Australian faculty of sciences. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 5, 1–13.
- Karas, D. & Spada, M.M. (2009). Brief cognitivebehavioural coaching for procrastination: A case series. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 2(1), 44–53.
- Kearns, H., Forbes, A., Gardiner, M. & Marshall, K. (2008). When a high distinction isn't good enough: A review of perfectionism and selfhandicapping. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 35(3), 21–36.
- Kearns, H. & Gardiner, M. (2011). Waiting for the motivation fairy. *Nature*, 472, 127.
- Kearns, H., Gardiner, M. & Marshall, K. (2008). Innovation in PhD completion: The hardy shall succeed (and be happy!). *Higher Education Research and Development*, 27(2), 77–89.

- Kellogg, R. (2009). Training writing skills: A cognitive developmental perspective. *Journal of Writing Research*, 1(1), 1–26.
- Kinman, G. & Jones, F. (2008). A life beyond work? job demands, work-life balance, and well-being in UK academics. *Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment*, 17(1/2), 41–60.
- Kochanowski, S., Seifert, C.F. & Yukl, G. (2010). Using coaching to enhance the effects of behavioural feedback to managers. *Journal of Leadership ご Organisational Studies*, 17(4), 363–369.
- Koszegi, B. (2006). Ego utility, overconfidence, and task choice. *Journal of the European Economic* Association, 4(4), 673–707.
- Krashen, S. (2002). Optimal levels of writing management: A re-analysis of Boice (1983). *Education*, 122(3), 605–608.
- Leonard-Cross, E. (2010). Developmental coaching: Business benefit – fact or fad? An evaluative study to explore the impact of coaching in the workplace. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 5(1), 36–47.
- Libri, V. & Kemp, T. (2006). Assessing the efficacy of a cognitive behavioural executive coaching programme. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 1(2), 9–18.
- Linnenbrink, E.A. & Pintrich, P.R. (2002). Motivation as an enabler for academic success. School Psychology Review, 31(3), 313–327.
- Manathunga, C. (2005). Early warning signs in postgraduate research education: A different approach to ensuring timely completions. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 10(2), 219–233. doi:10.1080/1356251042000337963
- Mandel, B.J. (1980). The writer writing is not at home. College Composition and Communication, 31(4), 370–77.
- Martin, A., Marsh, H., Williamson, A. & Debus, R. (2003). Self-handicapping, defensive pessimism and goal orientation: A qualitative study of university students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(3), 617–628.
- Martinez, C., Kock, N. & Cass, J. (2011). Pain and pleasure in short essay writing: Factors predicting university students' writing anxiety and writing self-efficacy. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 54(5), 351–360.
- Miller, W., Yahne, C., Moyers, Martinez, C. & Pirritano. (2004). A randomised trial of methods to help clinicians learn motivational interviewing. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 72(6), 1050–1062.
- National Commission on Writing (2004). Writing: A ticket to work...or a ticket out: A survey of business leaders. New York: College Board. Retrieved 6 June 2012, from:

www.collegeboard.com/prod_downloads/ writingcom/writing-ticket-to-work.pdf

- Neenan, M. (2008). From cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) to cognitive behaviour coaching (CBC). Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behaviour Therapy, 26(1), 3–15. doi:10.1007/s10942-007-0073-2
- Neenan, M. (Forthcoming 2012). Title unknown. In B. O'Connell, S. Palmer & H. Williams (Eds.), Solution focused coaching in practice. New York: Routledge.
- Neenan, M. & Palmer, S. (2001). Cognitive behavioural coaching. Stress News, 13(3), 15–18.
- NICE [National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence] (2008). Cognitive behavioural therapy for the management of common mental health problems. Retrieved 22 April 2012, from: www.nice.org.uk/media/878/F7/ CBTCommissioningGuide.pdf
- Norem, J. (2001). The positive power of negative thinking. New York: Basic Books.
- O'Donoghue, T. & Rabin, M. (2001). Choice and procrastination. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116(1), 121–160.
- Onwuegbuzie, A.J. (2004). Academic procrastination and statistics anxiety. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 29(1), 3–19.
- Palmer, S. (2007). PRACTICE: A model suitable for coaching, counselling, psychotherapy and stress management. *The Coaching Psychologist*, 3(2), 71–77.
- Palmer, S. (2011). Revisiting the 'P'in the PRACTICE coaching model. *The Coaching Psychologist*, 7(2), 156–158.
- Passmore, J. & Fillery-Travis, A. (2011). A critical review of executive coaching research: A decade of progress and what's to come. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 4(2), 70–88.

doi:10.1080/17521882.2011.596484

- Perl, S. (1978). Five writers writing: Case studies of the composing process of unskilled college writers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). New York: New York University.
- Persaud, R. (2005). The motivated mind: How to get what you want from life. London: Bantam Books.
- Porritt, M., Burt, A. & Poling, A. (2006). Increasing fiction writers' productivity through an interestbased intervention. *Journal of Applied Behaviour Analysis*, 39(3), 393–397.
- Sanna, L. & Mark, M. (1995). Self-handicapping, expected evaluation, and performance: Accentuating the positive and attenuating the negative. Organisational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, 64(1), 84–102.
- Schwarz, N. & Bohner, G. (1996). Feelings and their motivational implications: Moods and the action sequence. In P. Gollwitzer & J. Bargh (Eds.), *The psychology of actions: Linking cognition and motivation to behaviour* (pp.119–145). New York: The Guilford Press.

- Silvera, D. (2000). The effects of cognitive load of strategic self-handicapping. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 39(1), 65–72.
- Solomon, L. & Rothblum, E. (1984). Academic procrastination: Frequency and cognitivebehavioural correlates. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 31(4), 503–509.
- Spence, G.B., Cavanagh, M.J. & Grant, A.M. (2008). The integration of mindfulness training and health coaching: An exploratory study. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 1(2), 145–163.
- Spence, G.B. & Grant, A.M. (2007). Professional and peer life coaching and the enhancement of goal striving and well-being: An exploratory study. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2(3), 185–194.
- Spence, G.B. & Grant, A.M. (Eds.). (2011). Coaching and well-being: A brief review of existing evidence, relevant theory and implications for practitioners. London: Oxford University Press.
- Spence, G.B. & Oades, L.G. (2011). Coaching with self-determination in mind: Using theory to advance evidence-based coaching practice. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 9(2), 37–55.
- Stern, L.R. (2004). Executive coaching: A working definition. Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice & Research, 56(3), 154–162.
- Taylor, L. (1997). The relation between resilience, coaching, coping skills training, and perceived stress during a career-threatening milestone. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section B: Sciences* and Engineering, 58(5), 2738.
- Urdan, T. & Midgley, C. (2001). Academic selfhandicapping: What we know, what more there is to learn. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(2), 115–138.
- Vitae (2012). Coaching for research in UK higher education institutions: A review. Retrieved 6 June 2012, from:

www.vitae.ac.uk/CMS/files/upload/

Vitae-Coaching-Report-2012.pdf

- Wellington, J. (2010). More than a matter of cognition: An exploration of affective writing problems of postgraduate students and their possible solutions. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 15(2), 135–150.
- Whybrow, A. & Palmer, S. (2006). Taking stock: A survey of coaching psychologists' practices and perspectives. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 1(1), 56–70.
- Winefield, A.H., Gillespie, N., Stough, C., Dua, J., Hapuarachchi, J. & Boyd, C. (2003). Occupational stress in Australian university staff: Results from a national survey. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 10(1), 51–63.

Book Review

Creating a Coaching Culture

Peter Hawkins Maidenhead: Open University Press (2012) ISBN: 978-0-33523-895-8 216 pp; Paperback; £23.99. Reviewed by David A. Lane

This is excellent and like all Peter Hawkins books combines practicality with appropriate engagement with the literature and original research.

Peter starts with a powerful question that at first seems shocking but quickly becomes central to any attempt to deliver value through coaching. He asks, 'What can coaching uniquely do that the world of tomorrow needs?'.

In attempting to explore this it rapidly becomes clear that coaching must move from a model of individual transactions to an integrated strategy aligned to a wider organisational change culture. This radically alters how we view the role of coaching. The change of perspective is profound.

In helping his readers to negotiate that shift he explores the key ingredients of a coaching culture and ways in which a coaching strategy may be aligned with the wider organisation. This provides a context for understanding what he sees as seven key steps in moving from individual issues such as selecting a panel of coaches to a final step in which coaching becomes how the organisation does business with all it's stakeholders. He provides many case examples of organisations at various stages in this process. He notes that none have completed all the steps but all are actively engaged in trying to reevaluate the place of coaching in their organisation.

The case examples are embedded in the framework he outlines which adds to the value they bring to the reader struggling with their own change processes. He outlines the issues but then provides clear guidance on



ways forward. His seven steps are not a blueprint but rather a way to make sense of the emerging field. Organisations will not go through each step in turn but will be able to recognise where they stand and use this to consider where they might go next. The onward journey is assisted in the book through a consideration of ways to integrate and give depth to the ideas. He explores how to bring elements together to create a relational value chain. He expand on this in discussion on improving the quality of coaching activities though supervision and continuous development. He addresses the critical issue of evaluation and return on investment and finally talks to some of the challenges going forward.

Readers will find the debate enlightening and the framework a helpful friend for the process of change.

So the aim is to find out what coaching can uniquely do that the world of tomorrow needs. The book is centred on coaching cultures within a particular range of organisations. Briefly mentioned is attempts at collaboration between some UK-based professional bodies. Yet the global attempts to bring organisations, professional bodies and coaches together to in the words of the Global Coaching Convention in 2008 in the Dublin Declaration to 'step into the power of coaching to make a difference to the world' is ignored as are many efforts by a variety of bodies to learn from engagement with issues internationally. For example the detailed efforts to run parallel events in different countries under the International Coaching Psychology Conferences have created the sharing he seeks. This limits the potential scope of the book. Another limiting factor is any substantial debate on dealing with the complexity of rapid change. The approach feels linear at times when the need many organisations face is for radically new approaches to address complexity.

Those caveats apart this is a book that will provide essential guidance for those organisations seeking to enhance the impact of their coaching and move from individual transactions to a strategic collective approach.

He concludes with the hope that those successfully developing coaching cultures will network with others to learn and extend practice. He notes that this is increasingly happening and hopes this book will help. I am sure that it will.

Correspondence Professor David A. Lane Professional Development Foundation. Email: David.Lane@pdf.net www.pdf.net

International Coaching Psychology Review

Vol. 7 No. 2 September 2012

Report

2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology – Australia

David Heap

2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology: 10–12 May, 2012, Sydney, Australia.

VER THREE DAYS IN EARLY MAY, the APS Coaching Psychology Interest Group (IGCP) hosted the 2nd International Congress on Coaching Psychology in Manly, Sydney.

The IGCP invited an array of international and Australian expert practitioners and authors to contribute their ideas and insights to the Congress theme,

Exploring the Contribution of Psychology to Coaching'.

The keynote presentations and workshops generated an exceptional response from delegates. Their feedback was uniformly positive and the frequently recurring phrase was that it was the best conference they had been to in many years. Credit for this success should be given to everyone involved in the Congress; the presenters, those involved in planning and running the Congress as well as the positive and receptive tone of the audience. The Congress Organising Committee should be recognised for making it all happen the way it did under the leadership of David Heap, IGCP National Convenor, and Nic Eddy, IGCP National Events Co-ordinator.

The keynote speakers were each asked to present their individual perspectives on the contribution of psychology to coaching. Their presentations reflected the diversity and depth of coaching psychology. Lew Stern challenged Congress delegates to expand their influence and contribute their skills on a greater scale, bringing social action to their practice. Stephen Palmer reinforced the invaluable contribution of competencies and knowledge base in psychology, to enrich the diverse world of coaching. Patrick Williams explored the influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching. Donna Karlin discussed the benefits of 'shadow coaching' in the world of international political challenges.

Jim Bright provided an entertaining and provocative insight into the application of chaos theory to careers coaching and change. Tony Grant shared pre-publication results on his latest research on the relative contribution of solution and positive psychology approaches to coaching out-comes. Leon van Vuuren addressed the role of the coach and coaching psychology in ethical leadership competence from a social and political perspective. David Peterson provided the closing keynote on what differentiates great from good coaches and what we each can do to transform our own practice.

From the perspective of the IGCP, we believe the Congress aim of exploring the contribution of psychology to coaching was fully achieved. Delegates told us this had been an outstanding event leaving them with a clearer insight into the richness psychology brings to the practice of coaching together with abundant new information and ideas they keenly anticipated incorporating into their own practice. We are very pleased to have re-invigorated the enthusiasm in the coaching psychology community and look forward to continue to stimulate and inform. National Committee of the Coaching Psychology Interest Group, Australian Psychological Society

'Coaching Psychology: The science of achieving your goals.'

The following photographs were taken at the Congress by Aaron McEwan.



Dr Lew Stern



Dr Anthony M. Grant

International Coaching Psychology Review
• Vol. 7 No. 2 September 2012



Professor Leon van Vuuren



From L to R: Nic Eddy, Peter Zarris & David Heap (Members of the Congress Team).



From L to R: Dr Lew Stern, Donna Karlin & Dr David Drake.

inhere *Coaci* Coaci Coa

Dr David Peterson

Report Special Group in Coaching Psychology News Mary Watts

ECENTLY I chaired my third meeting of the SGCP and came away feeling energised. The energy and enthusiasm of the group had been infectious! Two days ago I watched the final of the men's doubles at Wimbledon and had the same feeling. I was delighted that Yorkshire man Jonathan Marray, together with Freddie Nielson had won. This is in part because Marray is the first British player to win the Wimbledon men's doubles for 76 years but predominantly because of something I felt the pair exuded whilst on the court. They entered on a 'wild card' rather than ranking and then went on to prove their worth. What impressed me was the partnership spirit that they showed and I was intrigued by their obvious, but secretive strategising before serving and at other critical times during the match. Throughout the match their body language and facial expressions were upbeat and they were clearly enjoying themselves. As a pair they were dynamite exuding positivity. Watching it led me to reflect on my role as a coaching psychologist and I felt that if, through my coaching, albeit it in a very different context and setting, I can help facilitate something of what I saw in these two players, I will be very satisfied. I was powerfully reminded of the value of coaching including self-coaching - positivity, also of the importance of good teamwork.

Returning now to the SGCP, we were reminding ourselves at the meeting last week that in December 2014 it will be the 10th Anniversary of our coming into being. I remember it well as I had the privilege of opening the inaugural conference which was held at City University, London. A lot has happened since then and we have grown considerably in stature, size and I hope in



knowledge and wisdom too. During the meeting we tossed around ideas of how to celebrate our 10th birthday and thought that at the very least the 2014 conference should be a special international one – to mark both our own 'coming of age' and also to recognize the very significant international developments in coaching psychology during the preceding 10 years.

During the next two years we have time to prepare and to engage widely with members. Stage one of this is in preparation and we have decided to embrace more fully the ever changing and developing approaches to social media communications. We will use these in the run up to the 2012 SGCP conference and beyond with the intention of linking the various activities of the SGCP more closely with the very wide and still growing membership. Many of us have a lot to learn about how to use these, whilst others are busy learning about how to introduce and manage them on behalf of members.

Sticking for the moment with the relative simplicity of this newsletter for sharing information, please keep 6th-7th December free in your diary. The SGCP 8th Annual Coaching Psychology Conference will this year be held at the University of Aston, Birmingham, on Friday 7th December (please note the earlier date than usual). There will be an interesting selection of keynote speakers, papers and workshops and the day will also include the AGM. On Thursday 6th December there will be an excellent range of master classes followed by a networking event - important for updating on news and connections that make a real difference to our work and social life! We invite you to stay linked in with the SGCP both in real terms via attendance at the conference and other events held throughout the year – the last was a well subscribed to and very well received event on mindfulness facilitated bv Michael Chaskalson - and also through the new (for us) approaches to social networking about to be launched. You can now join us on twitter@SGCP. We'll communicate further with members about our social media links as we progress further down this road.

Continuing with the theme of communication a *SGCP Newsletter* will be launched very soon. In fact by the time you read this letter it may already have reached you. The *Newsletter*, in electronic format, will be short but regular to help keep members informed about SGCP news and activities.

With a sense of enthusiasm and optimism for the coming pre-conference masterclasses and conference (6 and 7 December) and the build-up to our big birthday, I now need to go and prepare myself for the new wave of communication approaches.

Best wishes to you all.

Professor Mary Watts

Chair, British Psychological Society Special Group in Coaching Psychology

www.sgcp.org.uk

Report

Interest Group in Coaching Psychology News David Heap

THE MAJOR ACTIVITY for the Interest Group in Coaching Psychology the first half of 2012 was, of course, the 2nd International Congress on Coaching Psychology at Manly Beach.

The Congress was an outstanding success with consistent feedback that it was an inspiring experience and the best conference delegates had attended for many years. A detailed report is available elsewhere in this publication but on behalf of the National Committee I would like to thank several groups of people who made this achievement possible. First there are the presenters of the keynotes and workshops who exceeded everyone's expectations with the quality of insight, usefulness and humanity of what they shared with us. I'd also like to express my appreciation to the international presenters who made the considerable effort to interrupt their demanding schedules and come all the way to Australia: Lew Stern, Stephen Palmer, Patrick Williams, Donna Karlin, Leon van Vuuren, Pauline Wills, David Clutterbuck, David Lane, and David Peterson. Their contributions made the Congress live up to its international title and was much richer as a result.

I'd like to express our gratitude to the Congress Organising Committee; Peter Zarris, Aaron McEwan, Claire Nabke-Hatton and particularly, the Chair of the Committee Nic Eddy, who applied his experience and creativity along with a great deal of effort to make the Congress what it was.

Members of the National and State Committees also made a great contribution on the day helping to make sure everything ran smoothly. Students from the University of NSW and Australian College of Applied Psychology also provided sterling support.



Last of all, I'd like to thank everyone who attended; our own IGCP members but also all the members of the broader coaching community who came along in large numbers and whose enthusiastic response assured us that coaching psychologists can play a strong leadership role in advancing the quality of coaching in the broader coaching community.

With the Congress behind us, we are now arranging a series of National and Statebased PD activities for the rest of 2012 and 2013.

We have been approached by many people to bring back Donna Karlin and we are very happy to announce that she will be coming out in February 2013 to present a series of two-day workshops on 'Shadow and Laser Coaching' in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane and Adelaide.

We've closed a large gap in our national coverage and re-established IGCP Branches in West Australia and South Australia.

I'd like to welcome our two new State Co-ordinators and members of the National Committee; Vanessa Franzen in WA, and Nanette McComish in SA.

We're also undertaking major updates to our website including the distribution of the *International Coaching Psychology Review*. We'll keep you updated on all these developments. Thank you to all our members for your continuing support for the IGCP with all our national and state activities. We can all be very proud of what we have achieved so far this year and we are looking forward to an even more successful year ahead.

David Heap

Convener, Interest Group in Coaching Psychology.



Manly Pacific Hotel, Manly Beach, host to the 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology.



Sydney Opera House

International Coaching Psychology Review – Volume index 2012

Volume 7, No. 1, March 2012

4	Editorial: Coaching psychology coming of age in the 21st century
	Stephen Palmer & Michael Cavanagh

Papers

- 6 Teaching coaching psychology to undergraduates perceptions and experiences Catherine Steele & Jane Arthur
- 14 When feedback is not enough: The impact of regulatory fit on motivation after positive feedback

Ann-Marie Jarzebowski, Josephine Palermo & Robert van de Berg

- 33 The long-term independently assessed benefits of coaching: A controlled 18-month follow-up study of two methods John Franklin & Alicia Franklin
- 39 Line management involvement in coaching: Help or hindrance? A content analysis study Helen Ogilvy & Vicky Ellam-Dyson
- 55 Moderating factors of the Van Egmond Coaching Model (VECM) Johan Bouwer & Jacoba van Egmond
- 64 The Managerial Gap and how coaching can help Christine Porter & W. David Rees

Debate

- 72 Editorial: Coaching Psychology Coming of Age Alison Whybrow, Anthony M. Grant, Stephen Palmer & Travis Kemp
- 75 Coaching Psychology Coming of Age: The challenges we face in the messy world of complexity? Michael Cavanagh & David Lane
- 91 Comment on debate article: Coaching Psychology Coming of Age: The challenges we face in the messy world of complexity? Ralph Stacey
- **97** Coaching Psychology Coming of Age: The challenges we face in the messy world of complexity? A response Tatiana Bachkirova; Paul W.B. Atkins; David B. Drake; Bob Hodge; Lesley Kuhn; Julie Allan; Gordon B. Spence
- **127** Coaching Psychology Coming of Age: A response to our discussants Michael Cavanagh & David Lane

Reports

- 130 1st International Congress of Coaching Psychology Sweden Liv Hök & Jonas Mosskin
- 133 Special Group in Coaching Psychology News Mary Watts
- 135 Interest Group in Coaching Psychology News David Heap

Volume 7, No. 2, September 2012

144 Editorial: The development of coaching psychology internationally goes from strength to strength

Stephen Palmer & Michael Cavanagh

Papers

146 An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: An evidence-based framework for teaching and practice

Anthony M. Grant

- 166 Coaching as a learning methodology a mixed methods study in driver development using a randomised controlled trial and thematic analysis Jonathan Passmore & Hannah Rehman
- 185 What is personality change coaching and why is it important? Lesley S. Martin, Lindsay G. Oades & Peter Caputi
- 194 Back to Basics II: How the research on attachment and reflective-self function is relevant for coaches and consultants today Erik de Haan

Keynotes

- 210 Strengths-based approaches to developing mental toughness: Team and individual Sandy Gordon
- 223 Looking back to see the future: The influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching psychology today Patrick Williams

Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology

- 237 Editorial Michael Cavanagh & Stephen Palmer
- **239** Restoring meaning and wholeness the role for coaching after a trauma Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osbourne & David Lane
- 247 The ABCDE of Writing: Coaching high-quality high-quantity writing Maria Gardiner & Hugh Kearns

Book Review

260 *Creating a Coaching Culture* (by Peter Hawkins) Reviewed by David Lane

Reports

- 262 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology Australia David Heap
- 266 Special Group in Coaching Psychology News Mary Watts
- 268 Interest Group in Coaching Psychology News David Heap
- 270 International Coaching Psychology Review Volume index 2012

Notes

4. Online submission process

- All manuscripts must be submitted to a Co-ordinating Editor by e-mail to: Stephen Palmer (UK): dr.palmer@btinternet.com Michael Cavanagh (Australia): michaelc@psych.usyd.edu.au
- (2) The submission must include the following as separate files:
- Title page consisting of manuscript title, authors' full names and affiliations, name and address for corresponding author.
- Abstract.
- Full manuscript omitting authors' names and affiliations. Figures and tables can be attached separately if necessary.

5. Manuscript requirements

- Contributions must be typed in double spacing with wide margins. All sheets must be numbered.
- Tables should be typed in double spacing, each on a separate page with a self-explanatory title. Tables should be comprehensible without reference to the text. They should be placed at the end of the manuscript with their approximate locations indicated in the text.
- Figures can be included at the end of the document or attached as separate files, carefully labelled in initial capital/lower case lettering with symbols in a form consistent with text use. Unnecessary background patterns, lines and shading should be avoided. Captions should be listed on a separate page. The resolution of digital images must be at least 300 dpi.
- For articles containing original scientific research, a structured abstract of up to 250 words should be included with the headings: Objectives, Design, Methods, Results, Conclusions. Review articles should use these headings: Purpose, Methods, Results, Conclusions.
- Overall, the presentation of papers should conform to the British Psychological Society's Style Guide (available at www.bps.org.uk/ publications/publications_home.cfm in PDF format). Non-discriminatory language should be used throughout. Spelling should be Anglicised when appropriate. Text should be concise and written for an international readership of applied psychologists. Sensationalist and unsubstantiated views are discouraged. Abbreviations, acronyms and unfamiliar specialist terms should be explained in the text on first use.
- Particular care should be taken to ensure that references are accurate and complete. Give all journal titles in full. Referencing should follow BPS formats. For example:

Billington, T. (2000). Separating, losing and excluding children: Narratives of difference. London: Routledge/Falmer. Elliott, J.G. (2000). Dynamic assessment in educational contexts: Purpose and promise. In C. Lidz & J.G. Elliott (Eds.), Dynamic assessment: Prevailing models and applications (pp.713–740). New York: J.A.I. Press.

Palmer, S. & Whybrow, A. (2006). The coaching psychology movement and its development within the British Psychological Society. *International Coaching Psychology Review 1*(1), 5–11.

- SI units must be used for all measurements, rounded off to practical values if appropriate, with the Imperial equivalent in
 parentheses.
- In normal circumstances, effect size should be incorporated.
- Authors are requested to avoid the use of sexist language.
- Authors are responsible for acquiring written permission to publish lengthy quotations, illustrations, etc. for which they do not own copyright.

6. Brief reports

These should be limited to 1000 words and may include research studies and theoretical, critical or review comments whose essential contribution can be made briefly. A summary of not more than 50 words should be provided.

7. Publication ethics

BPS Code of Conduct – Code of Conduct, Ethical Principles and Guidelines. Principles of Publishing – Principle of Publishing.

8. Supplementary data

Supplementary data too extensive for publication may be deposited with the British Library Document Supply Centre. Such material includes numerical data, computer programs, fuller details of case studies and experimental techniques. The material should be submitted to the Editor together with the article, for simultaneous refereeing.

9. Post acceptance

PDF page proofs are sent to authors via e-mail for correction of print but not for rewriting or the introduction of new material.

10. Copyright

To protect authors and publications against unauthorised reproduction of articles, The British Psychological Society requires copyright to be assigned to itself as publisher, on the express condition that authors may use their own material at any time without permission. On acceptance of a paper, authors will be requested to sign an appropriate assignment of copyright form.

11. Checklist of requirements

- Abstract (100–200 words).
- Title page (include title, authors' names, affiliations, full contact details).
- Full article text (double-spaced with numbered pages and anonymised).
- References (see above). Authors are responsible for bibliographic accuracy and must check every reference in the manuscript and proofread again in the page proofs.
- Tables, figures, captions placed at the end of the article or attached as separate files.

Contents

144 Editorial: The development of coaching psychology internationally goes from strength to strength Stephen Palmer & Michael Cavanagh

Papers

- 146 An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: An evidence-based framework for teaching and practice Anthony M. Grant
- 166 Coaching as a learning methodology a mixed methods study in driver development using a randomised controlled trial and thematic analysis Jonathan Passmore & Hannah Rehman
- **185** What is personality change coaching and why is it important? Lesley S. Martin, Lindsay G. Oades & Peter Caputi
- 194 Back to Basics II: How the research on attachment and reflective-self function is relevant for coaches and consultants today Erik de Haan

Keynotes

- 210 Strengths-based approaches to developing mental toughness: Team and individual Sandy Gordon
- 223 Looking back to see the future: The influence of humanistic and transpersonal psychology on coaching psychology today Patrick Williams
- Cross-disciplinary perspectives in coaching psychology
- 237 Editorial Michael Cavanagh & Stephen Palmer
- **239** Restoring meaning and wholeness the role for coaching after a trauma Noreen Tehrani, Diana Osbourne & David Lane
- 247 The ABCDE of Writing: Coaching high-quality high-quantity writing Maria Gardiner & Hugh Kearns

Book Review

260 *Creating a Coaching Culture* (by Peter Hawkins) Reviewed by David Lane

Reports

- 262 2nd International Congress of Coaching Psychology Australia David Heap
- 266 Special Group in Coaching Psychology News Mary Watts
- 268 Interest Group in Coaching Psychology News David Heap
- 270 International Coaching Psychology Review Volume index 2012

